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Special Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements

This report contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of
1934, as amended, or the Exchange Act. Forward-looking statements are often identified by the use of words such as, but not limited to, “anticipate,” “believe,”
“can,” “continue,” “could,” “estimate,” “expect,” “intend,” “may,” “plan,” “project,” “seek,” “should,” “strategy,” “target,” “will,” “would” and similar
expressions or variations intended to identify forward-looking statements. These statements are not guarantees of future performance, but are based on
management’s expectations as of the date of this report and assumptions that are inherently subject to uncertainties, risks and changes in circumstances that are
difficult to predict. Forward-looking statements are subject to known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors that may cause actual results, performance
or achievements to be materially different from those in forward-looking statements. Important factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from
those expressed or implied by these forward-looking statements include, but are not limited to, those identified below and those discussed in the section titled “Risk
Factors” included under Part I, Item 1A below. All information provided in this report is as of the date of this report and we undertake no duty to update this
information except as required by law.

PART I
Item 1. Business

Business Overview

TriNet Group Inc., or TriNet or the Company, is a leading provider of comprehensive human resources, or HR, solutions for small to midsize businesses, or
SMBs, under a co-employment model. Our HR solutions are designed to manage an increasingly complex set of HR regulations, costs, risks and responsibilities
for our clients, allowing them to focus on operating and growing their core businesses. Our bundled HR solutions include offerings such as:

• multi-state payroll processing and tax administration;

• employee benefits programs, including health insurance and retirement plans;

• workers compensation insurance and claims management;

• federal, state and local labor, employment and benefit law compliance;

• risk mitigation, including employment practices claims management;

• expense and time management; and

• human capital consulting.

Our proprietary, cloud-based HR software systems are used by our clients and their employees, whom we refer to as worksite employees, or WSEs, to
efficiently store and manage their core HR-related information and conduct a variety of HR-related transactions anytime and anywhere.

In addition, our expert teams of in-house HR professionals also provide additional services upon request to support various stages of our clients' growth,
including talent management, recruiting and training, performance management consulting or other consulting services (with an incremental charge for such
services).

As of December 31, 2015, we served over 12,700 clients in all 50 states, the District of Columbia and Canada, co-employed more than 324,000 WSEs and
had processed over $31 billion in payroll and payroll tax payments for clients on our systems in 2015. Our clients are distributed across a variety of industries,
including technology, life sciences, not-for-profit, professional services, financial services, property management, retail, manufacturing, and hospitality. Our sales
and marketing, client services and product development teams are increasingly focused on specific industry verticals. This verticalized approach gives us a deeper
understanding of the HR needs facing SMBs in particular industries, which better enables us to provide HR solutions and services tailored to the specific needs of
clients in these verticals. We conduct our business primarily in the United States, with more than 99% of our total revenues for each of 2015, 2014 and 2013 being
attributable to WSEs in the U.S. and the remainder being attributable to WSEs in Canada.
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For 2015 , 2014 and 2013 , our total revenues were $2.7 billion , $2.2 billion and $1.6 billion respectively. Our total revenues consist of professional service
revenues and insurance service revenues. For 2015 and 2014 , 15% and 16% of our total revenues, respectively, consisted of professional service revenues, and
85% and 84% of our total revenues, respectively, consisted of insurance service revenues.

We recognize as professional service revenues the fees we earn for providing our clients with a comprehensive suite of HR professional services, but do not
include amounts paid to us by clients as payroll that are paid out to WSEs or amounts withheld and remitted to authorities as taxes.

We recognize as insurance service revenues all insurance-related billings and administrative fees collected from clients and withheld from WSEs. We pay
premiums to third-party insurance carriers for client and WSE insurance benefits and reimburse the insurance carriers and third-party administrators for claims
payments made on our behalf within our insurance deductible layer, where applicable. These premiums and reimbursements are classified as insurance costs on our
statements of operations.

To augment our financial information prepared in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles, or GAAP, we use internally a non-GAAP
financial measure, Net Insurance Service Revenues, which consists of insurance service revenues less insurance costs. We also use a measure of total non-GAAP
revenue, or Net Service Revenues, which is the sum of professional service revenues and Net Insurance Service Revenues. For 2015 , 2014 and 2013 , Net Service
Revenues were $546.9 million , $507.2 million and $417.7 million , respectively. For 2015 , 73% of our Net Service Revenues consisted of professional service
revenues and 27% of our Net Service Revenues consisted of Net Insurance Service Revenues.

For 2015 , 2014 and 2013 , our net income was $31.7 million , $15.5 million and $13.1 million , respectively, and our Adjusted Earnings Before Interest,
Taxes, Depreciation and Amortization, or Adjusted EBITDA, was $151.3 million , $165.3 million and $136.0 million , respectively.

Our Services

Professional Services

We provide our clients with a comprehensive suite of HR professional services that we believe enable SMBs to effectively execute fundamental HR
transactions and manage an increasingly complex set of HR regulations, costs, risks and responsibilities.

As part of our professional service offerings, we provide our clients with fundamental HR transactional capabilities, including multi-state payroll processing
and tax administration, as well as a cloud-based system of record for all their HR transactions. Our online and mobile self-service tools enable our clients, for
example, to manage effectively employee hiring and termination, administer changes to employee payroll, view real-time benefits data and create compensation
reports. In addition, WSEs are able to access our system to manage their own payroll information, request paid time off (PTO) and view approval status real-time,
view paystubs, PTO balances, W-2s and more. This HR functionality is a core component of our professional HR service offering.

We also leverage the collective insights and experience that we have gained over our 27-year operating history to help clients mitigate the many
administrative, regulatory and practical risks associated with their responsibilities as employers.  We continuously monitor changes in the labor, employment and
benefit regulatory environment and offer guidance and training to clients to assist them in avoiding or reducing liability and exposure.  Our professional HR
services include access to HR templates, best practices, employee handbooks, disciplined process management guidelines, employee relations consultation, issue
investigation, workplace employment posters, and compensation practice benchmarking data.  In addition, our clients are able to consult directly with our HR
professionals through a variety of interaction models, ranging from call center support for basic questions to pooled specialized resources and dedicated HR
professionals, depending upon the needs of the client and their WSEs.  Our HR teams also provide additional services upon request to support stages of our clients’
growth, including recruiting or other services (with an incremental charge for such services).

Insurance Services

We offer our clients and WSEs access to a broad range of TriNet-sponsored benefits and insurance programs that many of our clients may be unable to
obtain for their WSEs on their own and that are compliant with state, local, and federal regulations. We believe access to our fully-insured, Affordable Care Act
compliant group health insurance plans is one of the
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most important benefits we provide to our clients and WSEs. In addition, our insurance services offerings include plan design and administration, enrollment
management, and WSE and client communications relating to our sponsored benefits and insurance programs. As described below, the principal components of our
insurance services offerings are employee benefit plans, workers compensation insurance and employment practices liability insurance.

Employee
Benefit
Plans

We sponsor and administer a number of fully-insured, risk based employee benefit plans, including group health, dental, vision and life insurance as an
employer plan sponsor under Section 3(5) of the Employee Retirement Income Security Act, or ERISA. We also offer other benefit programs to our clients and
WSEs, including individual life insurance, a legal services plan, commuter benefits, home insurance, critical illness insurance, pet insurance and auto insurance.
We provide group insurance coverage to our WSEs through a national network of carriers including Aetna, Blue Shield of California, Florida Blue, BlueCross
BlueShield of North Carolina, Tufts, Kaiser Permanente, MetLife United Healthcare, EyeMed, Delta Dental and Vision Service Plan.

Approximately 38% of our 2015 group health insurance premiums were for fully insured policies with respect to which our carriers set the premiums and
for which we were not responsible for any deductible, which are referred to as ‘guaranteed cost’ policies. The remaining 62% of our 2015 group health insurance
premiums were for fully insured policies with respect to which we agree to pay additional amounts to our carriers for any claims paid within an agreed-upon
deductible layer. Our agreements with our health insurance carriers with respect to these non-'guaranteed cost' policies typically include limits to our exposure for
individual claims, which we refer to as ‘pooling’ limits, and limits to our maximum aggregate exposure for claims in a given policy year, which we refer to as ‘stop
loss’ limits. We have experienced variability, and may experience variability in the future, in the amounts that we are required to pay our health insurance carriers
for group health insurance expenses incurred by WSEs within our deductible layer under non-'guaranteed cost' policies, based on continually changing trends in the
frequency and severity of claims. These historical trends may change, and other seasonal trends and variability may develop, which may make it more difficult for
us to manage this aspect of our business.

Workers
Compensation
Insurance

We provide fully-insured workers compensation insurance coverage for our clients and WSEs through agreements that we negotiate with our third-party
insurance providers. These agreements typically include a deductible layer that obligates us to reimburse our carriers up to $1 million per claim occurrence. We
manage the risk that we assume in connection with these policies by being selective in the types of businesses that we take on as new clients, by monitoring claims
data and the performance of our carriers and third-party claims management services and vendors and by providing risk management services for existing clients.
These services include performing workplace assessment, safety consultation, accident investigation and other risk management services at our client locations to
help prevent situations that could lead to claims and services to help remediate claims when they occur.

Employment
Practices
Liability
Insurance

We provide employment practices liability insurance (EPLI) for our clients through agreements that we negotiate with our third-party EPLI insurance
provider. These EPLI policies provide for a per-claim retention amount. For most of our clients, the retention amount is split between the client and TriNet, with
the client paying its portion of the retention amount first. While we do not provide legal representation to our clients, our clients can benefit from the extensive
experience of employment law specialists in our legal department who support our HR professionals in their efforts to assist clients in avoiding employment
practices liability claims and in managing, processing and responding to such claims. For claims covered by the EPLI insurance, actual litigation defense is
conducted by one of several outside employment law firms chosen by the EPLI carrier with whom we and our EPLI carriers have previously negotiated rates,
established billing guidelines and invoice review processes and developed a case management protocol to efficiently and effectively defend such claims.

Seasonality
and
Insurance
Variability

Our business is affected by cyclicality in business activity and WSE behavior. Historically, we have experienced our highest monthly addition of WSEs, as
well as our highest monthly levels of client attrition, in the month of January, primarily because clients that change their payroll service providers tend to do so at
the beginning of a calendar year. We also experience higher levels of client attrition in connection with renewals of the health insurance we sponsor for our WSEs,
in the event that such renewals result in higher costs to our clients. We have also historically experienced higher insurance claim volumes in the second and third
quarters of a fiscal year than in the first and fourth quarters of a fiscal year, as WSEs typically access their health care providers more often in the second and third
quarters of a fiscal year, which has negatively impacted our insurance
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costs in these quarters. We have also experienced variability on a quarterly basis in the amount of our health and workers compensation insurance costs due to the
number and severity of insurance claims being unpredictable. These historical trends may change, and other seasonal trends and variability may develop which
would make it more difficult for us to manage our business.

Our Co-Employment Model

We operate under a co-employment model business model, under which employment-related responsibilities are contractually allocated between us and our
clients, which affords us a close relationship with our clients and their WSEs. Each of our clients enters into a client service agreement with us that defines the suite
of professional and insurance services and benefits to be provided by us, the fees payable to us, and the division of responsibilities between us and our client as co-
employers. The division of responsibilities under our client service agreements is typically as follows:

TriNet
Responsibilities

We assume responsibility for, and manage certain risks associated with:

• remittance to WSEs of salaries, wages and certain other compensation, as reported and paid to us by the client, related tax reporting and remittance to tax
authorities and processing of garnishment and wage deduction orders. Unlike a payroll service provider, we issue each WSE a payroll check drawn on our
bank accounts;

• maintenance of workers compensation insurance and workers compensation claims processing;

• provision and administration of group health, welfare, and retirement benefits to WSEs, based on our clients’ elections, under TriNet-sponsored insurance
plans;

• compliance with applicable law for employee benefits offered to WSEs;

• processing of unemployment claims; and

• provision of certain HR policies, including an employee handbook describing the co-employment relationship.

Client
Responsibilities

Our clients are responsible for employment-related responsibilities that we do not assume, including:

• day-to-day management of their worksites and WSEs;

• compliance with laws associated with the classification of employees as exempt or non-exempt, such as overtime pay and minimum wage law compliance;

• accurate and timely reporting to TriNet of compensation and deduction information, including information relating to hours worked, rates of pay, salaries,
wages and certain other compensation;

• accurate and timely reporting to TriNet of information relating to workplace injuries, employee hires and termination, and certain other information relevant
to TriNet’s services;

• provision and administration of any employee benefits not provided by TriNet (e.g., equity incentive plans);

• compliance with all laws and regulations applicable to the client’s workplace and business, including work eligibility laws, laws relating to workplace safety
or the environment, laws relating to family and medical leave, laws pertaining to employee organizing efforts and collective bargaining and employee
termination notice requirements;

• payment of TriNet invoices which include wages to WSEs and applicable employment taxes and service fees; and

• all other matters for which TriNet does not assume responsibility under the client service agreement, such as intellectual property ownership and protection
and liability for products produced and/or services provided.

As a result of our co-employment relationship with each of our WSEs, we are liable for payment of salary, wages and certain other compensation to the
WSEs as reported by the client and are responsible for providing specified employee benefits to such persons to the extent provided in each client service
agreement and under federal and state law. In most instances, clients are required to remit payment prior to the applicable payroll date by wire transfer or
automated clearinghouse transaction. Although we may become liable, as the employer for payroll purposes, to pay certain amounts for work previously
performed, we are not obligated to continue to provide services to the client if payment has not been made. For the year ended December 31, 2015 , our bad debt
expense relating to such obligations was approximately $2.0 million .
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We also assume responsibility for payment and liability for the withholding and remittance of federal and state income and employment taxes with respect
to salaries, wages and certain other compensation paid to WSEs, although we reserve the right to seek recourse against our clients for any liabilities arising out of
their conduct. Except to the extent federal legislation and applicable state law otherwise provide, the client may be held ultimately liable for those obligations if we
fail to remit taxes and the bonding security provided by the Employer Services Assurance Corporation (ESAC) is not sufficient to satisfy the obligation. We also
secure insurance in the event that we fail to meet these obligations.

Our Technology Platform

We provide our clients and WSEs with fundamental HR transactional capabilities, as well as a cloud-based system of record for all their HR transactions.
Our online and mobile self-service tools allow our clients and WSEs 24/7 access to their core HR information. On our systems, clients can effectively manage
employee hiring and termination, administer employee payroll, view real-time benefits data and create compensation reports. WSEs can also manage their own
payroll information, request paid time off (PTO) and view approval status real-time, enroll in benefits, and view paystubs, PTO balances, and W-2s, among other
things. We also offer human capital management software offerings, including talent management and development, applicant tracking, expense management, and
performance management. These modules can be either bundled into the product offering or purchased as add-ons for certain of our verticals. We have also made
significant investments to integrate our software offerings with those of certain third-party technology and benefits services providers to allow clients and WSEs to
access a unified view of all of their pertinent HR information.

By offering a proprietary, cloud-based HR system, our clients gain the efficiencies of an enterprise-level software solution without the significant cost of in-
house installation or ongoing maintenance. Features include:

• multi-tenant system enabling multiple clients and WSEs to share one version of our system while isolating each client’s and WSE’s data;

• rule-based provisioning ensuring that all users are authenticated, authorized and validated before they can access our systems;

• redundant processing centers to protect client data from loss;

• integrated benefits and payroll processing for faster, more accurate data; and

• flexible and extensible platform architecture.

From 2013 through 2015 , we invested approximately $111.3 million in our technology systems. We plan to continue to invest to upgrade and improve our
technology offerings, including enhancements of our solutions to address specific needs of clients in our key vertical markets, as we believe the continued
improvement of our technology provides TriNet with the ability to drive operating efficiencies while improving our clients’ experience. We will leverage our
existing online technology offerings to build additional products and features, including a full-service mobile platform, standard APIs for selected third party
offerings, improved client experience for key processes, and retirement of legacy software systems from acquisitions and migration of clients to the primary TriNet
software system.

Competition

We face significant competition on a national and regional level from a number of companies purporting to deliver a range of bundled services that are
generally similar to the services we provide. The National Association of Professional Employer Organizations, or NAPEO, estimates that there are between 780
and 980 such entities currently operating in the United States. We are one of only five PEOs accredited by the Employer Services Assurance Corporation that
offers services in all 50 states and believe that we are one of the largest PEOs in the industry. Our competitors include large PEOs such as the TotalSource unit of
Automatic Data Processing, Inc. and Insperity, Inc., as well as specialized and smaller PEOs and similar service providers. If and to the extent that we and other
companies providing these services are successful in growing our businesses, we anticipate that future competitors will enter this industry.
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In addition to competition from other professional employer organizations, we also face significant competition in the form of companies serving their HR
needs in both traditional and non-traditional manners. These forms of competition include:

• HR and information systems departments and personnel of companies that perform their own administration of employee benefits, payroll and HR;

• providers of certain endpoint HR services, including payroll, employee benefits and business process outsourcers with high-volume transaction and
administrative capabilities, such as Automatic Data Processing, Inc., Paychex, Inc. and other third-party administrators;

• employee benefit exchanges that provide benefits administration services over the Internet to companies that otherwise maintain their own employee benefit
plans; and

• insurance brokers who allow third party HR systems to integrate with their platform.

We believe that our services are attractive to many SMBs in part because of the quality and breadth of our workers compensation, group health insurance
and other employee benefits programs. We compete with insurance brokers and other providers of this coverage in this regard.

We believe the principal competitive factors in our market include the following:

• level of client satisfaction;

• ease of client setup and on-boarding;

• breadth and depth of benefit plans;

• vertical market expertise;

• total cost of service;

• brand awareness and reputation;

• ability to innovate and respond to client needs rapidly;

• online and mobile functionality; and

• subject matter expertise.

We believe that we compete favorably on the basis of each of these factors.

Sales and Marketing

We sell our solutions primarily through our direct sales organization. We have aligned our sales organization by industry vertical with the goal of driving
profitable market share in our targeted industries. This vertical approach deepens our network of relationships and gives us an understanding of the unique HR
needs facing SMBs in those industries. As part of our vertical approach, we conduct industry-specific client marketing programs, including industry and
geographic focus groups, to foster a sense of community through the sharing of best practices, while also collecting valuable information about the unique
requirements of companies in particular industries. This knowledge then allows our sales team to work with our product development and client service teams to
build bundled solutions of services that are tailored to the specific needs of clients in these industries.

The number of sales representatives in the field has grown substantially in recent years, through both internal hiring and through onboarding sales
representatives from acquired businesses, from 80 sales representatives as of December 31, 2011 to 481 sales representatives as of December 31, 2015 . In our
direct sales organization, we recruit and seek to hire sales professionals who have experience in a specific industry vertical market, and with a background in
selling business services such as accounting, HR or sales solutions. As of December 31, 2015 , we had approximately 50 regional field sales offices.

Our sales team’s primary focus and goal is to win new accounts as opposed to mining our installed base of business for incremental revenue. In order to
drive the most effective cost of acquisition for this new business, we continually fine-tune our lead generation and marketing efforts and our initiatives to attempt
to drive higher productivity per sales representative.

Our marketing, inside sales, lead generation, and lead incubation efforts support the success of our direct sales representatives. We employ a broad range of
vertically focused awareness and demand-generation marketing programs, including digital and print advertising, e-mail, direct mail and social media. We have an
internal public relations team that works with an external agency to promote relevant content to target media outlets. We sponsor and participate in associations
and events around the country and utilize these forums to target specific vertical and geographic markets. We also generate
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sales opportunities, and deepen our relationships within key industry verticals, through marketing alliances and other indirect channels, such as existing clients,
certified public accountants, venture capital firms, incubators, insurance brokers, and other vertical market industry associations.

We drive sales representative productivity in a number of ways, including by improving the quality of leads generated by our marketing and inside sales
teams, and through the development of a sales operations team that offloads sales process work. We believe our focus on specific verticals, and the expertise
gained through this focus, makes our sales representatives increasingly relevant to their target audience. Recently, we have expanded our focus on various channel
relationships and alliances that drive warm leads to our direct sales force. Finally, our sales representatives benefit from building strong relationships with
prospects during the sales process, resulting in referrals to new prospects as well as direct support through providing reference calls in regards to our products and
services.

Strategic Acquisitions

Historically, we have pursued strategic acquisitions to both expand our product capabilities and supplement our growth across geographies and certain
industry verticals. Our acquisition targets have included other bundled HR providers as well as technology companies or technology product offerings to
supplement or enhance our existing HR solutions. We intend to continue to pursue strategic acquisitions that will enable us to add new clients and WSEs, expand
our presence in certain geographies or industry verticals and offer our clients and WSEs more comprehensive and attractive products and services.

Clients

We approach the market with a vertical, or industry-based, focus. Our clients span a variety of industries, including technology, life sciences, not-for-profit,
professional services, financial services, property management, retail, manufacturing and hospitality. We have grown our number of clients from approximately
4,500 as of December 31, 2011 to over 12,700 clients as of December 31, 2015 . We have also grown our number of WSEs from approximately 83,000 as of
December 31, 2011 to approximately 324,000 in all 50 states, the District of Columbia and Canada as of December 31, 2015 .

U.S. Legal and Regulatory Environment

The complex environment created by the numerous federal, state and local laws and regulations relating to labor and employment matters, benefit plans and
income and employment taxes creates a significant demand for our HR solutions. Many of those laws and regulations also significantly affect how we are able to
provide our HR solutions to our clients. Many of these laws, such as ERISA, were enacted before the development of the co-employment relationship and other
non-traditional employment relationships, such as temporary employment and other employment-related outsourcing arrangements. Therefore, many of these laws
do not specifically address the obligations and responsibilities of professional employer organizations utilizing a co-employment model like ours, creating
uncertainty about their interpretation and application to our industry. In addition, other federal and state laws and regulations, such as the Affordable Care Act, are
relatively new and administrative agencies and federal and state courts have only begun to interpret and apply these regulations to our industry. The development
of additional regulations and interpretation of these laws and regulations can be expected over time.

We believe that our operations are currently in compliance in all material respects with applicable federal and state statutes and regulations. The sections
discussed below summarize what we believe are the most important regulatory aspects of our business:

Employer
Status

In order for clients and WSEs to receive the full benefit of our employee benefit plan offerings, it is important that we constitute the “employer” of the
WSEs under the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, or the Code, and ERISA. The definitions of “employer” under both the Code and ERISA are not clear and are
defined in part by complex multi-factor tests under common law. We believe that we qualify as an “employer” of our WSEs in the United States under both the
Code and ERISA, and we implement processes to protect and preserve this status. With Congressional passage of the Small Business Efficiency Act in December
2014, the Code clarified the employer status of professional employer organizations, or PEOs, for federal tax purposes, for those PEOs who voluntarily become
certified under this law. The IRS is expected to begin accepting applications for certification in July 2016 and we currently intend to apply for certification.

Tax
Qualified
Plans.

In order to qualify for favorable tax treatment under the Code, certain employee benefit plans such as 401(k) retirement plans and
cafeteria plans must be established and maintained by an employer for the exclusive benefit of its employees. Generally, an entity is an “employer” of certain
workers for federal employment tax purposes if an employment
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relationship exists between the entity and the workers under the common law test of employment. The common law test of employment, as applied by the IRS,
involves an examination of many factors to ascertain whether an employment relationship exists between a worker and a purported employer. Our 401(k)
retirement plans are operated pursuant to guidance provided by the IRS for the operation of defined contribution plans maintained by co-employers that benefit
WSEs. This guidance provides qualification standards for such plans. All of our 401(k) retirement plans have received favorable determination letters from the IRS
confirming the qualified status of the plans. The IRS 401(k) guidance and qualification requirements are not applicable to the operation of our cafeteria plans.

ERISA
Regulation.
Employee pension and welfare benefit plans are also governed by ERISA. ERISA defines an “employer” as “any person acting directly
as an employer, or indirectly in the interest of an employer, in relation to an employee benefit plan.” ERISA defines the term “employee” as “any individual
employed by an employer.” The courts have held that the common law test of employment must be applied to determine whether an individual is an employee or
an independent contractor under ERISA. However, in applying that test, control and supervision are less important for ERISA purposes when determining whether
an employer has assumed responsibility for providing employee benefits. A definitive judicial interpretation of “employer” in the context of a professional
employer organization has not been established, and the U.S. Department of Labor has issued guidance that certain entities in the HR outsourcing industry do not
qualify as common law employers for ERISA purposes. If we were found not to be an employer for ERISA purposes, it could affect the manner in which we are
able to provide employee benefits to our WSEs.

Affordable
Care
Act

The Affordable Care Act, or the Act, implemented sweeping health care reforms with staggered effective dates from 2010 through 2020, and many
provisions in the Act require the issuance of additional guidance from the U.S. Department of Labor, the IRS, the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services
and the states. The Act imposed a number of new mandates on the coverage required to be provided under health insurance plans beginning in 2010, with
additional requirements staged in subsequent years. We believe that our group health insurance plans comply with existing mandates. However, the guidance
issued to date by the IRS and the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services has not addressed, or in some instances is unclear, as to its application in the co-
employer context. As a result, we are not yet able to predict all of the impacts to our business, and to our clients, resulting from the Act.

State
Unemployment
Taxes

State unemployment taxes are based on taxable wages and tax rates assigned by each state. The tax rates vary by state and are determined, in part, based on
our prior years’ compensation and unemployment claims experience in each state. Certain rates are also determined, in part, by each client’s own compensation
and unemployment claims experience. In addition, states have the ability under law to increase unemployment tax rates, including retroactively, to cover
deficiencies in the unemployment tax funds. Due to the adverse U.S. economic conditions during recent years and the associated reductions in employment levels,
the state unemployment tax funds have experienced a significant increase in the number of unemployment claims. Accordingly, state unemployment tax rates
increased substantially over the past few years. Employers in certain states are also experiencing higher federal unemployment tax rates as a result of certain states
not repaying their unemployment loans from the federal government in a timely manner. We have taken steps to mitigate the risk of fluctuations in state and
federal unemployment tax rates, including reporting and remitting unemployment insurance taxes or contributions at the client level and/or under the client’s own
account number in approximately 40 states, and we will continue to evaluate such reporting relationships in the future.

State
Regulation
of
Co-Employers

Forty-two states have adopted provisions for licensing, registration, certification or recognition of co-employers, and others are considering such
regulation. Such laws vary from state to state but generally provide for monitoring or ensuring the fiscal responsibility of professional employer organizations, and
in some cases codify and clarify the co-employment relationship for unemployment, workers compensation and other purposes under state law. We believe we are
in compliance in all material respects with the requirements in all 42 states. Regardless of whether a state has licensing, registration or certification requirements
for co-employers, we must comply with a number of other state and local regulations that could impact our operations, such as state and local taxes, licensing and
business regulations.

Intellectual Property

Our success depends in part on intellectual property rights to the services that we develop. We rely on a combination of contractual rights, including non-
disclosure agreements, trade secrets, copyrights and trademarks, to establish and protect our
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intellectual property rights in our names, services, methodologies and related technologies. If we lose intellectual property protection or the ability to secure
intellectual property protection on any of our names, confidential information or technology, this could harm our business. Our intellectual property rights may not
prevent competitors from independently developing services and methodologies similar to ours, and the steps we take might be inadequate to deter infringement or
misappropriation of our intellectual property by competitors, former employees or other third parties, any of which could harm our business. We currently have one
pending U.S. patent application covering our technology. We own registered trademarks in the United States, Canada and the European Union that have various
expiration dates unless renewed through customary processes. Our trademark registrations may be unenforceable or ineffective in protecting our trademarks. Our
trademarks may be unenforceable in countries outside of the United States, which may adversely affect our ability to build our brand outside of the United States.

Although we believe that our conduct of our business does not infringe on the intellectual property rights of others, third parties may nevertheless assert
infringement claims against us in the future. We may be required to modify our products, services, internal systems or technologies, or obtain a license to permit
our continued use of those rights. We may be unable to do so in a timely manner, or upon reasonable terms and conditions, which could harm our business. In
addition, future litigation over these matters could result in substantial costs and resource diversion. Adverse determinations in any litigation or proceedings of this
type could subject us to significant liabilities to third parties and could prevent us from using some of our services, internal systems or technologies.

Corporate Employees

We refer to our employees, excluding employees that we co-employ on behalf of our clients, as our corporate employees. We had approximately 2,500
corporate employees as of December 31, 2015 . None of our corporate employees is covered by a collective bargaining agreement.

Corporate and Other Available Information

We were incorporated in 1988 as TriNet Employer Group, Inc., a California corporation. We reincorporated as TriNet Merger Corporation, a Delaware
corporation, in 2000 and during that year changed our name to TriNet Group, Inc. Our principal executive offices are located at 1100 San Leandro Blvd., Suite
400, San Leandro, CA 94577 and our telephone number is (510) 352-5000. Our website address is www.trinet.com. Information contained in or accessible through
our website is not a part of this report.

On the Investor Relations page of our Internet website at http://www.trinet.com, we make available, free of charge, our Annual Reports on Form 10-K,
Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, Current Reports on Form 8-K, and amendments to those reports, as soon as reasonably practicable after such material is
electronically filed with or furnished to the SEC. Information contained in or accessible through our website is not incorporated into this report and is not a part of
this report.

Item 1A. Risk Factors

Investing
in
our
common
stock
involves
a
high
degree
of
risk.
You
should
carefully
consider
the
following
risks
and
all
of
the
other
information
contained
in
this
report,
including
the
section
of
this
report
titled
“Management’s
Discussion
and
Analysis
of
Financial
Condition
and
Results
of
Operations”
and
our
consolidated
financial
statements
and
related
notes.
Any
of
the
following
risks
could
materially
and
adversely
affect
our
business,
financial
condition
and
results
of
operations
and
cause
a
decline
in
the
trading
price
of
our
common
stock,
and
you
may
lose
some
or
all
of
your
investment.

Risks Related to Our Business and Industry

Our
co-employment
relationship
with
our
worksite
employees
exposes
us
to
business
risks.

Under our agreements with our clients, we are a co-employer of our WSEs and assume certain obligations, including the responsibility to pay salaries,
wages and related payroll taxes of our WSEs, and to do so, to the extent required by law, regardless of whether our client timely remits payments to us. In addition,
we provide benefits to our WSEs, even if the cost of providing such benefits is greater than fees received from our clients. Although our client agreements require
clients to pay these amounts or indemnify us for failure to make such payments, we may not be able to effectively enforce or collect on these contractual
obligations. Accordingly, our ultimate liability for payroll and benefits expenses for our WSEs could exceed the amounts we receive from our clients, which could
have a material adverse effect on our financial condition or results of operations.
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Moreover, as a co-employer of our WSEs, there is a possibility that we may be subject to liability for violations of employment laws and other acts and
omissions by our clients or WSEs, who may be deemed to be our agents, even if we do not participate in any such acts or violations. Such laws include, but are not
limited to, laws relating to payment of wages, employment discrimination, labor relations and whistleblower protection. Although our client agreements establish
the contractual division of responsibilities between us and our clients for various personnel management matters, including compliance with and liability under
various governmental regulations, as well as providing for clients to indemnify us for any liability attributable to clients’ or their employees’ conduct, we may not
be able to effectively enforce or collect on these contractual obligations, which could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition or results of
operations.

We maintain employment practices liability insurance coverage (often including coverage for our clients) to manage our and our clients’ exposure for
various WSE-related claims and are responsible (often together with our clients) for any deductible layer under such coverage. Furthermore, employment practices
liability insurance generally excludes coverage for claims relating to compliance with laws associated with the classification of employees as exempt or non-
exempt, such as overtime pay and minimum wage law compliance. We cannot assure you that our insurance will be sufficient in amount or scope to cover all
claims that may be asserted against us and for which we are unable to obtain indemnification from our clients. If judgments or settlements or defense costs exceed
our insurance coverage, it could harm our results of operations and financial condition. We cannot assure you that we will be able to obtain appropriate types and
levels of insurance in the future, that we will be able to replace existing policies on acceptable terms, or at all, or that our insurers will be able to pay all claims that
we may make under our policies, any of which could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition or results of operations.

Our
business
is
subject
to
numerous
state
and
federal
laws,
and
uncertainty
as
to
the
application
of
these
laws,
or
adverse
applications
of
these
laws,
as
well
as
changes
in
applicable
laws,
could
adversely
affect
our
business.

Our operations are governed by numerous federal, state and local laws relating to labor, tax, employee benefits, insurance and employment matters.
However, many of these laws (such as ERISA and federal and state employment tax laws) do not specifically address the obligations and responsibilities of a
professional employer organization providing outsourced HR services in a co-employment relationship, and the definition of employer under these laws is not
uniform. In addition, many states have not addressed the co-employment relationship for purposes of compliance with applicable state laws governing the
relationship between employers and employees and state insurance laws. We are not able to predict whether broader federal or state regulation governing our
business and the co-employment relationship with our WSEs will be implemented, or if it is, how it will affect us, our clients or our WSEs. Any adverse
application or interpretation (in courts, agencies or otherwise) of new or existing federal or state laws to the co-employment relationship with our clients and WSEs
could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition and results of operations. If federal, state or local jurisdictions were to change their regulatory
framework related to outsourced HR services, or introduce new laws governing our industry that were materially different from existing laws, those changes could
reduce or eliminate the need for some of our services, or could require that we make significant changes in our methods of doing business, which could increase
our cost of doing business. Changes in regulations could also affect the extent and type of employee benefits employers can or must provide employees, the
amount and type of taxes employers and employees are required to pay or the time within which employers must remit taxes to the applicable authority. These
changes could substantially decrease our revenues and substantially increase our cost of doing business and have a material adverse effect on our financial
condition and results of operations.

Although some states do not explicitly regulate professional employer organizations, 42 states have passed laws that have licensing, certification or
registration requirements applicable to professional employer organizations or recognize the professional employer organization model, and other states may
implement such requirements in the future. Laws regulating professional employer organizations vary from state to state, but generally provide for oversight of the
fiscal responsibility of professional employer organizations, and in some cases codify and clarify the co-employment relationship for processing unemployment
claims, workers compensation and other purposes under state law. We may be required to spend significant time and resources to satisfy licensing requirements or
other applicable regulations in some states, and we may not be able to satisfy these requirements or regulations in all states, which could prohibit us from doing
business in such states, which could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition and results of operations.

If
we
are
not
recognized
as
an
employer
of
worksite
employees
under
federal
and
state
regulations,
or
are
deemed
to
be
an
insurance
agent
or
third-
party
administrator,
we
and
our
clients
could
be
adversely
impacted.

In order for WSEs to receive the full benefit of our employee benefits plan offerings, it is important that we act and qualify as an employer of the WSEs for
certain purposes under the Code and ERISA. In addition, our status as an employer is important for purposes of ERISA’s preemption of certain state laws. The
definition of employer under various laws is not uniform, and under both the Code and ERISA, the term is defined in part by complex multi-factor tests. We
believe that we
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qualify as an employer of our WSEs in the United States for the relevant purpose of both the Code and ERISA, and we implement processes to protect and
preserve this status. With passage of the Small Business Efficiency Act in December 2014, the U.S. Congress clarified the employer status of professional
employer organizations or PEOs for federal tax purposes under the Code for those PEOs who voluntarily become certified under this law. The IRS is expected to
begin accepting applications for certification under the Code in July 2016 and we currently intend to apply for certification. However, the U.S. Department of
Labor has issued guidance that certain entities in the HR outsourcing industry may not qualify as employers for ERISA purposes. If we were found not to be an
employer under the Code or ERISA, it could affect the manner in which we are able to provide employee benefits to our WSEs and could have a material adverse
effect on our financial condition and results of operations.

In addition, state regulatory authorities generally require licenses for companies that do business in their states as insurance agents or third-party
administrators, such as those that handle health or retirement plan funding and claim processing. Insurance and third-party administrator regulation covers a host of
activities, including sales, underwriting, rating, claims payments and record keeping by companies and agents. We do not believe that our services constitute acting
as an insurance agent or third-party administrator. If regulatory authorities in any state determine that the nature of our business requires that we be licensed as an
insurance agent or as a third-party administrator, we may need to hire additional personnel to manage regulatory compliance and become obligated to pay annual
regulatory fees, which could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition and results of operations.

We
and
our
clients
could
be
adversely
impacted
by
health
care
reform.

The Affordable Care Act, or the ACA, proposes sweeping health care reforms with staggered effective dates from 2010 through 2020, and many provisions
of the ACA require the issuance of additional guidance from the U.S. Departments of Labor and Health and Human Services, the IRS and the states. A number of
key provisions of the ACA have begun to take effect over the past several years, including the establishment of state and federal insurance exchanges, insurance
market reforms, “play or pay” penalties on applicable large employers and the imposition and assessment of excise taxes and reinsurance taxes on insurers and
third-party administrators. Collectively, these items have the potential to significantly change the insurance marketplace for employers and how employers offer or
provide insurance to employees.

As a co-employer of our clients’ WSEs, we assume or share certain employer-related responsibilities and legal risks and assist our clients in complying with
many employment-related governmental regulations. Generally, the ACA and subsequently issued guidance by the IRS and the U.S. Department of Health and
Human Services have not addressed, or in some instances are unclear, as to their application in the co-employment relationship. In future periods, the changes may
result in increased costs to us and our clients and could affect our ability to attract and retain clients. Additionally, we may be limited or delayed in our ability to
increase service fees to offset any associated potential increased costs resulting from compliance with the ACA. Furthermore, the uncertainty surrounding the terms
and application of the ACA may delay or inhibit the decisions of potential clients to outsource their HR needs. Any of these developments may have a material
adverse effect on our financial condition and results of operations.

Our
inability
to
offer
competitive
health
and/or
workers
compensation
insurance
rates
could
harm
our
business.

If we are unable to offer competitive health and/or workers compensation insurance rates to our clients, it could affect our ability to attract and retain clients,
which would have a material adverse effect on our business. For example, where we offer our clients and their WSEs group health insurance policies with respect
to which our carriers set the premiums and for which we are not responsible for any deductible, the rates set by our carriers on such policies may not be
competitive. Further, for policies with respect to which we agree to pay additional amounts to our carriers for any claims that they pay within an agreed-upon
deductible layer, we may not be able to control costs through the deductible layer in a way that would make our rates competitive. In addition, broad adoption of
our services in certain geographies or industries may make it more difficult for us to obtain competitive health and/or workers compensation insurance rates due to
concentration of clients within a particular geography or industry. The inability to offer competitive insurance rates, for the above reasons or any other, could have
a material adverse effect on our financial condition and results of operations.

Unexpected
changes
in
workers
compensation
and
health
insurance
claims
by
worksite
employees
could
harm
our
business.

We maintain health and workers compensation insurance covering our WSEs. Our insurance costs are impacted significantly by our WSEs’ health and
workers compensation insurance claims experience. We establish reserves to provide for the estimated costs of reimbursing our workers compensation and health
insurance carriers for paying claims within the deductible layer in accordance with their insurance policies. Estimating these reserves involves our consideration of
a number

13



of factors and requires significant judgment. If there is an unexpected increase in the severity or frequency of claims activity of our WSEs (including activity
arising from any of a number of factors that affect claim activity levels, such as changes in general economic conditions, claims differing significantly from
expectations for new and existing clients, proposed and enacted regulatory changes, and terrorism, disease outbreaks or other catastrophic events ), or if we
subsequently receive updated information indicating insurance claims were higher than previously estimated and reported, our insurance costs could be higher in
that period or subsequent periods as we adjust our reserves accordingly. We have also experienced variability in the amount of our insurance costs due to the
number and severity of insurance claims being unpredictable. For example, in the three months ended June 30, 2015, we experienced a significant increase in the
number of large medical claims, which resulted in a significant increase in insurance costs. In addition, we may be unable to increase our pricing to offset increases
in insurance costs either in full or on a timely basis. Incorporating cost increases into what we charge our clients could also adversely impact our ability to attract
and retain clients. The occurrence of any of the above could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition and results of operations.

Adverse
changes
in
our
relationships
with
key
vendors,
particularly
our
employee
benefit
carriers,
could
harm
our
business.

Our success depends in part on our ability to establish and maintain arrangements and relationships with vendors that supply us with essential components
of our services. These service providers include insurance carriers to provide health and workers compensation insurance coverage for WSEs, as well as other
vendors such as couriers used to deliver client payroll checks and banks used to electronically transfer funds from clients to their WSEs. Failure by these service
providers, for any reason, to deliver their services in a timely manner could result in material interruptions to our operations, impact client relations, and result in
significant penalties or other liabilities to us. If any of these vendors decide to terminate its relationship with us, particularly our employee benefit carriers, we may
have difficulty obtaining replacement services at reasonable rates or on a timely basis, if at all. The loss of any one or more of our key vendors, or our inability to
partner with certain vendors that are better-known or more desirable to our clients or potential clients, could have a material adverse effect on our financial
condition and results of operations.

Security
breaches
could
result
in
the
improper
disclosure
of
sensitive
company,
employee,
client
and
WSE
data,
including
personal
information,
exposing
us
to
liability,
which
would
cause
our
business
and
reputation
to
suffer.

Our ability to ensure secure electronic processing, maintenance and transmission of payroll, insurance and other sensitive employee, client and WSE
information is critical to our operations. This information could include sensitive or confidential data, such as employees’ Social Security numbers, bank account
numbers, retirement account information and medical information.

We rely on standard internet and other security systems to provide the security and authentication necessary to effect secure transmission of data. Despite
our security measures, it is possible that our information technology and infrastructure may be vulnerable to cybersecurity threats, including attacks by hackers and
other malfeasance. Third parties, including vendors that provide services for our operations, could also be a source of security risk to us in the event of a failure of
their own security systems and infrastructure. Any such security breach could compromise our networks and result in the information stored or transmitted there to
be accessed, publicly disclosed, lost or stolen. Any such access, disclosure or other loss of information could result in legal claims or proceedings leading to
liability, including under laws that protect the privacy of personal information, disrupt our operations and the services we provide to our clients and WSEs, damage
our reputation and cause a loss of confidence in our products and services, which could adversely affect our business, operations and competitive position. In the
course of providing our services to our clients, we also rely on certain third-party service providers and products, such as insurance carriers, to process information
related to our employees, clients and WSEs. Through contractual provisions, we take steps to require that our service providers protect sensitive information.
However, we cannot provide assurances as to the security steps taken by such providers. Any security breach or other disruption of our third-party service
providers that results in an inadvertent disclosure or loss of confidential information could adversely affect our reputation and our business.

Our
quarterly
results
of
operations
may
fluctuate
as
a
result
of
numerous
factors,
many
of
which
are
outside
of
our
control.

Our quarterly results of operations are likely to fluctuate, and our results in some quarters may be below the expectations of research analysts and our
investors, which could cause the price of our common stock to decline. Some of our significant expenses, such as insurance costs for our WSEs, may require
significant lead time to offset or reduce. If we do not achieve our expected revenues targets, we may be unable to adjust our costs quickly enough to offset any
revenues shortfall, which could
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harm our results of operations. Some of the important factors that have and may cause our revenues, results of operations and cash flows to fluctuate from quarter
to quarter include:

• the number and severity of health and workers compensation insurance claims by WSEs and the timing of claims information provided by our insurance
carriers;

• the amount and timing of our insurance costs, operating expenses and capital expenditures;

• the number of our new clients initiating service and the number of WSEs employed by each new client;

• the loss of existing clients;

• reduction in the number of WSEs employed by existing clients;

• the timing of client payments and payment defaults by clients;

• costs associated with our acquisitions of companies, assets and technologies;

• payments or drawdowns on our credit facility, or any amendments to our obligations under our credit facility;

• unanticipated expenses such as litigation or other dispute-related settlement payments;

• expenses we incur for geographic and service expansion;

• our regulatory compliance costs;

• changes in our effective tax rate; and

• the impact of new accounting pronouncements.

Many of the above factors are discussed in more detail elsewhere in this “Risk Factors” section and in the section of this report titled “Management’s
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.” Many of these factors are outside our control, and the variability and unpredictability
of these factors have in the past and could in the future cause us to fail to meet our expectations for revenues or results of operations for a given period. In addition,
the occurrence of one or more of these factors might cause our results of operations to vary widely, which could lead to negative impacts on our margins, short-
term liquidity or ability to retain or attract key personnel, and could cause other unanticipated issues. Accordingly, we believe that quarter-to-quarter comparisons
of our revenues, results of operations and cash flows may not be meaningful and should not be relied upon as an indication of our future performance.

Volatility
in
the
financial
and
economic
environment
could
harm
our
business.

Demand for our services is sensitive to changes in the level of overall economic activity in the markets in which we operate. During periods of weak
economic conditions, employment levels tend to decrease, small business failures tend to increase and interest rates may become more volatile. Current or potential
clients may also react to weak economic conditions or forecasted weak economic conditions by reducing their employee headcount or by lowering their wage,
bonus or benefits levels, any of which would affect our revenues, and may affect our margins, because we may be unable to reduce our operating expenses
sufficient to offset the drop in revenues. It is difficult for us to forecast future demand for our services due to the inherent difficulty in forecasting the direction,
strength and length of economic cycles. These conditions may affect the willingness of our clients and potential clients to pay outside vendors for services like
ours, and may impact their ability to pay their obligations to us on time, or at all. In addition, if businesses have difficulty obtaining credit, business growth and
new business formation may be impaired, which could also harm our business. Even modest downturns in economic activity or the availability of credit on a
regional or national level could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition or results of operations.

Most
of
our
clients
are
concentrated
in
certain
geographies
and
a
relatively
small
number
of
industries,
making
us
vulnerable
to
downturns
in
those
geographies
and
industries.

Most of our clients are concentrated in certain geographies and operate in a relatively small number of industries, including the technology, life sciences,
not-for-profit, professional services, financial services, real estate, retail, manufacturing, and hospitality industries. As a result, if any of those geographic regions
or specific industries suffers a downturn, the portion of our business attributable to clients in that region or industry could be adversely affected, which could have
a material adverse effect on our financial condition or results of operations.

15



Our
business
and
operations
have
experienced
rapid
growth
in
recent
periods,
and
if
we
are
unable
to
effectively
manage
this
growth,
our
business
and
results
of
operations
may
suffer.

We have experienced rapid growth and have significantly expanded our operations in recent periods, which has placed a strain on our management and our
administrative, operational and financial infrastructure. Managing this growth requires us to further refine our operational, financial and management controls and
reporting systems and procedures.

Our ability to effectively manage any significant growth of our business will depend on a number of factors, including our ability to do the following:

• effectively recruit, integrate, train and motivate new employees, while retaining our existing employees, maintaining the beneficial aspects of our corporate
culture and effectively executing our business plan;

• satisfy our existing clients and identify and acquire new clients;

• enhance the breadth and quality of our services;

• continue to improve our operational, financial and management controls; and

• make sound business decisions in light of the scrutiny associated with operating as a public company.

These activities will require significant operating and capital expenditures and allocation of valuable management and employee resources, and we expect
that our growth will continue to place significant demands on our management and on our operational and financial infrastructure.

Our future financial performance and our ability to execute on our business plan will depend, in part, on our ability to effectively manage any future growth.
We cannot assure you that we will be able to do so in an efficient or timely manner, or at all. In particular, any failure to successfully implement systems
enhancements and improvements will likely negatively impact our ability to manage our expected growth, ensure uninterrupted operation of key business systems
and comply with the rules and regulations that are applicable to public companies. If we fail to manage our growth effectively, our costs and expenses may increase
more than we expect them to, which in turn could harm our business, financial condition and results of operations.

We
may
not
be
able
to
sustain
our
profitability
or
revenue
growth
rate
in
the
future.

While we have achieved profitability on an annual basis in each of the last four fiscal years, we have not consistently achieved profitability on a quarterly
basis during that same period. Our operating expenses could increase substantially in the near term, particularly as we continue to invest in our sales and marketing
organization, expand our operations and improve our infrastructure and enhance the breadth and quality of our services. If our revenues do not increase to offset
these increases in our operating expenses, we may not be profitable in future periods.

Moreover, you should not consider our historical revenue growth rate to be indicative of our future performance. As we grow our business, our revenue
growth rates may slow in future periods due to a number of reasons, which may include slowing demand for our services, increasing competition, a decrease in the
growth of our overall market, our failure, for any reason, to continue to capitalize on growth opportunities, the maturation of our business or the decline in the
number of SMBs in our target markets and verticals.

If
our
vertical
sales
strategy
is
unsuccessful
or
if
our
sales
force
is
otherwise
unable
to
sell
our
solutions
at
the
rate
that
we
anticipate,
we
may
not
be
able
to
maintain
our
client
base
or
grow
our
business,
which
could
have
a
material
adverse
effect
on
our
financial
condition
and
results
of
operations.

We have aligned our business based on an industry vertical approach where our sales force, product development, and service teams are increasingly
focused on specific business sectors. Our vertical approach gives us an understanding of the HR needs facing SMBs in those industries. This knowledge enables us
to provide a bundled solution of services that is tailored to its specific needs of clients in these industries. If our vertical strategy is unsuccessful, our business may
not grow at the rate that we anticipate, which could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition and results of operations.

In order to raise awareness of the benefits of our services and identify and acquire new clients, we have rapidly grown our direct sales force. Competition
for skilled sales personnel is intense, and we cannot assure you that we will be successful in attracting, training and retaining qualified sales personnel, or that our
newly hired sales personnel will function effectively, either individually or as a group. In addition, our newly hired sales personnel are typically not productive for
up to a year following their hiring. This results in increased near-term costs to us relative to the sales contributions of these newly hired sales personnel. If we are
unable to effectively train our sales force and benefit from greater productivity of our sales
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representatives, or if our sales force is otherwise unable to sell our solutions as we anticipate, our revenues likely will not increase at the rate that we anticipate,
which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Our
industry
is
highly
competitive,
which
may
limit
our
ability
to
maintain
or
increase
our
market
share
or
improve
our
results
of
operations.

We face significant competition on a national and regional level from a number of companies purporting to deliver a range of bundled services that are
generally similar to the services we provide, including large professional employer organizations such as the TotalSource business unit of Automatic Data
Processing, Inc. and Insperity, Inc., as well as specialized and small professional employer organization service providers. If and to the extent that we and other
companies providing these services are successful, we anticipate that future competitors will enter this industry. Some of our current, and any future, competitors
have or may have greater marketing and financial resources than we have, and may be better positioned than we are in certain markets. Increased competition in
our industry could result in price reductions or loss of market share, any of which could harm our business. We expect that we will continue to experience
competitive pricing pressure. If we cannot compete effectively, our market share, business, results of operations and financial condition may suffer.

In addition to competition from other professional employer organizations, we also face significant competition in the form of companies serving their HR
needs in both traditional and non-traditional manners. These forms of competition include:

• HR and information systems departments and personnel of companies that perform their own administration of employee benefits, payroll and HR;

• providers of certain endpoint HR services, including payroll, employee benefits and business process outsourcers with high-volume transaction and
administrative capabilities, such as Automatic Data Processing, Inc., Paychex, Inc. and other third-party administrators;

• employee benefit exchanges that provide benefits administration services over the Internet to companies that otherwise maintain their own employee benefit
plans; and

• insurance brokers who allow third party HR systems to integrate with their platform.

We believe that our services are attractive to many SMBs in part because of our ability to provide workers compensation, health care and other benefits
programs to them on a cost-effective basis. We compete with insurance brokers and other providers of this coverage in this regard, and our offerings must be priced
competitively with those provided by these competitors in order for us to attract and retain our clients.

We may not be successful in convincing potential clients that the use of our services is a superior, cost-effective means of satisfying their HR obligations
relative to the way in which they currently satisfy these obligations.

If we cannot compete effectively against other professional employer organizations or against the alternative means by which companies meet their HR
obligations, or if we are unable to convince clients or potential clients of the advantages of our offerings, our market share and business may suffer, resulting in a
material , adverse effect on our financial condition and results of operations.

Our
failure
to
maintain
or
enhance
our
reputation
or
brand
identity
could
harm
our
business.

We believe that maintaining and enhancing our reputation and the TriNet brand identity is critical to maintaining our relationships with our clients and
vendors and our ability to attract new clients and vendors. We also believe that our reputation and brand identity will become more important as competition in our
industry continues to develop. Our ability to maintain and enhance our reputation and brand identity will be affected by a number of factors, some of which are
beyond our control, including:

• the effectiveness of our marketing efforts;

• our ability to attract and retain new sales personnel to expand our direct sales force;

• our ability to retain our existing clients and attract new clients;

• the quality and perceived value of our services;

• our ability to successfully differentiate our services from those of our competitors;

• actions of our competitors and other third parties;
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• positive or negative publicity about us or our industry in general;

• timeliness of our filings with the SEC,

• interruptions, delays or attacks on our platform or mobile applications; and

• litigation or regulatory developments.

Any brand promotion activities in which we engage may not be successful or yield increased revenues. Furthermore, negative publicity, whether or not
justified, relating to events or activities attributed to us, our corporate employees, our WSEs, our vendors, other companies in our industry or others associated with
any of these parties, may tarnish our reputation and reduce the value of our brand. Damage to our reputation and loss of brand identity may reduce demand for our
services and harm our business, results of operations and financial condition. Moreover, any attempts to rebuild our reputation and restore the value of our brand
may be costly and time-consuming, and any such efforts may not ultimately be successful.

We
are
subject
to
client
attrition.

We regularly experience significant client attrition due to a variety of factors, including cost, client merger and acquisition activity, increases in
administrative fees and insurance costs, client business failure, effects of competition and clients deciding to bring their HR administration in-house. Our standard
client service agreement can be cancelled by us or by the client without penalty with 30 days’ prior written notice. Clients who intend to cease doing business with
us often elect to do so effective as of the beginning of a calendar year. As a result, we have historically experienced our largest concentration of client attrition in
the first quarter of each year. In addition, we experience higher levels of client attrition in connection with renewals of the health insurance we provide for WSEs in
the event that such renewals result in increased premiums that we pass on to our clients. If we were to experience client attrition in excess of our projected annual
attrition rate of approximately 20% of our installed WSE base, which occurred most recently in 2011, it could have a material adverse effect on our business,
financial condition and results of operations.

Our
acquisition
strategy
creates
risks
for
our
business.

We have completed numerous acquisitions of other businesses and technologies, and we expect that we will continue to grow through acquisitions of other
businesses, assets or technologies. We may fail to identify attractive acquisition candidates or we may be unable to reach acceptable terms for future acquisitions.
If we are unable to complete acquisitions in the future, our ability to grow our business will be impaired.

Acquisitions involve numerous other risks, including:

• difficulties integrating the operations, systems, technologies, services and personnel of the acquired companies, including the migration of WSEs from an
acquired company’s technology platform to ours;

• challenges associated with establishing or maintaining internal controls, procedures and policies relating to the acquired systems and processes, including
the potential for actual or perceived control weaknesses associated with or arising from the acquisitions and integration of acquired systems;

• diversion of management’s attention from other business concerns;

• over-valuation by us of acquired companies;

• litigation resulting from activities of the acquired company, including claims from terminated employees, clients, former stockholders and other third
parties;

• insufficient revenues to offset increased expenses associated with the acquisitions and unanticipated liabilities of the acquired companies;

• insufficient indemnification or security from the selling parties for legal liabilities that we may assume in connection with our acquisitions;

• entering markets in which we have no prior experience and may not succeed;

• risks associated with foreign acquisitions, such as communication and integration problems resulting from geographic dispersion and language and cultural
differences, compliance with foreign laws and regulations and general economic or political conditions in other countries or regions;

• potential loss of key employees of the acquired companies; and
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• impairment of relationships with clients and employees of the acquired companies or our clients and employees as a result of the integration of acquired
operations and new management personnel.

If we fail to integrate newly acquired businesses effectively, we might not achieve the growth, service enhancement or operational efficiency objectives of
the acquisitions, and our business, results of operations and financial condition could be harmed.

We may pay for acquisitions by issuing additional shares of our common stock, which would dilute our stockholders, or by issuing debt, which could
include terms that restrict our ability to operate our business or pursue other opportunities and subject us to meaningful debt service obligations. We may also use
significant amounts of cash to complete acquisitions. To the extent that we complete acquisitions in the future, we likely will incur future depreciation and
amortization expenses associated with the acquired assets. We may also record significant amounts of intangible assets, including goodwill, which could become
impaired in the future. Any such impairment charges would adversely affect our results of operations.

We
may
have
additional
tax
liabilities,
which
could
harm
our
business,
operating
results,
financial
condition
and
prospects.

Significant judgments and estimates are required in determining our provision for income taxes and other tax liabilities. Our provision for income taxes,
results of operations and cash flows may be impacted if any of our tax positions are challenged and successfully disputed by the tax authorities. In determining the
adequacy of our tax provision, we assess the likelihood of adverse outcomes that could result if our tax positions were challenged by the IRS and other tax
authorities. The tax authorities in the United States regularly examine our income and other tax returns. For example, in connection with an IRS examination of
prior federal income tax returns filed by Gevity, a company we acquired in 2009, we received a technical advice memorandum from the IRS taking the position
that a total of $10.1 million employment tax credits taken by Gevity, and an additional approximately $2.3 million taken by us after acquiring Gevity, should be
reversed, which position we dispute. The ultimate outcome of these examinations and tax disputes cannot be predicted with certainty. Should the IRS or other tax
authorities assess additional taxes as a result of these or other examinations, we may be required to record charges to operations that could have a material impact
on our results of operations, financial position or cash flows.

We
have
a
substantial
amount
of
indebtedness,
which
could
adversely
affect
our
financial
condition
and
our
operating
flexibility.

As of December 31, 2015 , we had $499.6 million in outstanding indebtedness under our credit facility, all of which was secured indebtedness of our
subsidiary, TriNet HR Corporation, guaranteed on a senior secured basis by us and certain of our subsidiaries. Our level of indebtedness and the limitations
imposed on us by our credit facility could affect our business in various ways, including the following:

• we will have to use a portion of our cash flows from operating activities for debt service rather than for other operational activities;

• we may not be able to borrow additional funds or obtain additional financing for future working capital, acquisitions, capital expenditures or other corporate
purposes, or may have to pay more for such financing;

• some or all of the indebtedness under our current or future credit facilities bears interest at variable interest rates, making us more vulnerable to interest rate
increases;

• we could be less able to take advantage of significant business opportunities, such as acquisition opportunities, and to react to changes in market or industry
conditions; and

• we may be more vulnerable to general adverse economic and industry conditions as a result of our inability to reduce our debt service costs in response to
reduced revenues.

Because borrowings under our credit facility bear interest at a variable rate, our interest expense could increase even though the amount borrowed remains
the same, exacerbating these risks. Our ability to meet these expenses depends on our future business performance, which will be affected by various factors,
including the risks described in this “Risk Factors” section. We are not able to control many of these factors, such as economic conditions in the markets where we
operate and pressure from competitors. Our operations may provide insufficient cash to pay the principal and interest on our credit facility and to meet our other
debt obligations. If so, we may be required to refinance all or part of our existing indebtedness or borrow additional funds, which we may not be able to do on
terms that are acceptable to us, if at all. In addition, the terms of our existing or future debt agreements may restrict our ability to take some or all of these
responsive actions. If we were unable to pay the principal and interest on our credit facility or meet our other debt obligations, the lenders under our credit facility
could
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terminate their commitments to extend further credit to us and accelerate a substantial part of our indebtedness. If that were to happen, we may not be able to repay
all of the amounts that would become due under our indebtedness or refinance our debt. If we were unable to repay those amounts or refinance our debt, the lenders
under our credit facility could proceed against the collateral granted to them to secure that indebtedness. If that were to happen, our results of operations and
financial condition could be harmed and we might be forced to seek bankruptcy protection.

The
terms
of
our
credit
facility
may
restrict
our
current
and
future
operations,
which
would
impair
our
ability
to
respond
to
changes
in
our
business
and
to
manage
our
business.

Our credit facility contains, and any future indebtedness of ours would likely contain, a number of restrictive covenants that impose significant operating
and financial restrictions on us, including restricting our ability to:

• incur, assume or guarantee additional debt;

• pay dividends or distributions or redeem or repurchase capital stock;

• incur or assume liens;

• make loans, investments and acquisitions;

• engage in sales of assets and subsidiary stock;

• enter into sale-leaseback transactions;

• enter into certain transactions with affiliates;

• complete dividends, loans or asset transfers from our subsidiaries;

• enter into new lines of business;

• prepay other indebtedness;

• transfer all or substantially all of our assets or enter into merger or consolidation transactions with another person; and

• make capital expenditures.

Under the credit facility, we are required to comply with a financial covenant that requires us and our subsidiaries to maintain a maximum leverage ratio so
long as there is any indebtedness outstanding under the revolving credit facility (excluding letters of credit issued and outstanding of up to $15.0 million other than
letters of credit that have been cash collateralized). Our ability to meet the leverage ratio can be affected by events beyond our control, and we may be unable to
comply with it. Our failure to comply with this financial covenant or other restrictive covenants under our credit facility and other debt instruments could result in a
default under our credit facility and/or other debt instruments, which in turn could result in the termination of the lenders’ commitments to extend further credit to
us under our credit facility and acceleration of a substantial portion of our indebtedness then outstanding under our credit facility. If that were to happen, we may
not be able to repay all of the amounts that would become due under our indebtedness or refinance our debt. If we were unable to repay those amounts or refinance
our debt, the lenders under our credit facility could proceed against the collateral granted to them to secure that indebtedness. If that were to happen, our results of
operations and financial condition could be harmed and we might be forced to seek bankruptcy protection.

If
we
fail
to
retain
our
key
personnel
or
fail
to
attract
additional
skilled
personnel,
our
business
may
suffer.

Our operations are dependent on the continued efforts of our officers and executive management and the performance and productivity of our regional
managers and field personnel. Our ability to attract and retain business depends on the quality of our services and the relationships that we maintain with our
clients. If we lose key personnel with significant experience in managing our business, this could impair our ability to deliver services effectively or profitably,
could divert other senior management time in seeking replacements, and could adversely affect our reputation with our clients and potential clients. Some of our
most important client relationships depend on the continued involvement of individual managers or sales personnel, and any loss of those individuals could
jeopardize those relationships and in turn adversely affect our operating results.

Our future success will depend on our ability to attract, hire, train and retain highly skilled technical, sales and marketing and support personnel, particularly
with expertise in outsourced solutions and the technology platforms that we deploy today and will deploy in the future. Our failure to attract and retain the
appropriate personnel may limit the rate at which we can expand our business, including developing new services and attracting new clients, or otherwise have a
material adverse effect on our financial condition or results of operations.
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We
have
identified
material
weaknesses
in
our
internal
control
over
financial
reporting
that
could,
if
not
remediated,
result
in
material
misstatements
in
our
financial
statements.

In  connection  with  the  audit  of  our  consolidated  financial  statements  as  of  and  for  the  year  ended  December  31,  2015,  we  have  identified  material
weaknesses relating to our internal control over financial reporting. A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over
financial reporting such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of the company’s annual or interim consolidated financial statements will
not  be  prevented  or  detected  on  a  timely  basis.  As  described  in  Item 9A.  Controls  and  Procedures,  we  have  concluded  that  our  internal  control  over  financial
reporting  was  not  effective  as  of  December  31,  2015  due  to  material  weaknesses.  Specifically,  we  identified  material  weaknesses  relating  to  (i)  ineffective
information  technology  general  controls,  primarily  with  respect  to  computer  operations,  access  controls  and  change  management,  (ii)  ineffective  control
environment and risk assessment,  (iii)  ineffective management review controls and controls over system-generated reports,  (iv) ineffective controls over payroll
operations,  (v)  ineffective  controls  over  health  and  workers  compensation  liabilities  and  related  expenses,  (vi)  ineffective  controls  over  validating  accuracy  of
payroll  tax  liabilities,  and  (vii)  ineffective  authorization  controls  over  procurement  processes.  However,  giving  full  consideration  to  these  weaknesses,  and  the
additional  analyses and other procedures we performed to ensure that  our consolidated financial  statements included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K were
prepared  in  accordance  with  U.S.  generally  accepted  accounting  principles  (GAAP),  our  management  has  concluded  that  our  consolidated  financial  statements
present fairly, in all material respects, our financial position, results of operations and cash flows for the periods disclosed in conformity with GAAP. While the
material  weaknesses  described  above  create  a  reasonable  possibility  that  an  error  in  financial  reporting  may  go  undetected,  after  extensive  review  and  the
performance of additional analysis and other procedures, no material adjustments, restatement or other revisions to our previously issued financial statements were
required.

As further described in Part II, Item 9A “Controls and Procedures” below, we are taking specific steps to remediate the material weaknesses that we
identified; however, the material weaknesses will not be remediated until the necessary controls have been implemented and we have determined the controls to be
operating effectively. Because the reliability of the internal control process requires repeatable execution, the successful remediation of these material weaknesses
will require review and evidence of effectiveness prior to concluding that the controls are effective. In addition, we may need to take additional measures to
address the material weaknesses or modify the remediation steps, and we cannot be certain that the measures we have taken, and expect to take, to improve our
internal controls will be sufficient to address the issues identified, to ensure that our internal controls are effective or to ensure that the identified material
weaknesses will not result in a material misstatement of our annual or interim consolidated financial statements. Implementing any appropriate changes to our
internal controls may distract our officers and employees and require material cost to implement new process or modify our existing processes. Moreover, other
material weaknesses or deficiencies may develop or be identified in the future. If we are unable to correct material weaknesses or deficiencies in internal controls
in a timely manner, our ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information accurately and within the time periods specified in the rules and
forms of the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission, will be adversely affected. This failure could negatively affect the market price and trading liquidity of our
common stock, lead to delisting, cause investors to lose confidence in our reported financial information, subject us to civil and criminal investigations and
penalties, and generally materially and adversely impact our business and financial condition.

We
are
subject
to
legal
proceedings
that
may
result
in
adverse
outcomes.

We are subject to claims, suits, government investigations, and proceedings arising from the ordinary course of our business, including actions with respect
to intellectual property claims, privacy, data protection or law enforcement matters, tax matters, labor and employment claims, commercial claims, purported class
action lawsuits, and other matters. For example, we are a party to a putative securities class action lawsuit filed by a purported stockholder of our company in the
United States District Court for the Northern District of California. Such claims, suits, government investigations, and proceedings are inherently uncertain and
their results cannot be predicted with certainty. Regardless of the outcome, such legal proceedings can have an adverse impact on us because of legal costs,
diversion of management and other personnel, and other factors. In addition, it is possible that a resolution of one or more such proceedings could result in liability,
penalties, or sanctions, as well as judgments, consent decrees, or orders preventing us from offering certain features, functionalities, products, or services, or
requiring a change in our business practices, products or technologies, which could in the future materially and adversely affect our business, operating results, and
financial condition. See Part I, Item 3, “Legal Proceedings” below for additional information about the legal proceedings we are currently involved in and future
proceedings that we may face.

Our
failure
to
timely
file
any
periodic
reports
with
the
SEC
may
prevent
us
from
complying
with
the
NYSE
rules
and
may
make
it
more
difficult
for
us
to
access
the
public
markets
to
raise
debt
or
equity
capital.

Despite extensive efforts, we were unable to file our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2015 within the time frame required by
the SEC (including the extension permitted by Rule 12b-25 under the Exchange Act). 
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As a result, we were not in full compliance with the NYSE Listed Company Manual, Section 802.01E, but have cured this deficiency upon filing our Annual
Report. We are required to comply with the NYSE Listed Company Manual as a condition for our common stock to continue to be listed on the NYSE. If we are
unable to comply with such conditions, then our shares of common stock are subject to delisting from the NYSE. Any delisting of our common stock from the
NYSE could have a significant negative effect on the value and liquidity of our securities, may preclude us from using exemptions from certain state and federal
securities regulations, and could adversely affect our ability to raise capital on terms acceptable to us or at all.
In addition, because we were unable to timely file our Annual Report, we will not be eligible to use a registration statement on Form S-3 to conduct public
offerings of our securities until we have timely made our periodic filings with the SEC for a full year. Our inability to use Form S-3 during this time period may
have a negative impact on our ability to access the public capital markets in a timely fashion because we would be required to file a long-form registration
statement on Form S-1 and have it reviewed and declared effective by the SEC. This may limit our ability to access the public markets to raise debt or equity
capital. Our limited ability to access the public markets could prevent us from pursuing transactions or implementing business strategies that we believe would be
beneficial to our business.

Any
failure
in
our
business
systems
could
reduce
the
quality
of
our
business
services,
which
could
harm
our
reputation
and
expose
us
to
liability.

Our business systems rely on the complex integration of numerous hardware and software subsystems to manage client transactions including the
processing of employee, payroll and benefits data. These systems can be disrupted by, among other things, equipment failures, computer server or systems failures,
network outages, malicious acts, software errors or defects, vendor performance problems and power failures. Any delay or failure in our systems that impairs our
ability to communicate electronically with our clients, employees or vendors or our ability to store or process data could harm our reputation and our business. If
we are unable to meet client demands or service expectations, we may lose existing clients and we may have difficulty attracting new clients. In addition, errors in
our products and services, such as the erroneous denial of healthcare benefits or delays in making payroll, could expose our clients to liability claims from
improperly serviced WSEs, for which we may be contractually obligated to provide indemnification.

We have disaster recovery, business continuity, and crisis management plans and procedures designed to protect our business against a multitude of events,
including natural disasters, military or terrorist actions, power or communication failures, or similar events. Despite our preparations, our plans may not be
successful in preventing the loss of client data, service interruptions, and disruptions to our operations, or damage to our important facilities. The precautions that
we have taken to protect ourselves against these types of events may prove to be inadequate. If we suffer damage to our data or operations centers, experience a
telecommunications failure or experience a security breach, our operations could be interrupted. Any interruption or other loss may not be covered by our
insurance and could harm our reputation.

If our systems were to fail for any of these reasons during payroll processing, preventing the proper payment of employees, or the proper remission of
payroll taxes, we could be liable for wage payment delay penalties and payroll tax penalties, as well as other contractual penalties. Any inaccuracies in the
processing of health insurance benefits could result in our being liable for lapses in insurance. If any of our systems fails to operate properly or becomes disabled
even for a brief period of time, we could suffer financial loss, a disruption of our businesses, liability to clients, regulatory intervention, or damage to our
reputation.

We
depend
on
licenses
with
third-party
software
in
order
to
provide
our
services.

We license a substantial portion of the software on which we depend to provide services to our clients from third-party vendors. If we are unable to maintain
these licenses, or if we are required to make significant changes in the terms and conditions of these licenses, we may need to seek replacement vendors or change
our software architecture to address licensing revisions with our current vendors, either of which could increase our expenses and impair the quality of our services.
In addition, we cannot assure you that our key vendors will continue to support their technology. Financial or other difficulties experienced by these vendors may
adversely affect the technologies we incorporate into our products and services. If this software ceases to be available, we may be unable to find suitable
alternatives on reasonable terms, or at all.

We
must
keep
pace
with
rapid
technological
change
in
order
to
succeed.

Our business depends upon the use of software, hardware and networking technologies that must be frequently and rapidly upgraded in response to
technological advances, competitive pressures and consumer expectations. To succeed, we will need to effectively develop or license and integrate these new
technologies as they become available to improve our services commensurate with client requirements. In particular, we rely on enterprise software applications
licensed from third parties that are upgraded from time to time such as PeopleSoft HR information systems and Oracle databases, which provide the basis
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for our HR information system platform supporting payroll, benefits and other HR functions. Any difficulties we encounter in adapting applications upgrades to
our systems could harm our performance or delay or prevent the successful development, introduction or marketing of new services. New products or upgrades
may not be released according to schedule, or may contain defects when released. Difficulties in integrating new technologies could result in adverse publicity, loss
of sales, delay in market acceptance of our services, or client claims against us, any of which could harm our business. We could also incur substantial costs in
modifying our services or infrastructure to adapt to these changes. In addition, we could lose market share if our competitors develop technologically superior
products and services.

If
we
are
unable
to
protect
our
intellectual
property,
or
if
we
infringe
on
the
intellectual
property
rights
of
others,
our
business
may
be
harmed.

Our success depends in part on intellectual property rights to the services that we develop. We rely on a combination of contractual rights, including non-
disclosure agreements, trade secrets, copyrights and trademarks, to establish and protect our intellectual property rights in our names, services, methodologies and
related technologies. If we lose intellectual property protection or the ability to secure intellectual property protection on any of our names, confidential
information or technology, this could harm our business. Our intellectual property rights may not prevent competitors from independently developing services and
methodologies similar to ours, and the steps we take might be inadequate to deter infringement or misappropriation of our intellectual property by competitors,
former employees or other third parties, any of which could harm our business. We currently have one pending U.S. patent application covering our technology.
We own registered trademarks in the United States, Canada and the European Union that have various expiration dates unless renewed through customary
processes. Our trademark registrations may be unenforceable or ineffective in protecting our trademarks. Our trademarks may be unenforceable in countries
outside of the United States, which may adversely affect our ability to build our brand outside of the United States.

Although we believe that our conduct of our business does not infringe on the intellectual property rights of others, third parties may nevertheless assert
infringement claims against us in the future. We may be required to modify our products, services, internal systems or technologies, or obtain a license to permit
our continued use of those rights. We may be unable to do so in a timely manner, or upon reasonable terms and conditions, which could harm our business. In
addition, future litigation over these matters could result in substantial costs and resource diversion. Adverse determinations in any litigation or proceedings of this
type could subject us to significant liabilities to third parties and could prevent us from using some of our services, internal systems or technologies.

Our
use
of
open
source
software
could
subject
us
to
possible
litigation.

A portion of our technologies incorporates open source software, and we expect to continue to incorporate open source software into our platform in the
future. Few of the licenses applicable to open source software have been interpreted by courts, and their application to the open source software integrated into our
proprietary technology platform may be uncertain. If we fail to comply with these licenses, then pursuant to the terms of these licenses, we may be subject to
certain requirements, including requirements that we make available the source code for our software that incorporates the open source software. We cannot assure
you that we have not incorporated open source software in our software in a manner that is inconsistent with the terms of the applicable licenses or our current
policies and procedures. If an author or other third party that distributes such open source software were to allege that we had not complied with the conditions of
one or more of these licenses, we could incur significant legal expenses defending against such allegations. Litigation could be costly for us to defend, have a
negative effect on our operating results and financial condition or require us to devote additional research and development resources to change our technology
platform.

Risks Related to Ownership of Our Common Stock

Our
stock
price
may
be
volatile
or
may
decline
regardless
of
our
operating
performance,
resulting
in
substantial
losses
for
our
stockholders.

The market price of our common stock has been, and is likely to continue to be, volatile for the foreseeable future. Since shares of our common stock were
sold in our initial public offering in March 2014 at a price of $16.00 per share, the daily closing price of our common stock has ranged from $16.33 to $37.88 per
share through December 31, 2015 . The market price of our common stock may fluctuate significantly in response to numerous factors, many of which are beyond
our control, including the factors listed below and other factors described in this “Risk Factors” section:

• actual or anticipated fluctuations in our results of operations;
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• any financial projections we provide to the public, any changes in these projections or our failure to meet these projections;

• failure of securities analysts to initiate or maintain coverage of our company, changes in financial estimates by any securities analysts who follow our
company, or our failure to meet these estimates or the expectations of investors;

• ratings changes by any securities analysts who follow our company;

• announcements by us or our competitors of significant innovations, acquisitions, strategic partnerships, joint ventures or capital commitments;

• changes in operating performance and stock market valuations of other business services companies generally, or those in our industry in particular;

• price and volume fluctuations in the overall stock market, including as a result of trends in the economy as a whole;

• changes in our board of directors or management;

• sales of large blocks of our common stock, including sales by our executive officers, directors and significant stockholders;

• lawsuits threatened or filed against us;

• short sales, hedging and other derivative transactions involving our capital stock;

• general economic conditions in the United States and abroad; and

• other events or factors, including those resulting from war, incidents of terrorism or responses to these events.

In addition, stock markets have experienced extreme price and volume fluctuations that have affected and continue to affect the market prices of equity
securities of many business services companies. Stock prices of many business services companies have fluctuated in a manner unrelated or disproportionate to the
operating performance of those companies. In the past, stockholders have instituted securities class action litigation following periods of market volatility.
Securities litigation could subject us to substantial costs, divert resources and the attention of management from our business and adversely affect our business,
results of operations and financial condition.

Substantial
future
sales
of
shares
of
our
common
stock
could
cause
the
market
price
of
our
common
stock
to
decline.

We may issue additional shares of common stock or securities convertible into shares of our common stock in one or more transactions and at prices and in
a manner as we may determine from time to time. Sales of a substantial number of shares of our common stock in the public market, or the perception that these
sales might occur, could depress the market price of our common stock and impair our ability to raise capital through the sale of additional equity securities. We
cannot predict the effect that such sales may have on the prevailing market price of our common stock.

As of December 31, 2015 , there were 4,446,149 shares of common stock subject to outstanding options, 956,687 shares of common stock issuable upon
settlement of restricted stock units and 173,286 shares of common stock issuable upon settlement of performance-based restricted stock units. We have registered
all of the shares of common stock issuable upon exercise of these outstanding options and settlement of these outstanding restricted stock units, and upon exercise
or settlement of any options or other equity incentives we may grant in the future, as well as the shares we have reserved for future issuance under our Employee
Stock Purchase Plan, or ESPP, for public resale under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended. Accordingly, these shares are eligible for sale in the public market to
the extent such options are exercised or such restricted stock units settle, or such shares are purchased pursuant to our ESPP, subject to compliance with applicable
securities laws.

As of December 31, 2015 , the holders of 20,091,312 shares of common stock have rights, subject to some conditions, to require us to file registration
statements for the public resale of such shares or to include such shares in registration statements that we may file for TriNet or our stockholders.

The
existing
ownership
of
capital
stock
by
our
executive
officers,
directors
and
their
affiliates
has
the
effect
of
concentrating
voting
control
with
our
executive
officers,
directors
and
their
affiliates
for
the
foreseeable
future,
which
limits
your
ability
to
influence
corporate
matters.

As of December 31, 2015 , funds affiliated with General Atlantic, our largest stockholder, beneficially own approximately 28.6% of our outstanding
common stock, and all of our directors, officers and their affiliates, including the funds affiliated with General Atlantic, beneficially own, in the aggregate,
approximately 40.8% of our outstanding common stock. As
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a result, these stockholders will be able to determine substantially all matters requiring stockholder approval, including the election of directors and approval of
significant corporate transactions, such as a merger or other sale of our company or its assets. This concentration of ownership could limit the ability of other
stockholders to influence corporate matters and may have the effect of delaying or preventing a third party from acquiring control over us.

If
securities
or
industry
analysts
do
not
publish
research
or
reports
about
our
business,
or
publish
negative
reports
about
our
business,
our
share
price
and
trading
volume
could
decline.

The trading market for our common stock will depend in part on the research and reports that securities or industry analysts publish about us or our
business, our market and our competitors. We do not have any control over these analysts. If one or more of the analysts who cover us downgrade our shares or
change their opinion of our shares, our share price would likely decline. If one or more of these analysts cease coverage of our company or fail to regularly publish
reports on us, we could lose visibility in the financial markets, which could cause our share price or trading volume to decline.

Anti-takeover
provisions
in
our
charter
documents
and
under
Delaware
law
could
make
an
acquisition
of
our
company
more
difficult,
limit
attempts
by
our
stockholders
to
replace
or
remove
our
current
management
and
limit
the
market
price
of
our
common
stock.

Provisions in our certificate of incorporation and bylaws may have the effect of delaying or preventing a change of control or changes in our management.
Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and bylaws include provisions that:

• establish a classified board of directors so that not all members of our board of directors are elected at one time;

• permit our board of directors to establish the number of directors;

• provide that directors may only be removed “for cause”;

• require super-majority voting to amend some provisions in our certificate of incorporation and bylaws;

• authorize the issuance of “blank check” preferred stock that our board of directors could use to implement a stockholder rights plan;

• eliminate the ability of our stockholders to call special meetings of stockholders;

• prohibit stockholder action by written consent, which requires all stockholder actions to be taken at a meeting of our stockholders;

• provide that our board of directors is expressly authorized to make, alter or repeal our bylaws; and

• establish advance notice requirements for nominations for election to our board of directors or for proposing matters that can be acted upon by stockholders
at annual stockholder meetings.

These provisions may frustrate or prevent any attempts by our stockholders to replace or remove our current management by making it more difficult for
our stockholders to replace members of our board of directors, which is responsible for appointing the members of our management. In addition, because we are
incorporated in Delaware, we are governed by the provisions of Section 203 of the Delaware General Corporation Law, which generally prohibits a Delaware
corporation from engaging in any of a broad range of business combinations with any holder of at least 15% of our capital stock for a period of three years
following the date on which the stockholder became a 15% stockholder.

Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments

None.

Item 2. Properties

We lease space for our corporate headquarters in San Leandro, California, approximately 50 regional sales offices in various states in the United States and
our client service centers in Bradenton, Florida; Reno, Nevada; Fort Mill, South Carolina; Oklahoma City, Oklahoma and New York, New York. All of these
leases expire at various times up through 2023.

We believe our current facilities are adequate for the purposes for which they are intended and provide for further expansion to accommodate our long-term
growth and expansion goals. We believe that short-term leased facilities are readily available if needed to accommodate near-term needs if they arise. We will
continue to evaluate the need for additional facilities
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based on the extent of our product and service offerings, the rate of client growth, the geographic distribution of our client base and our long-term service delivery
requirements.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings

Securities
Class
Action
. On or about August 7, 2015, Howard Welgus, a purported stockholder of the Company, filed a putative securities class action
lawsuit arising under the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934 in the United States District Court for the Northern District of California.  The case has not been
certified as a class action, although it purports to be filed on behalf of purchasers of the Company’s common stock between May 5, 2014 and August 3, 2015,
inclusive.  The name of the case is Welgus v. TriNet Group, Inc. et al., Case No. 3:15-cv-03625.  No stockholder other than Mr. Welgus submitted a motion for
appointment as lead plaintiff to represent the putative class, and, on December 3, 2015, the Court appointed Mr. Welgus as lead plaintiff.  On February 1, 2016,
Mr. Welgus filed an amended complaint.  The defendants named in the case are the Company and certain of its officers and directors, as well as General Atlantic,
LLC, a significant shareholder, and formerly majority shareholder, of the Company.  The amended complaint generally alleges that the Company caused damage to
stockholders of the Company by misrepresenting and/or failing to disclose facts generally pertaining to alleged trends affecting health insurance and workers
compensation claims.  Under a stipulated briefing schedule approved by the Court, the Company intends to move to dismiss the amended complaint no later than
April 11, 2016.  The Company believes that it has meritorious defenses against this action and intends to continue to defend itself vigorously against the allegations
of Mr. Welgus.

Other
Litigation
. The Company is and, from time to time, has been and may in the future become involved in various litigation matters, legal proceedings
and claims arising in the ordinary course of its business, including disputes with its clients or various class action, collective action, representative action and other
proceedings arising from the nature of its co-employment relationship with its clients and WSEs in which the Company is named as a defendant. In addition, due to
the nature of the Company’s co-employment relationship with its clients and WSEs, the Company could be subject to liability for federal and state law violations,
even if the Company does not participate in such violations. While the Company’s agreements with its clients contain indemnification provisions related to the
conduct of its clients, the Company may not be able to avail itself of such provisions in every instance.

While the outcome of the matters described above cannot be predicted with certainty, management currently does not believe that any such claims or
proceedings or the above mentioned securities class action will have a materially adverse effect on the Company’s consolidated financial position, results of
operations or cash flows. However, the unfavorable resolution of any particular matter or the Company’s reassessment of its exposure for any of the above matters
based on additional information obtained in the future could have a material impact on the Company’s consolidated financial position, results of operations or cash
flows. In addition, regardless of the outcome, the above matters, individually and in the aggregate, could have an adverse impact on the Company because of
diversion of management resources and other factors.

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures

Not applicable.
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PART II

Item 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

Market
Information
and
Holders
of
Record

Our common stock has been listed on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol “TNET” since March 27, 2014. Prior to that date, there was no
public trading market for our common stock. The following table sets forth for the periods indicated the high and low sale prices per share of our common stock as
reported on the New York Stock Exchange:

Year Ended December 31, 2015:  High  Low

First Quarter  $ 37.88  $ 30.04
Second Quarter  $ 37.27  $ 25.23
Third Quarter  $ 26.88  $ 16.33
Fourth Quarter  $ 20.05  $ 16.79
     

Year Ended December 31, 2014:  High  Low

First Quarter  $ 23.44  $ 17.28
Second Quarter  $ 27.78  $ 18.81
Third Quarter  $ 29.96  $ 21.79
Fourth Quarter  $ 32.79  $ 24.38

On March 29, 2016 , the last reported sale price of our common stock on the New York Stock Exchange was $13.97 per share. As of March 29, 2016 , we
had 48 holders of record of our common stock per Computershare Trust Company N.A., our transfer agent. The actual number of stockholders is greater than this
number of record holders, and includes stockholders who are beneficial owners, but whose shares are held in street name by brokers and other nominees. This
number of holders of record also does not include stockholders whose shares may be held in trust by other entities.

Dividend
Policy

Our board of directors has declared two special dividends since January 1, 2013. In August 2013, our board of directors declared a special dividend of $5.88
per common-equivalent share for holders of record of our preferred stock and $5.88 per share for holders of record of our common stock and restricted stock units,
for a total of approximately $310.8 million. In December 2013, our board of directors declared a special dividend of $0.88 per common-equivalent share for
holders of record of our preferred stock and $0.88 per share for holders of record of our common stock and restricted stock units, for a total amount of
approximately $46.7 million. In each case, we determined to pay such dividends to our stockholders because our board of directors determined that such dividends
were in our best interests and those of our stockholders, that we had sufficient surplus capital to pay such dividends and that we would be able to continue to fund
our operations and service our indebtedness utilizing cash flows from operations after payment of such dividends.

Any future determination as to the declaration and payment of dividends, if any, will be at the discretion of our board of directors and will depend on then
existing conditions, including our financial condition, operating results, contractual restrictions, capital requirements, business prospects and other factors our
board of directors may deem relevant.

In addition, our credit facility, as amended and restated in 2014, contains restrictions on our ability to declare and pay cash dividends on our capital stock.
So long as no event of default has occurred and is continuing and no ECF Shortfall Amount (as defined in the credit agreement) exists, our credit facility permits
cash dividends in amounts up to the sum of (a) specified dollar amounts under the facility, plus (b) so long as a specified leverage ratio under the credit facility is
satisfied, the available Excess Cash Flow (as defined in the credit agreement and subject to certain adjustments). See Note 8 to our consolidated financial
statements included elsewhere in this report.
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Performance
Graph

The following graph compares the cumulative return on the Company’s common stock since the initial public offering on March 27, 2014 with the
cumulative return on the S&P 500 Index and a Peer Group Index.

COMPARISON OF 21 MONTH CUMULATIVE TOTAL RETURN
Among TriNet Group, Inc., the S&P 500 Index, and a Peer Group*

* The Peer Group Index consists of the following companies:

Automatic Data Processing, Inc.
Insperity, Inc.
Paychex, Inc.
Barrett Business Services, Inc.
Heartland Payment Systems, Inc.
Intuit, Inc.

This graph shall not be deemed “filed” for purposes of Section 18 of the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”), or
otherwise subject to the liabilities of that section, nor shall it be deemed incorporated by reference in any filing under the Securities Act of 1933 or the Exchange
Act, regardless of any general incorporation language in such filing.
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Issuer
Purchases
of
Equity
Securities

The following table provides information about our purchases of TriNet common stock during the quarter ended December 31, 2015 :

Period
Total Number of
Shares Purchased  

Average Price
Paid Per Share  

Total Number of
Shares Purchased
as Part of Publicly

Announced Plans (1)  

Approximate Dollar Value
of Shares that May
Yet be Purchased

Under the Plans (1)

October 1 - October 31, 2015 —  —  —  $ 31,628,073
November 1 - November 30, 2015 —  —  —  $ 31,628,073
December 1 - December 31, 2015 —  —  —  $ 31,628,073

Total —       

(1) In May 2014, our board of directors authorized a program to repurchase in the aggregate up to $15 million of our outstanding common stock. Our board of directors subsequently
approved incremental increases to our ongoing stock repurchase program of $30 million in November 2014 and $50 million on June 29, 2015. In 2014 and 2015, we repurchased
approximately $15 million and approximately $49.2 million, respectively, of our outstanding common stock. As of December 31, 2015 we had approximately $31.6 million remaining for
repurchases under our stock repurchase program. Stock repurchases under the program are primarily intended to offset the dilutive effect of share-based employee incentive
compensation.
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Item 6. Selected Financial Data.

The following selected consolidated financial and other data should be read in conjunction with the section titled “Management’s Discussion and Analysis
of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” as well as our audited consolidated financial statements and related notes included in Item 8 of this Annual
Report on Form 10-K. We have derived the consolidated statement of operations data for the years ended December 31, 2015 , 2014 and 2013 and the consolidated
balance sheet data as of December 31, 2015 and 2014 from our audited consolidated financial statements that are included elsewhere in this report. We have
derived the consolidated statement of operations data for the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011 and consolidated balance sheet data as of December 31,
2013, 2012 and 2011 from our audited consolidated financial statements that are not included in this report. Our historical results are not necessarily indicative of
the results to be expected in the future.

 Year Ended December 31,

 2015  2014  2013  2012  2011

 (in thousands, except share and per share data)
Consolidated Statement of Operations:          
Professional service revenues $ 401,287  $ 342,074  $ 272,372  $ 148,233  $ 113,279

Insurance service revenues 2,258,001  1,851,457  1,371,903  870,828  727,111

Total revenues 2,659,288  2,193,531  1,644,275  1,019,061  840,390

Costs and operating expenses:          
Insurance costs 2,112,376  1,686,315  1,226,585  750,025  651,094

Cost  of  providing  services  (exclusive  of  depreciation  and
amortization of intangible assets)  (1) 150,694  134,256  106,661  63,563  59,388

Sales and marketing (1) 166,759  139,997  109,183  59,931  38,087

General and administrative (1) 69,626  53,926  52,455  37,879  31,421

Systems development and programming costs (1) 27,558  26,101  19,948  16,718  15,646

Amortization of intangible assets 39,346  52,302  51,369  17,441  12,388

Depreciation 14,612  13,843  11,737  11,676  9,201

Restructuring —  —  —  —  2,358

Total costs and operating expenses 2,580,971  2,106,740  1,577,938  957,233  819,583

Operating income 78,317  86,791  66,337  61,828  20,807

Other income (expense):          
Interest expense and bank fees (19,449)  (54,193)  (45,724)  (9,709)  (751)

Other, net 1,142  478  471  57  127

Income before provision for income taxes 60,010  33,076  21,084  52,176  20,183

Provision for income taxes 28,315  17,579  7,937  20,344  5,421

Net income $ 31,695  $ 15,497  $ 13,147  $ 31,832  $ 14,762

Net income per share attributable to common stock:          
Basic $ 0.45  $ 0.24  $ 0.26  $ 0.66  $ 0.32

Diluted $ 0.44  $ 0.22  $ 0.24  $ 0.63  $ 0.31

Weighted average common stock outstanding:          
Basic 70,228,159  56,160,539  12,353,047  9,805,384  7,842,682

Diluted 72,618,069  59,566,773  15,731,807  12,476,091  10,103,979
(1) Includes stock-based compensation expense as follows:

 Year Ended December 31,
 2015  2014  2013  2012  2011
 (in thousands)
Cost of providing services $ 4,244  $ 2,658  $ 1,193  $ 516  $ 438

Sales and marketing 4,490  2,755  1,284  500  637

General and administrative 7,501  4,517  3,220  3,144  3,590

Systems development and programming costs 1,688  1,030  416  200  160

Total stock-based compensation expense $ 17,923  $ 10,960  $ 6,113  $ 4,360  $ 4,825
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 Year Ended December 31,

 2015  2014  2013  2012  2011

 (in thousands)
Other Financial Data:          
Net Insurance Service Revenues  (1) $ 145,625  $ 165,142  $ 145,318  $ 120,803  $ 76,017

Net Service Revenues  (2) $ 546,912  $ 507,216  $ 417,690  $ 269,036  $ 189,296

Adjusted EBITDA (3) $ 151,340  $ 165,319  $ 136,027  $ 95,362  $ 47,348

Adjusted Net Income  (4) $ 70,720  $ 74,392  $ 57,456  $ 47,431  $ 27,626

(1) Net Insurance Service Revenues is a non-GAAP financial measure that we calculate as insurance service revenues less insurance costs. For more information about Net Insurance
Service Revenues and a reconciliation of Net Insurance Service Revenues to insurance service revenues, the most directly comparable financial measure calculated and presented in
accordance with GAAP, see “Non-GAAP Financial Measures.”

(2) Net Service Revenues is a non-GAAP financial measure that we calculate as the sum of professional service revenues and Net Insurance Service Revenues. For more information about
Net Service Revenues and a reconciliation of Net Service Revenues to total revenues, the most directly comparable financial measure calculated and presented in accordance with
GAAP, see “Non-GAAP Financial Measures.”

(3) Adjusted EBITDA is a non-GAAP financial measure that we calculate as net income, excluding the effects of our income tax provision, interest expense, depreciation, amortization of
intangible assets, stock-based compensation expense and, in 2014, certain costs related to a public offering of shares of our common stock. For more information about Adjusted
EBITDA and a reconciliation of Adjusted EBITDA to net income, the most directly comparable financial measure calculated and presented in accordance with GAAP, see “Non-GAAP
Financial Measures.”

(4) Adjusted Net Income is a non-GAAP financial measure that we calculate as net income, excluding the effects of our effective income tax rate, stock-based compensation, amortization
of intangible assets, non-cash interest expense, debt prepayment premium and the income tax effect (at our effective tax rate) of these pre-tax adjustments and, in 2014, certain costs
related to a public offering of our shares of common stock. For purposes of our non-GAAP financial presentation, as a result of a 2015 increase in New York City tax rates and an
increase in blended state rates, we have adjusted the effective tax rate to 41.5% for the year ended December 31, 2015, from 39.5% for year ended December 31, 2014. For more
information about Adjusted Net Income and a reconciliation of Adjusted Net Income to net income, the most directly comparable financial measure calculated and presented in
accordance with GAAP, see “Non-GAAP Financial Measures.”

 Year Ended December 31,

 2015  2014  2013  2012  2011

 (in thousands)
Consolidated Balance Sheet Data:          
Cash and cash equivalents $ 166,178  $ 134,341  $ 94,356  $ 63,749  $ 31,620

Working capital (1) $ 112,428  $ 121,290  $ 81,528  $ 61,340  $ 26,944

Total assets (1) $ 2,098,230  $ 2,340,580  $ 1,434,738  $ 887,727  $ 334,849

Notes payable and borrowings under capital leases $ 499,716  $ 545,150  $ 818,877  $ 301,334  $ 1,683

Total liabilities (1) $ 2,090,149  $ 2,366,339  $ 1,705,100  $ 830,407  $ 241,251

Convertible preferred stock $ —  $ —  $ 122,878  $ 122,878  $ 122,878

Total stockholders’ equity (deficit) $ 8,081  $ (25,759)  $ (393,240)  $ (65,558)  $ (29,280)

(1)    In November 2015, the FASB issued ASU 2015-17, Balance
Sheet
Classification
of
Deferred
Taxes
. We elected to early adopt and retrospectively apply the provisions of the amendment.
Historical amounts above are conformed to the current presentation. See note 11 for further details.

Non-GAAP Financial Measures

We use Net Insurance Service Revenues, Net Service Revenues, Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted Net Income to provide an additional view of our
operational performance. Net Insurance Service Revenues, Net Service Revenues, Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted Net Income are financial measures that are not
prepared in accordance with GAAP. We define Net Insurance Service Revenues as insurance service revenues less insurance costs, which include the premiums we
pay to insurance carriers for the health and workers compensation insurance coverage provided to our clients and WSEs and the reimbursements we pay to the
insurance carriers and third-party administrators for claim payments made on our behalf within our insurance deductible layer, where applicable. We define Net
Service Revenues as the sum of professional service revenues and Net Insurance Service Revenues. We define Adjusted EBITDA as net income, excluding the
effects of our income tax provision, interest expense, depreciation, amortization of intangible assets, stock-based compensation expense and, in 2014, certain costs
related to a public offering of our shares of common stock. We define Adjusted Net Income as net income, excluding the effects of our effective income tax rate,
stock-based compensation, amortization of intangible assets, non-cash interest expense, debt prepayment premium, the income tax effect (at our effective tax rate)
of these pre-tax adjustments and, in 2014, certain costs related to a public offering of our shares of common stock. For purposes of our non-GAAP financial
presentation, as a result of a 2015 increase in New York City tax rates and an increase in blended state rates, we have adjusted the effective tax rate to 41.5% for
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the year ended December 31, 2015 , from 39.5% for year ended December 31, 2014 . Each of these effective tax rates exclude income tax on non-deductible stock-
based compensation and discrete items including the cumulative effect of state legislative changes. Non-cash interest expense represents amortization and write-off
of our debt issuance costs.

We believe that the use of Net Insurance Service Revenues provides useful information as it presents a measure of revenues from our provision of insurance
services to our clients less the costs associated with such insurance. We believe that Net Service Revenues provides a useful measure of total revenues for the two
main components of our revenues calculated on a consistent basis. We believe that the use of Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted Net Income provides additional
period-to-period comparisons and analysis of trends in our business, as they exclude certain one-time and non-cash expenses. We believe that Net Insurance
Service Revenues, Net Service Revenues, Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted Net Income are useful for our stockholders and board of directors by helping them to
identify trends in our business and understand how our management evaluates our business. We use Net Insurance Service Revenues, Net Service Revenues,
Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted Net Income to monitor and evaluate our operating results and trends on an ongoing basis and internally for operating, budgeting
and financial planning purposes, in addition to allocating our resources to enhance the financial performance of our business and evaluating the effectiveness of our
business strategies. We also use Net Service Revenues and Adjusted EBITDA in determining the incentive compensation for management.

Net Insurance Service Revenues, Net Service Revenues, Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted Net Income are not prepared in accordance with, and should not
be considered in isolation of, or as an alternative to, measurements required by GAAP. In addition, these non-GAAP measures are not based on any comprehensive
set of accounting rules or principles. As non-GAAP measures, Net Insurance Service Revenues, Net Service Revenues, Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted Net
Income have limitations in that they do not reflect all of the amounts associated with our results of operations as determined in accordance with GAAP. In
particular:

• Net Insurance Service Revenues and Net Service Revenues are reduced by the premiums that we pay to the insurance carriers and any reimbursements we
pay to the insurance carriers and third-party administrators for claims payments made on our behalf within our insurance deductible layer, where applicable;

• Adjusted EBITDA does not reflect interest expense, or the cash requirements necessary to service interest or principal payments on our debt;

• Adjusted EBITDA does not reflect the amounts we paid in taxes or other components of our tax provision;

• Adjusted EBITDA does not reflect our cash expenditures or future requirements for capital expenditures or contractual commitments;

• Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted Net Income do not reflect changes in, or cash requirements for, our working capital needs;

• Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted Net Income do not reflect the non-cash component of employee compensation;

• Although depreciation and amortization of intangible assets are non-cash charges, the assets being depreciated and amortized often will have to be replaced
in the future, and Adjusted EBITDA does not reflect any cash requirements for such replacements; and

• Other companies in our industry may calculate these measures or similar measures differently than we do, limiting their usefulness as a comparative
measure.

Because of these limitations, you should consider Net Insurance Service Revenues, Net Service Revenues, Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted Net Income
alongside other financial performance measures, including total revenues, net income and our financial results presented in accordance with GAAP.

The table below sets forth a reconciliation of GAAP insurance service revenues to Net Insurance Service Revenues:

 Year Ended December 31,
 2015  2014  2013  2012  2011

 (in thousands)
Insurance service revenues $ 2,258,001  $ 1,851,457  $ 1,371,903  $ 870,828  $ 727,111

Less:  Insurance costs 2,112,376  1,686,315  1,226,585  750,025  651,094

Net Insurance Service Revenues $ 145,625  $ 165,142  $ 145,318  $ 120,803  $ 76,017
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The table below sets forth a reconciliation of GAAP total revenues to Net Service Revenues:

 Year Ended December 31,

 2015  2014  2013  2012  2011

 (in thousands)
Total revenues $ 2,659,288  $ 2,193,531  $ 1,644,275  $ 1,019,061  $ 840,390

Less:  Insurance costs 2,112,376  1,686,315  1,226,585  750,025  651,094

Net Service Revenues $ 546,912  $ 507,216  $ 417,690  $ 269,036  $ 189,296

The table below sets forth a reconciliation of GAAP net income to Adjusted EBITDA:

 Year Ended December 31,

 2015  2014  2013  2012  2011

 (in thousands)
Net income $ 31,695  $ 15,497  $ 13,147  $ 31,832  $ 14,762

Provision for income taxes 28,315  17,579  7,937  20,344  5,421

Stock-based compensation 17,923  10,960  6,113  4,360  4,825

Interest expense and bank fees 19,449  54,193  45,724  9,709  751

Depreciation 14,612  13,843  11,737  11,676  9,201

Amortization of intangible assets 39,346  52,302  51,369  17,441  12,388

Secondary offering costs —  945  —  —  —

Adjusted EBITDA $ 151,340  $ 165,319  $ 136,027  $ 95,362  $ 47,348

The table below sets forth a reconciliation of GAAP net income to Adjusted Net Income:

 Year Ended December 31,

 2015  2014  2013  2012  2011

 (in thousands)
Net income $ 31,695  $ 15,497  $ 13,147  $ 31,832  $ 14,762

Effective income tax rate adjustment 3,411  4,514  —  —  —

Stock-based compensation 17,923  10,960  6,113  4,360  4,825

Amortization of intangible assets 39,346  52,302  51,369  17,441  12,388

Non-cash interest expense 3,610  21,880  13,577  3,768  375

Debt prepayment premium —  3,800  —  —  —

Secondary Offering Costs —  945  —  —  —

Income tax impact of pre-tax adjustments (25,265)  (35,506)  (26,750)  (9,970)  (4,724)

Adjusted Net Income $ 70,720  $ 74,392  $ 57,456  $ 47,431  $ 27,626
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Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

You
should
read
the
following
discussion
of
our
financial
condition
and
results
of
operations
in
conjunction
with
our
consolidated
financial
statements
and
the
related
notes
included
elsewhere
in
this
report.
This
discussion
contains
forward-looking
statements
that
involve
risks
and
uncertainties.
When
reviewing
the
discussion
below,
you
should
keep
in
mind
the
substantial
risks
and
uncertainties
that
characterize
our
business.
In
particular,
we
encourage
you
to
review
the
risks
and
uncertainties
described
in
the
section
titled
“Risk
Factors”
included
under
Part
I,
Item
1A
above.
These
risks
and
uncertainties
could
cause
actual
results
to
differ
materially
from
those
projected
in
forward-looking
statements
contained
in
this
report
or
implied
by
past
results
or
trends.

Overview

TriNet is a leading provider of comprehensive HR solutions for small to midsize businesses under a co-employment model. Our HR solutions are designed
to manage an increasingly complex set of HR regulations, costs, risks, and responsibilities for our clients, allowing them to focus on operating and growing their
core businesses. Our bundled HR solutions include multi-state payroll processing and tax administration, employee benefits programs (including health insurance
and retirement plans), workers compensation insurance and claims management, federal, state and local labor, employment and benefit law compliance, risk
mitigation, expense and time management, and other human capital consulting services. Our proprietary, cloud-based HR software systems are used by our clients
and their WSEs to efficiently store and manage their core HR-related information and conduct a variety of HR-related transactions anytime and anywhere. In
addition, our expert teams of in-house HR professionals also provide additional services upon request to support various stages of our clients’ growth, including
talent management, recruiting and training, performance management consulting or other consulting services (with an incremental charge for such services).

As of December 31, 2015, we served over 12,700 clients in all 50 states, the District of Columbia and Canada, co-employed more than 324,000 WSEs, and
had processed over $31 billion in payroll and payroll tax payments for our clients in 2015. Our clients are distributed across a variety of industries, including
technology, life sciences, not-for-profit, professional services, financial services, property management, retail, manufacturing, and hospitality. Our sales and
marketing, client services and product development teams are increasingly focused on specific industry verticals. This verticalized approach gives us a deeper
understanding of the HR needs facing SMBs in particular industries, which better enables us to provide HR solutions and services tailored to the specific needs of
clients in these verticals. We conduct our business primarily in the United States, with more than 99% of our total revenues for each of 2015, 2014 and 2013 being
attributable to WSEs in the U.S. and the remainder being attributable to WSEs in Canada.

For 2015 , 2014 and 2013 , our total revenues were $2.7 billion , $2.2 billion , and $1.6 billion respectively. Our total revenues consist of professional
service revenues and insurance service revenues. For 2015 and 2014, 15% and 16% of our total revenues, respectively, consisted of professional service revenues,
and 85% and 84% of our total revenues, respectively, consisted of insurance service revenues. We recognize as professional service revenues the fees we earn for
providing our clients with a comprehensive suite of HR professional services, but do not include amounts paid to us by clients as payroll that are paid out to WSEs
or amounts withheld and remitted to authorities as taxes. We recognize as insurance service revenues all insurance-related billings and administrative fees collected
from clients and withheld from WSEs. We pay premiums to third-party insurance carriers for client and WSE insurance benefits and reimburse the insurance
carriers and third-party administrators for claims payments made on our behalf within our insurance deductible layer, where applicable. These premiums and
reimbursements are classified as insurance costs on our statements of operations.

We sell our services primarily through our direct sales organization, which consists of sales representatives who focus on serving clients in specific industry
vertical markets. For 2015 , 2014 and 2013 , our sales and marketing expenses were $166.8 million , $140.0 million and $109.2 million , respectively, or 6% , 6%
and 7% of our total revenues and 30% , 28% and 26% of our Net Service Revenues, respectively.

We have made significant investments in our proprietary, cloud-based HR systems, including implementing client information and management software to
provide our clients with enhanced features and functionality. For 2015 , 2014 and 2013 , our systems development and programming costs were $27.6 million ,
$26.1 million and $19.9 million , or 1% , 1% and 1% of our total revenues and 5% , 5% and 5% of our Net Service Revenues, respectively. We plan to continue to
invest to upgrade and improve our technology offerings, including enhancements of our solutions to address specific needs of clients in our key vertical markets, as
we believe the continued improvement of our technology provides TriNet with the ability to drive operating efficiencies while improving our clients’ experience.
We will leverage our existing online technology offerings to build additional products and features, including a full-service mobile platform, standard APIs for
selected third party offerings,
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improved client experience for key processes, and retirement of legacy software systems from acquisitions and migration of clients to the primary TriNet software
system.

Strategic Acquisitions

Historically, we have pursued strategic acquisitions to both expand our product capabilities and supplement our growth across geographies and certain
industry verticals. Our acquisition targets have included other bundled HR providers as well as technology companies or technology product offerings to
supplement or enhance our existing HR solutions. We intend to continue to pursue strategic acquisitions that will enable us to add new clients and WSEs, expand
our presence in certain geographies or industry verticals and offer our clients and WSEs more comprehensive and attractive products and services.

Key Financial and Operating Metrics

We regularly review certain key financial and operating metrics to evaluate growth trends, measure our performance and make strategic decisions. These
key financial and operating metrics may change over time. Our key financial and operating metrics at December 31, 2015 , 2014 and 2013 , were as follows:

 Year Ended December 31,

Key Financial and Operating Metrics: 2015  2014  2013

Net Insurance Service Revenues (in thousands) $ 145,625  $ 165,142  $ 145,318
Net Service Revenues (in thousands) $ 546,912  $ 507,216  $ 417,690
Total WSEs 324,399  288,312  231,203
Total Sales Representatives 481  385  300

Net
Insurance
Service
Revenues
and
Net
Service
Revenues

We define Net Insurance Service Revenues as insurance service revenues less insurance costs. We define Net Service Revenues as the sum of professional
service revenues and Net Insurance Service Revenues. Our total revenues on a GAAP basis represent the total amount invoiced by us to our clients, net of direct
pass-through costs such as payroll and payroll tax payments, for the services we provide to our clients. Our insurance costs include the premiums we pay to third-
party insurance carriers for the insurance coverage provided to our clients and WSEs and the reimbursements we pay to the insurance carriers and third-party
administrators for claims payments made on our behalf within our insurance deductible layer, where applicable. We act principally as the service provider to add
value in the execution and procurement of these services to our clients. Historically, Net Insurance Service Revenues has served as the primary indicator of our
ability to source, add value and offer benefit services to our clients and WSEs through third-party insurance carriers, and has been considered by management to be
a key performance measure. Historically, Net Service Revenues has also served as a key performance measure as it provides a useful measure of total revenues for
the two main components of our revenues calculated on a consistent basis. In addition, management believes measuring operating costs as a function of Net
Service Revenues has historically provided a useful metric, as we believe it has enabled evaluation of the performance of our business.

Total
WSEs

We define Total WSEs at the end of a given fiscal period as the total number of WSEs paid in the last calendar month of the fiscal period. Historically,
comparing our Total WSEs at the end of a fiscal period to that of prior periods has served as an indicator of our success in growing our business, both organically
and through the integration of acquired businesses, and retaining clients. Our Total WSEs paid in the last calendar month of the fiscal period has also historically
been a leading indicator of our anticipated revenues for future fiscal periods.

Total
Sales
Representatives

Our direct sales force consists of sales representatives who focus on serving clients in specific industry vertical markets. We define Total Sales
Representatives at the end of a given fiscal period as the total number of our direct sales force employees at that date. Historically, comparing our Total Sales
Representatives at the end of a fiscal period to our Total Sales Representatives at the end of a prior fiscal period has served as an indicator of our success in
growing our business. Our Total Sales Representatives at the end of recent fiscal periods has also historically been a key indicator of our ability to increase our
revenues in the following fiscal periods.
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Impact of Health Care Reform

The Affordable Care Act, or the Act, entails sweeping health care reforms with staggered effective dates from 2010 through 2020, and many provisions of
the Act require the issuance of additional guidance from the U.S. Departments of Labor and Health and Human Services, the IRS and the states. A number of key
provisions of the Act have begun to take effect over the past three years, including the establishment of state and federal insurance exchanges, insurance market
reforms, “play or pay” penalties on applicable large employers and the imposition and assessment of excise taxes on the health insurance industry and reinsurance
taxes on insurers and third-party administrators. Collectively, these items have the potential to significantly change the insurance marketplace for employers and
how employers offer or provide insurance to employees.  We are not yet able to determine the full impact to our business, and to our clients, resulting from the
Act.  In future periods, the Act may result in increased costs to us and our clients and could affect our ability to attract and retain clients.  Additionally, we may be
limited or delayed in our ability to increase service fees to offset any associated potential increased costs resulting from compliance with the Act.  Furthermore, the
uncertainty surrounding the terms and application of the Act may delay or inhibit the decisions of potential clients to outsource their HR needs.  As a result, these
changes could have a negative impact on our operating results.

Seasonality and Insurance Variability

Our business is affected by cyclicality in business activity and WSE behavior. Historically, we have experienced our highest monthly addition of WSEs, as
well as our highest monthly levels of client attrition, in the month of January, primarily because clients that change their payroll service providers tend to do so at
the beginning of a calendar year. We also experience higher levels of client attrition in connection with renewals of the health insurance we sponsor for our WSEs,
in the event that such renewals result in higher costs to our clients. We have also historically experienced higher insurance claim volumes in the second and third
quarters of a fiscal year than in the first and fourth quarters of a fiscal year, as WSEs typically access their health care providers more often in the second and third
quarters of a fiscal year, which has negatively impacted our insurance costs in these quarters. We have also experienced variability on a quarterly basis in the
amount of our health and workers compensation insurance costs due to the number and severity of insurance claims being unpredictable. These historical trends
may change, and other seasonal trends and variability may develop, which would make it more difficult for us to manage our business.

Basis of Presentation and Key Components of Our Results of Operations

Total
Revenues

Our total revenues consist of professional service revenues and insurance service revenues. For 2015 and 2014, 15% and 16% of our total revenues,
respectively, consisted of professional service revenues, and 85% and 84% of our total revenues, respectively, consisted of insurance service revenues.

We recognize as professional service revenues the fees we earn for providing our clients with a comprehensive suite of HR professional services, but do not
include amounts paid to us by clients as payroll that are paid out to WSEs or amounts withheld and remitted to authorities as taxes. Our clients generally pay us
these fees based on either a fixed fee per WSE per month or per transaction, or a percentage of the WSE’s payroll cost, pursuant to written services agreements that
are generally cancelable by us or our clients upon 30 days’ prior written notice.

We recognize as insurance service revenues all insurance-related billings and administrative fees collected from clients and withheld from WSEs. We pay
premiums to third-party insurance carriers for client and WSE insurance benefits and reimburse the insurance carriers and third-party administrators for claims
payments made on our behalf within our insurance deductible layer, where applicable, as further described below in “Insurance Costs”. These premiums and
reimbursements are classified as insurance costs on our statements of operations.

Insurance
Costs

Insurance costs include the premiums we pay to third-party insurance carriers for insurance coverage provided to clients and WSEs and the reimbursements
we pay to the insurance carriers and third-party administrators for claims payments made on our behalf within the insurance deductible layer for those plans that
have such a deductible.

Our insurance costs are, in part, a function of the type and terms of agreements that we enter into with the third-party insurance carriers that provide TriNet-
sponsored insurance plans for our clients and WSEs. Approximately 38% of our 2015
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health insurance premiums were for fully-insured policies with respect to which our carriers set the premiums and for which we were not responsible for any
deductible, which are referred to as ‘guaranteed cost’ policies. Our future premiums under these guaranteed cost policies will be influenced by the WSE claims
activity in prior periods and rate increases by our insurance carriers. The remaining 62% of our 2015 group health insurance premiums, and all of our workers
compensation insurance premiums, were for fully-insured policies with respect to which we agree to reimburse our carriers for any claims paid within our agreed-
upon deductible layer. Under these policies, WSEs file claims with the carriers, which are responsible for paying the claims up to the maximum coverage under the
policies. The carriers and third-party administrators then seek reimbursement from us for payments of claims made on our behalf up to our deductible per incident
for workers compensation claims, or up to limits to our exposure for individual claims and limits to our maximum aggregate exposure for claims in a given policy
year in accordance with the terms of the underlying health insurance policies. In no event are we liable to pay claims directly to WSEs. As we evaluate the claims
experience for each fiscal period, we adjust, as we deem necessary, our workers compensation and health benefits reserves, and this in turn has a corresponding
impact on our insurance costs. As a result, our insurance costs fluctuate from period to period depending on the number and severity of the claims incurred by our
WSEs in that period and prior periods. We expect our insurance costs to continue to increase in absolute dollars on an annual basis for the foreseeable future due to
expected growth in WSEs, which will likely mean an increase in the absolute number of claims, and an increase in the cost of claims due to inflation or other
factors.

Cost
of
Providing
Services

Cost of providing services consists primarily of costs incurred by us associated with direct client support, such as payroll and benefits processing,
professional HR consultants, employee liability insurance and costs associated with assisting clients in managing, processing and responding to employment-
related legal claims, benefits and risk management, postage and shipping expenses and consulting expenses. We expect our cost of providing services to continue
to increase in absolute dollars on an annual basis for the foreseeable future due to expected growth in WSEs, although as we improve our systems and processes,
we expect to gain efficiencies and we expect our cost of providing services as a percentage of total revenues to decline. In addition, our costs of providing services
may fluctuate as a percentage of our total revenues from period to period depending on the timing of those expenses.

Sales
and
Marketing
Expenses

Sales and marketing expenses consist primarily of salaries, commissions and related variable compensation expenses, commission payments to partners and
the cost of marketing programs. Marketing programs consist of advertising, lead generation, marketing events, corporate communications, brand building and
product marketing activities, as well as various incentivized partnership and referral programs. We expect our sales and marketing expenses to increase in absolute
dollars at a slower rate than in the past three years as we reduce our rate of growth in our direct sales force offset by increased investments to improve our sales
productivity. In addition, our sales and marketing expenses may fluctuate as a percentage of our total revenues from period to period depending on the timing of
those expenses.

General
and
Administrative
Expenses

General and administrative expenses consist primarily of compensation-related expenses, legal, accounting and other professional services fees and other
general corporate expenses. We expect our general and administrative expenses to continue to increase in absolute dollars for the foreseeable future due to
increases in our legal and financial compliance costs in connection with being a newly public company. As we improve our systems, processes and internal
controls we expect to gain efficiencies and expect our general and administrative costs as a percentage of total revenues to decline. In addition, these expenses may
fluctuate as a percentage of our total revenues from period to period depending on the timing of those expenses.

Systems
Development
and
Programming
Costs

Systems development and programming costs consist primarily of compensation-related expenses for our employees and contractors dedicated to systems
development and programming, as well as fees that we pay to third-party consulting firms. We expect our systems development and programming costs to continue
to increase in absolute dollars for the foreseeable future as we continue to invest in and improve our technology platform. Over time, we expect our systems
development and programming costs to remain relatively consistent as a percentage of our total revenues on an annual basis. In addition, our systems development
and programming costs may fluctuate as a percentage of our total revenues from period to period depending on when we incur those costs.
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Amortization
of
Intangible
Assets

Amortization of intangible assets represents costs associated with an acquired company’s developed technologies, client lists, trade names and contractual
agreements. We amortize these intangibles over their respective estimated useful lives using either the straight-line method or the accelerated method.

Depreciation

Depreciation consists primarily of amortization of the cost of software and furniture, fixtures and equipment.

Other
Income
(Expense)

Other income (expense) consists primarily of interest expense under our credit facility and capital leases, debt issuance cost amortization, and a prepayment
premium.

Provision
for
Income
Taxes

We are subject to taxation in the United States and Canada. We conduct our business primarily in the United States, and almost all of our clients are U.S.
employers with a small percentage of Canadian employers. We also provide services with respect to certain of our U.S. clients’ employees in Canada. The
percentage of our total revenues attributable to WSEs in Canada was less than 1% for each of 2015 and 2014 . Our effective tax rate differs from the statutory rate
primarily due to state taxes, tax credits, non-deductible charges, changes in uncertain tax positions, and other discrete items. We make estimates and judgments
about our future taxable income based on assumptions that are consistent with our plans and estimates. Should the actual amounts differ from our estimates, the
amount of our valuation allowance could be materially affected.

Income taxes are computed using the asset and liability method, under which deferred tax assets and liabilities are determined based on the difference
between the financial statement and tax bases of assets and liabilities using enacted tax rates in effect for the year in which the differences are expected to affect
taxable income. Valuation allowances are established when necessary to reduce deferred tax assets to the amount expected to be realized. Changes in valuation
allowances are reflected as a component of provision for income taxes.
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Results of Operations

The following tables set forth our results of operations for the periods presented and as a percentage of our total revenues and Net Service Revenues for
those periods. Period-to-period comparisons of our financial results are not necessarily indicative of financial results to be achieved in future periods. 

 Year Ended December 31,

 2015  2014  2013
 (in thousands)
Consolidated Statement of Operations:      
Professional service revenues $ 401,287  $ 342,074  $ 272,372
Insurance service revenues 2,258,001  1,851,457  1,371,903
Total revenues 2,659,288  2,193,531  1,644,275
Costs and operating expenses:      

Insurance costs 2,112,376  1,686,315  1,226,585
Cost of providing services (exclusive of depreciation and 

   amortization of intangible assets) (1) 150,694  134,256  106,661
Sales and marketing (1) 166,759  139,997  109,183
General and administrative (1) 69,626  53,926  52,455
Systems development and programming costs (1) 27,558  26,101  19,948
Amortization of intangible assets 39,346  52,302  51,369
Depreciation 14,612  13,843  11,737

Total costs and operating expenses 2,580,971  2,106,740  1,577,938
Operating income 78,317  86,791  66,337
Other income (expense):      

Interest expense and bank fees (19,449)  (54,193)  (45,724)
Other, net 1,142  478  471

Income before provision for income taxes 60,010  33,076  21,084
Provision for income taxes 28,315  17,579  7,937
Net income $ 31,695  $ 15,497  $ 13,147

(1) Includes stock-based compensation expense as follows:

 Year Ended December 31,
 2015  2014  2013
 (in thousands)
Cost of providing services $ 4,244  $ 2,658  $ 1,193
Sales and marketing 4,490  2,755  1,284
General and administrative 7,501  4,517  3,220
Systems development and programming costs 1,688  1,030  416
Total stock-based compensation expense $ 17,923  $ 10,960  $ 6,113
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 Year Ended December 31,

 2015  2014  2013
Percentage of total revenues:      
Professional service revenues 15 %  16 %  17 %

Insurance service revenues 85 %  84 %  83 %

Total revenues 100 %  100 %  100 %

Costs and operating expenses:      
Insurance costs 79 %  77 %  75 %

Cost of providing services (exclusive of depreciation and amortization of intangible assets) 6 %  6 %  6 %

Sales and marketing 6 %  6 %  7 %

General and administrative 3 %  2 %  3 %

Systems development and programming costs 1 %  1 %  1 %

Amortization of intangible assets 1 %  2 %  3 %

Depreciation 1 %  1 %  1 %

Total costs and operating expenses 97 %  96 %  96 %

Operating income 3 %  4 %  4 %

Other income (expense):      
Interest expense and bank fees (1)%  (2)%  (3)%

Other, net 0 %  0 %  0 %

Income before provision for income taxes 2 %  2 %  1 %

Provision for income taxes 1 %  1 %  0 %

Net income 1 %  1 %  1 %

 

 Year Ended December 31,

 2015  2014  2013
Percentage of Net Service Revenues:      
Professional service revenues 73 %  67 %  65 %

Net Insurance Service Revenues 27 %  33 %  35 %

Net Service Revenues 100 %  100 %  100 %

Other operating expenses:      
Cost of providing services (exclusive of depreciation and amortization of intangible

assets) 28 %  26 %  26 %

Sales and marketing 30 %  28 %  26 %

General and administrative 13 %  11 %  13 %

Systems development and programming costs 5 %  5 %  5 %

Amortization of intangible assets 7 %  10 %  12 %

Depreciation 3 %  3 %  3 %

Total other operating expenses 86 %  83 %  84 %

Operating income 14 %  17 %  16 %

Other income (expense):      
Interest expense and bank fees (4)%  (11)%  (11)%

Other, net 0 %  0 %  0 %

Income before provision for income taxes 11 %  7 %  5 %

Provision for income taxes 5 %  3 %  2 %

Net income 6 %  3 %  3 %
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Years
Ended
December
31,
2015
, 2014
and
2013

Total
Revenues
and
Key
Operating
Metrics

 
Year Ended 
December 31,  

Change 
2015 vs. 2014  

Change 
2014 vs. 2013

 2015  2014  2013  $  %  $  %
 (in thousands, except percentages)
Professional service revenues $ 401,287  $ 342,074  $ 272,372  $ 59,213  17%  $ 69,702  26%
Insurance service revenues 2,258,001  1,851,457  1,371,903  406,544  22%  479,554  35%
Total revenues $ 2,659,288  $ 2,193,531  $ 1,644,275  $ 465,757  21%  $ 549,256  33%

              

 
Year Ended 
December 31,  

Change 
2015 vs. 2014  

Change 
2014 vs. 2013

 2015  2014  2013  $  %  $  %

 (in thousands, except percentages)

Key operating metrics:              
Total WSEs 324,399  288,312  231,203  36,087  13%  57,109  25%
Total Sales Representatives 481  385  300  96  25%  85  28%

 

Total revenues for 2015 increased by $465.8 million , or 21% , compared to 2014 . Professional service revenues and insurance service revenues represented
15% and 85% , respectively, of total revenues for 2015, compared to 16% and 84% , respectively, of total revenues for 2014 . 

Professional service revenues increased by $59.2 million , or 17% , compared to 2014 . The increase was mainly attributable to our increase in Total WSEs
and an increase in WSEs from verticals with higher average revenue per WSE.

Insurance service revenues for 2015 increased by $406.5 million , or 22% , compared to 2014 . The increase was primarily due to our increase in Total
WSEs and an increase of 5% in average insurance service revenues per WSE.

Total WSEs at December 31, 2015 increased by approximately 36,000 , or 13% , compared to Total WSEs at December 31, 2014 , which was primarily
driven by a net increase in total clients. Our Total Sales Representatives increased from 385 at December 31, 2014 to 481 at December 31, 2015 , primarily due to
our efforts to grow our sales force.

Total revenues for 2014 increased by $549.3 million , or 33% , compared to 2013 . Professional service revenues and insurance service revenues represented
16% and 84% , respectively, of total revenues for 2014 , compared to 17% and 83% , respectively, of total revenues for 2013 .  The increase in total revenues was
attributable to the significant growth of our Total WSEs and revenues from our acquisition of Ambrose Employer Group, LLC, or Ambrose, in the third quarter of
2013, as further described below.

Professional service revenues for 2014 increased $69.7 million , or 26% , compared to 2013 . The increase was mainly attributable to our increase in Total
WSEs and our acquisition of Ambrose in third quarter of 2013 , which contributed $15.4 million of professional service revenues during the first half of 2014 .

Insurance service revenues for 2014 increased by $479.6 million , or 35% , compared to 2013 . The increase was primarily due to our increase in Total
WSEs. Additionally, our acquisition of Ambrose contributed $130.4 million of insurance service revenues during the first half of 2014.

Total WSEs at December 31, 2014 increased by approximately 57,000 , or 25% , compared to Total WSEs at December 31, 2013 . Our Total Sales
Representatives increased from 300 at December 31, 2013 to 385 at December 31, 2014 .
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Insurance
Costs
 

 
Year Ended 
December 31,  

Change 
2015 vs. 2014  

Change 
2014 vs. 2013

 2015  2014  2013  $  %  $  %
 (in thousands, except percentages)
Insurance costs $ 2,112,376  $ 1,686,315  $ 1,226,585  $ 426,061  25%  $ 459,730  37%
 

Insurance costs for 2015 increased $426.1 million , or 25% , compared to 2014 . The increase resulted from an increase in Total WSEs, the volume and
severity of medical claims being unexpectedly higher than our WSE growth, experience and available information would have suggested and, to a lesser extent,
increased workers compensation costs per WSE.

Insurance costs for 2014 increased $459.7 million , or 37% compared to 2013 , $118.6 million of which was due to our acquisition of Ambrose. The
remaining increase resulted from an increase in Total WSEs other than those acquired from Ambrose and a 3% increase in average insurance costs per WSE other
than those acquired from Ambrose.

Net
Insurance
Service
Revenues
and
Net
Service
Revenues
 

 
Year Ended 
December 31,  

Change 
2015 vs. 2014  

Change 
2014 vs. 2013

 2015  2014  2013  $  %  $  %
 (in thousands, except percentages)
Insurance service revenues $ 2,258,001  $ 1,851,457  $ 1,371,903  $ 406,544  22 %  $ 479,554  35%

Less:  Insurance costs 2,112,376  1,686,315  1,226,585  426,061  25 %  459,730  37%

Net Insurance Service Revenues $ 145,625  $ 165,142  $ 145,318  $ (19,517)  (12)%  $ 19,824  14%

 

 
Year Ended 
December 31,  

Change 
2015 vs. 2014  

Change 
2014 vs. 2013

 2015  2014  2013  $  %  $  %
 (in thousands, except percentages)
Total revenues $ 2,659,288  $ 2,193,531  $ 1,644,275  $ 465,757  21%  $ 549,256  33%

Less:  Insurance costs 2,112,376  1,686,315  1,226,585  426,061  25%  459,730  37%

Net Service Revenues $ 546,912  $ 507,216  $ 417,690  $ 39,696  8%  $ 89,526  21%

 

Our Net Insurance Service Revenues for 2015 decreased by $19.5 million , or 12% , as compared to 2014 . This decrease resulted from an increase in
insurance costs due to the number and size of medical claims being unexpectedly higher than our growth in insurance revenues and unexpectedly higher than our
WSE growth, experience and available information would have suggested, and, to a lesser extent, increased workers compensation costs per WSE, offset in part by
the increases in our insurance service revenues.

For the reasons set forth above with respect to the increase in our total revenues, offset in part by the increase in our insurance costs, our Net Service
Revenues for 2015 increased by $39.7 million , or 8% , as compared to 2014 .

Also for the reasons set forth above with respect to total revenues, our Net Insurance Service Revenues for 2014 increased by $19.8 million , or 14% , as
compared to 2013 , and our Net Service Revenues for 2014 increased by $89.5 million , or 21% , as compared to 2013 .
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Other
Operating
Expenses
 

 
Year Ended 
December 31,  

Change 
2015 vs. 2014  

Change 
2014 vs. 2013

 2015  2014  2013  $  %  $  %
 (in thousands, except percentages)
Cost of providing services $ 150,694  $ 134,256  $ 106,661  $ 16,438  12 %  $ 27,595  26%
Sales and marketing 166,759  139,997  109,183  26,762  19 %  30,814  28%
General and administrative 69,626  53,926  52,455  15,700  29 %  1,471  3%
Systems development and
programming costs 27,558  26,101  19,948  1,457  6 %  6,153  31%
Amortization of intangible assets 39,346  52,302  51,369  (12,956)  (25)%  933  2%
Depreciation 14,612  13,843  11,737  769  6 %  2,106  18%

Total operating expenses $ 468,595  $ 420,425  $ 351,353  $ 48,170  11 %  $ 69,072  20%

Cost
of
Providing
Services



 
Year Ended 
December 31,  

Change 
2015 vs. 2014  

Change 
2014 vs. 2013

 2015  2014  2013  $  %  $  %

 (in thousands, except percentages)
Compensation-related costs $ 110,658  $ 97,423  $ 75,941  $ 13,235  14%  $ 21,482  28%
Facilities 7,585  7,149  5,615  436  6%  1,534  27%
Information technology and 
   communication 9,693  8,948  8,482  745  8%  466  5%
Other expenses 22,758  20,736  16,623  2,022  10%  4,113  25%

Total cost of providing services $ 150,694  $ 134,256  $ 106,661  $ 16,438  12%  $ 27,595  26%

Cost of providing services for 2015 increased by $16.4 million , or 12% , compared to 2014 . The increase was primarily attributable to a $13.2 million
increase in compensation-related costs due to increased headcount to support our growth, which includes a $1.6 million increase in stock-based compensation
expense. Other expenses increased $2.0 million , or 10% , mainly in consulting costs incurred to enhance our product offering. Cost of providing services
represented 6% of total revenues in each of the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014 . Cost of providing services increased to 28% of Net Service Revenues in
2015 from 26% in 2014 .

Cost of providing services for 2014 increased by $27.6 million , or 26% , compared to 2013 , primarily due to an increase in compensation-related costs.
Compensation-related costs increased by $21.5 million , or 28% , due to increased headcount, including $4.0 million from our acquisition of Ambrose and a $1.5
million increase in stock-based compensation not related to Ambrose. Facilities-related costs increased by $1.5 million , or 27% , due to the growth of our business.
Other expenses increased $4.1 million , or 25% , mainly due to increased consulting costs incurred to enhance our product offering. Cost of providing services as a
percentage of total revenues and Net Service Revenues remained unchanged at 6% of total revenues and 26% of Net Service Revenues for the years ended
December 31, 2014 and 2013 .
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Sales
and
Marketing
 

 
Year Ended 
December 31,  

Change 
2015 vs. 2014  

Change 
2014 vs. 2013

 2015  2014  2013  $  %  $  %

 (in thousands, except percentages)
Compensation-related costs $ 113,718  $ 96,903  $ 73,901  $ 16,815  17%  $ 23,002  31%
Marketing and advertising 22,097  19,667  15,863  2,430  12%  3,804  24%
Facilities 4,511  3,832  3,155  679  18%  677  21%
Other expenses 26,433  19,595  16,264  6,838  35%  3,331  20%

Total sales and marketing $ 166,759  $ 139,997  $ 109,183  $ 26,762  19%  $ 30,814  28%
 

Sales and marketing expenses for 2015 increased by $26.8 million , or 19% , compared to 2014 . Of this increase, $16.8 million was due to compensation-
related costs from our growth in direct sales channels, primarily the addition of new sales representatives, which includes a $1.7 million increase in stock-based
compensation expense. Marketing and advertising expenses increased $2.4 million , or 12% , primarily as a result of our effort to focus on market verticals and
penetration. In order to support the growth in sales force, other expenses including travel expenses, meetings, recruiting, training and consulting increased $6.8
million for 2015 , or 35% compared to 2014 . Sales and marketing represented 6% of total revenues in each of the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014 . As a
percentage of Net Service Revenues, sales and marketing expenses increased to 30% in 2015 from 28% in 2014 as a result of lower Net Service Revenues.

Sales and marketing expenses for 2014 increased by $30.8 million , or 28% , compared to 2013 . Of this increase, $23.0 million was due to compensation-
related costs, including $2.9 million from our acquisition of Ambrose and $18.3 million from our growth in direct sales channels, primarily the addition of new
sales representatives, as well as a $1.5 million increase in stock based compensation. Marketing and advertising expenses increased $3.8 million , or 24% ,
primarily due to our acquisition of Ambrose and as a result of our effort to focus on market verticals and penetration.  Other expenses increased $3.3 million , or
20% , primarily due to increased sales travel, meeting and conference activities, as well as other expenses associated with recruiting efforts and information
technology.  Sales and marketing expenses as a percentage of total revenues decreased to 6% for the year ended December 31, 2014 compared to 7% for the year
ended December 31, 2013 .  As a percentage of Net Service Revenues, sales and marketing expenses increased to 28% for the year ended December 31, 2014
compared to 26% for the year ended December 31, 2013 .

General
and
Administrative


 

 
Year Ended 
December 31,  

Change 
2015 vs. 2014  

Change 
2014 vs. 2013

 2015  2014  2013  $  %  $  %

 (in thousands, except percentages)
Compensation-related costs $ 36,694  $ 32,697  $ 31,934  $ 3,997  12%  $ 763  2%
Legal, accounting and other
professional fees 16,798  6,969  6,910  9,829  141%  59  1%
Other expenses 16,134  14,260  13,611  1,874  13%  649  5%

Total general and administrative $ 69,626  $ 53,926  $ 52,455  $ 15,700  29%  $ 1,471  3%

General and administrative expenses for 2015 increased by $15.7 million , or 29% , compared to 2014 .  Compensation-related costs increased $4.0 million
compared to 2014 primarily due to a $3.0 million increase in stock-based compensation expenses. Legal, accounting and other professional fees increased $9.8
million primarily due to costs associated with the implementation of Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, which amounted to $5.7 million for 2015 .  General
and administrative expenses increased to 3% as a percentage of total revenues in 2015 from 2% in 2014 . As a percentage of Net Service Revenues, general and
administrative expenses increased to 13% for 2015 from 11% in 2014 as a result of lower Net Service Revenues.
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General and administrative expenses for 2014 , increased by $1.5 million , or 3% , compared to 2013 . Of these expenses, compensation-related costs
increased $0.8 million compared to 2013 . General and administrative expenses decreased to 2% of total revenues, or 11% of Net Service Revenues, for the year
ended December 31, 2014 , from 3% of total revenues, or 13% of Net Service Revenues, in the same period of the prior year as a result of efficiencies realized
subsequent to our acquisitions.

Systems
Development
and
Programming
  

 
Year Ended 
December 31,  

Change 
2015 vs. 2014  

Change 
2014 vs. 2013

 2015  2014  2013  $  %  $  %

 (in thousands, except percentages)
Compensation-related costs $ 18,826  $ 20,766  $ 15,493  $ (1,940)  (9)%  $ 5,273  34%
Other expenses 8,732  5,335  4,455  3,397  64 %  880  20%

Total systems development and 
   programming costs $ 27,558  $ 26,101  $ 19,948  $ 1,457  6 %  $ 6,153  31%

Our systems development and programming costs for 2015 increased by $1.5 million , or 6% , compared to 2014 . The increase was primarily due to an
increase in consulting expenses to support and enhance our technology product delivery, offset by decreased compensation-related costs. Despite the increase,
systems development and programming costs represented 1% of total revenues in each of the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014 . As a percentage of Net
Service Revenues, systems development and programming costs represented 5% in each of the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014 .

Systems development and programming costs for 2014 increased by $6.2 million , or 31% , compared to 2013 . The increase was mainly due to an increase
in compensation-related costs resulting from the increase in headcount to support and enhance our technology product delivery. Despite these increases, systems
development and programming costs remained unchanged at 1% of total revenues, or 5% of Net Service Revenues, for the years ended December 31, 2014 and
2013 .

Amortization
of
Intangible
Assets
and
Depreciation

 

 
Year Ended 
December 31,  

Change 
2015 vs. 2014  

Change 
2014 vs. 2013

 2015  2014  2013  $  %  $  %

 (in thousands, except percentages)

Amortization of intangible assets $ 39,346  $ 52,302  $ 51,369  $ (12,956)  (25)%  $ 933  2%
Depreciation $ 14,612  $ 13,843  $ 11,737  $ 769  6 %  $ 2,106  18%
 

In 2015 , amortization of intangible assets decreased by $13.0 million , or 25% , as a result of the expiration of useful lives of certain client lists and
trademarks related to our previous acquisitions. Depreciation expense was relatively flat compared to 2014 .

In 2014 , amortization of intangible assets expense increased by $0.9 million , or 2% , primarily attributable to our acquisition of Ambrose in the third
quarter of 2013, offset by expiration of useful lives of certain client lists and non-compete agreements related to our previous acquisitions. Depreciation expense
increased by $2.1 million , or 18% , compared to 2013, primarily attributable to depreciation from our acquisition of Ambrose.

We accelerated depreciation expenses of $0.4 million , $0.9 million , and $0.8 million in the years ended December 31, 2015 , 2014 , and 2013 ,
respectively, due to significant changes in the extent and manner in which certain assets were expected to be used.
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Other
Income
(Expense)

 

 
Year Ended 
December 31,  

Change 
2015 vs. 2014  

Change 
2014 vs. 2013

 2015  2014  2013  $  %  $  %

 (in thousands, except percentages)

Interest expense and bank fees $ (19,449)  $ (54,193)  $ (45,724)  $ 34,744  (64)%  $ (8,469)  19%
Other, net $ 1,142  $ 478  $ 471  $ 664  139 %  $ 7  1%

Other income (expense) was primarily the result of interest expense under our credit facilities. In March 2014, we repaid $216.6 million of these facilities
from the proceeds of our initial public offering, or IPO, which led to lower interest expense in the year ended December 31, 2015 as a result of the lower debt level
compared to the same period of the prior year. For the year ended December 31, 2015 interest expense decreased by $12.6 million and amortization of deferred
issuance costs decreased by $6.2 million. Additionally, the year ended December 31, 2014 included $12.1 million in deferred issuance cost write-offs and a $3.8
million debt prepayment premium.

Provision
for
Income
Taxes
   

 
Year Ended 
December 31,  

Change 
2015 vs. 2014  

Change 
2014 vs. 2013

 2015  2014  2013  $  %  $  %

 (in thousands, except percentages)

Provision for income taxes $ 28,315  $ 17,579  $ 7,937  $ 10,736  61%  $ 9,642  121%
Effective Income Tax Rate 47.2%  53.2%  37.6%         

Our provision for income taxes for 2015 increased by $10.7 million compared to 2014 primarily due to the increase in our pre-tax income. Our effective tax
rate decreased from 53.2% for 2014 to 47.2% in 2015 due to disqualifying dispositions on previously non-deductible stock-based compensation and tax credits
offset in part by increased state taxes of 2.8% due to state legislative changes. Of the $10.7 million increase, approximately $3.1 million in discrete tax expense
representing 5.2% of pre-tax income is attributed to the revaluation of deferred taxes due to a state legislative change enacted in the second quarter ended June 30,
2015.

Our provision for income taxes for 2014 increased by $9.6 million compared to 2013 primarily due to the increase in our pre-tax income and our effective
tax rate increased from 37.6% for 2013 to 53.2% in 2014 , primarily due to non-deductible stock-based compensation, and the revaluation of deferred taxes, based
on regulatory state legislative changes enacted during the first quarter ended March 31, 2014. Of the $9.6 million increase, $2.6 million in discrete tax expense
representing 7.8% of pretax income is attributed to the revaluation of deferred taxes due to a state legislative change. The remainder of the increase is primarily due
to a release of uncertain tax positions recognized for the first quarter ended March 31, 2013.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Our principal source of liquidity for operations is derived from cash provided by operating activities. We rely on cash provided by operating activities to
meet our short-term liquidity requirements, which primarily relate to the payment of corporate payroll and other operating costs, and capital expenditures. Our
credit facilities have been used to fund acquisitions and special dividends, and we have not relied on these facilities to provide liquidity for our operations. Our
cash flow related to WSE payroll and benefits is generally matched by advance collection from our clients. To minimize the credit risk associated with remitting
the payroll and associated taxes and benefits costs, we require clients to prefund the payroll and related payroll taxes and benefits costs. To the extent this does not
occur, our results of operations and cash flow may be negatively impacted.

WSE-related liabilities can fluctuate significantly due to various factors, including the day of the week on which a client payroll period ends, the existence
of holidays at or immediately following a client payroll period-end and various federal and state compliance calendars. We report the advance collection from our
clients as payroll funds collected within WSE-related assets on our balance sheet. Our cash and cash equivalents reported on our balance sheet represent our
corporate cash available
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to meet corporate liquidity requirements, capital spending and expansion plans, potential acquisitions, debt service requirements and other corporate operating cash
needs.

The following table shows our capital resources for the stated periods:

 Year Ended December 31,

 2015  2014

 (in thousands)

Cash and cash equivalents $ 166,178  $ 134,341
Working capital:  

Corporate working capital (1) 108,539  116,709
WSE-related assets, net of WSE-related liabilities 3,889  4,581

(1)    In November 2015, the FASB issued ASU 2015-17, Balance
Sheet
Classification
of
Deferred
Taxes
. We elected to early adopt and retrospectively apply the provisions of the amendment.
Historical amounts above are conformed to the current presentation. See Note 11 for further details.

We had cash and cash equivalents of $166.2 million and $134.3 million as of December 31, 2015 and 2014 , respectively. The increase was primarily due to
the cash generated from operations during the year ended December 31, 2015 . We believe that our existing cash and cash equivalents, working capital and cash
provided by operating activities will be sufficient to meet our working capital and capital expenditure needs for at least the next 12 months.

WSE-related assets consist of cash and investments restricted for current workers compensation deductible payments, payroll funds collected, accounts
receivable, unbilled revenues and refundable or prepaid amounts related to our sponsored workers compensation and health plan programs. WSE-related liabilities
consist of client prepayments, wages and payroll taxes accrued and payable and liabilities related to our sponsored workers compensation and health plan programs
resulting from deductible reserves and premium amounts due to providers for enrolled employees expected to be disbursed within the next 12 months.

Our working capital asset accounts consist of cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivables, prepaid assets, WSE-related assets and other current assets.
Liabilities included within working capital include accounts payable, accrued expenses, WSE-related liabilities and other current liabilities and the current portion
of our notes payable. As of December 31, 2015 , we had $108.5 million in corporate working capital and $3.9 million in WSE-related assets net of WSE-related
liabilities. Corporate working capital decreased by $8.2 million as compared to December 31, 2014 primarily due to recording a $12.7 million anticipated debt
prepayment as a result of excess cash flows requirements in accordance with our credit facility. Included in WSE-related assets as of December 31, 2015 is $0.9
billion of payroll funds collected from clients, which represents cash available to settle short-term WSE-related operating liabilities. Changes in WSE-related assets
and liabilities are included in operating cash flow in our consolidated statement of cash flows.

Under the terms of the agreements with our workers compensation insurance carriers, we are required to maintain collateral accounts to fund the carriers’
claim payments within our deductible layer. The collateral amount is determined at the beginning of each plan year based on estimated workers compensation
wages and claim histories and the insurance carrier may adjust the balance when facts and circumstances change. As of December 31, 2015 , we had $92.9 million
of restricted cash included in WSE-related assets and $101.8 million of marketable securities designated as long-term restricted cash and investments on the
consolidated balance sheet. Our restricted marketable securities investment portfolio represents U.S. long-term treasuries and mutual funds. We regularly review
the collateral balances with our insurance carriers, and anticipate funding further collateral as needed based on program development.

At December 31, 2015 , we had approximately $499.6 million of outstanding debt under our credit facility. On July 9, 2014, we amended and restated our
first lien credit facility pursuant to an amended and restated first lien credit agreement, or the Amended and Restated Credit Agreement. The Amended and
Restated Credit Agreement provides for: (i) $375 million principal amount of “tranche A term loans,” (ii) $200 million principal amount of “tranche B term loans,”
and (iii) a revolving credit facility of $75 million. The tranche A term loans and the revolving credit facility will mature on July 9, 2019. The tranche B term loans
will mature on July 9, 2017. Loans under the revolving credit facility are expected to be used for working capital and other general corporate purposes. The
repayment of obligations under the Amended and Restated Credit Agreement could adversely affect our liquidity if we have not generated sufficient cash from our
operations to meet these obligations when they are due.
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Cash
Flows

We generated positive cash flows from operating activities during 2015 , 2014 and 2013 . We also have the ability to generate cash through our financing
arrangements under our credit facility to meet short-term funding requirements related to WSE-related obligations. The following table shows our cash flows from
operating activities, investing activities and financing activities for the stated periods:

 Year Ended December 31,
 2015  2014  2013
 (in thousands)
Net cash provided by (used in):      

Operating activities $ 130,599  $ 151,899  $ 100,721
Investing activities (37,689)  (45,427)  (212,438)
Financing activities (60,752)  (66,372)  142,377
Effect of exchange rates on cash and cash equivalents (321)  (115)  (53)

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents $ 31,837  $ 39,985  $ 30,607

 

Cash
Flows
from
Operating
Activities

Net cash provided by operating activities was $130.6 million , $151.9 million and $100.7 million for the years ended December 31, 2015 , 2014 and 2013 ,
respectively. Historically, cash provided by operating activities has been affected by our net income, adjusted for non-cash expense items (such as depreciation,
amortization of intangible assets, deferred income taxes, and expense associated with stock-based compensation) and changes in working capital accounts. The
fluctuation in our working capital accounts was primarily driven by WSE-related assets and liabilities, deferred taxes and increased workers compensation
liabilities.

Cash
Flows
from
Investing
Activities

Net cash used in investing activities was $37.7 million in 2015 , as compared to $45.4 million in 2014 and $212.4 million in 2013 . In 2015 , we invested
$41.9 million in debt securities and collected $27.6 million on maturing of debt securities, compared to investing $24.9 million in debt securities in 2014 .
Investments to purchase property and equipment were $18.6 million for 2015 compared to $20.6 million for the same period of 2014 . In 2015, we used $4.8
million for an acquisition of a business, while there were no such acquisitions in 2014. In 2013, we used $195.0 million (net of cash acquired) for the acquisition of
Ambrose.

Cash
Flows
from
Financing
Activities

Net cash used in financing activities was $60.8 million in 2015 , compared to $66.4 million in 2014 and $142.4 million provided by financing activities in
2013 . Net cash used in financing activities during 2015 consisted of $45.3 million in loan repayments and $48.4 million in stock repurchases, offset by excess tax
benefit of $20.7 million from equity incentive plan activity, $7.2 million received in connection with the exercise of stock options and $5.3 million in proceeds
from issuance of our common stock for the employee stock purchase plan. Net cash used in financing activities during 2014 was largely attributable to $273.6
million in loan repayments, $15.0 million in common stock repurchases and $11.1 million in payments for debt issuance costs, offset by $217.8 million of net
proceeds received from the issuance of common stock in our IPO, $2.2 million received in connection with the exercise of stock options and $3.4 million in
proceeds from issuance of our common stock for the employee stock purchase plan. Net cash provided by financing activities during 2013 was largely attributable
to our borrowing of $970.0 million under our credit facility and receipt of $7.1 million in proceeds from stock option exercises, offset by $451.7 million in
repayments of notes payable, the payment of a $357.6 million special dividend, $6.0 million in common stock repurchases and the payment of $25.7 million in
debt issuance costs.

2014
Credit
Facility

In August 2013, we, as guarantor, our subsidiary TriNet HR Corporation, as borrower, and certain of our other subsidiaries as subsidiary guarantors entered
into two senior secured credit facilities: (i) a $705.0 million first lien credit facility with JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as administrative agent, and (ii) a $190.0
million second lien credit facility with Wilmington Trust, National Association, as administrative agent. Proceeds from our IPO were used to fully repay the $190.0
million second lien credit facility, which resulted in a prepayment premium of $3.8 million, and to repay $25.0 million of the first lien credit
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tranche B-1 term loan. Additionally, the remaining balance of the loan fees associated with the second lien credit facility and a portion of the loan fees associated
with the first lien credit facility were fully amortized in March 2014 for a charge of $5.0 million. In July 2014, we amended and restated our first lien credit facility
pursuant to an amended and restated first lien credit agreement, or the Amended and Restated Credit Agreement.

The Amended and Restated Credit Agreement provides for: (i) $375 million principal amount of “tranche A term loans,” (ii) $200 million principal amount
of “tranche B term loans,” and (iii) a revolving credit facility of $75 million, which we refer to as the revolving credit facility. The proceeds of the tranche A term
loans were used to refinance in part the tranche B-2 term loans outstanding under the original first lien credit facility. The proceeds of the tranche B term loans
were used to (i) refinance the remaining tranche B-2 term loans outstanding under the original first lien credit facility, (ii) refinance other amounts outstanding
under the original first lien credit facility and (iii) pay fees and expenses related thereto. The revolving credit facility replaced the revolving credit facility under the
original first lien credit facility. The $75.0 million revolving credit facility includes capacity for a $40.0 million letter of credit facility and a $10.0 million
swingline facility. The total unused portion of the revolving credit facility was $59.5 million as of December 31, 2015 . As of December 31, 2015 , we had $499.6
million in outstanding indebtedness under the Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, all of which was secured indebtedness of our subsidiary, TriNet HR
Corporation, guaranteed on a senior secured basis by us and certain of our subsidiaries.

In connection with the Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, we incurred $11.1 million of debt issuance costs. We deferred $8.0 million of the costs,
which are being amortized over the term of the credit facility.  The remaining $3.1 million of costs were recorded to interest expense and bank fees.  Additionally,
we recorded a $9.0 million loss on extinguishment of debt to write-off deferred issuance costs associated with the original first lien credit facility, which was also
recorded to interest expense and bank fees.  The remaining $6.1 million of loan fees associated with the previous facility were deemed to be modified and continue
to be amortized over the revised remaining term of the Amended and Restated Credit Agreement.

The tranche A term loans and the revolving credit facility will mature on July 9, 2019. The tranche B term loans will mature on July 9, 2017. Loans under
the revolving credit facility are expected to be used for working capital and other general corporate purposes.

The tranche A term loans and loans under the revolving credit facility bear interest, at our option, at a rate equal to either the LIBOR rate, plus an applicable
margin equal to 2.75% per annum, or the prime lending rate, plus an applicable margin equal to 1.75% per annum. The applicable margins for the tranche A term
loans and loans under the revolving credit facility are subject to specified rate adjustments of 0.25% based upon our total leverage ratio. The tranche B term loans
bear interest, at our option, at a rate equal to either the LIBOR rate, plus an applicable margin equal to 2.75% per annum or the prime lending rate, plus an
applicable margin equal to 1.75% per annum. We are required to pay a commitment fee of 0.50%, subject to decrease to 0.375% based on our total leverage ratio,
on the daily unused amount of the commitments under the revolving credit facility, as well as fronting fees and other customary fees for letters of credit issued
under the revolving credit facility.

We are permitted to make voluntary prepayments at any time without payment of a premium, except that a 1% premium would apply to a repricing of the
tranche B term loans effected on or prior to the six-month anniversary of the effective date for the amendment and restatement of our credit facility. We are
required to make mandatory prepayments of term loans (without payment of a premium) with (i) net cash proceeds from issuances of debt (other than certain
permitted debt), (ii) net cash proceeds from certain non-ordinary course asset sales and casualty and condemnation proceeds (subject to reinvestment rights and
other exceptions), and (iii) beginning with the fiscal year ending December 31, 2015, 50% of our excess cash flow (subject to decrease to (x) 25% if our total
leverage ratio as of the last day of such fiscal year is less than 3.75 to 1.0 and equal to or greater than 3.00 to 1.0, and (y) 0% if our total leverage ratio as of the last
day of such fiscal year is less than 3.00 to 1.0), provided that we may defer prepayments based on excess cash flow to the extent such payments would result our
GAAP working capital being less than $10 million (after giving effect to such prepayments). We recorded a current liability of $12.7 million at December 31, 2015
in anticipation of this prepayment.

The tranche A term loans will be repaid in equal quarterly installments in an aggregate annual amount equal to: (i) beginning on December 31, 2014 to
December 31, 2016, 5% of the original principal amount thereof, (ii) beginning on December 31, 2016 to December 31, 2018, 7.5% of the original principal
amount thereof, and (iii) beginning on December 31, 2018 to June 30, 2019, 10% of the original principal amount thereof with any remaining balance payable on
the final maturity date of the tranche A term loans. The tranche B term loans will be repaid in equal quarterly installments in an aggregate annual amount equal to
1% of the principal amount thereof, with any remaining balance payable on the final maturity date of the tranche B term loans.

Our credit facility contains customary representations and warranties and customary affirmative and negative covenants applicable to us and our
subsidiaries, including, among other things, restrictions on indebtedness, liens, investments, mergers,
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dispositions, prepayment of other indebtedness, and dividends and other distributions. Our credit facility also contains financial covenants that require us to
maintain a minimum consolidated interest coverage ratio and a maximum total leverage ratio.

Contractual Obligations and Commitments

The following table summarizes our contractual obligations and commercial commitments as of December 31, 2015 , and the effect they are expected to
have on our liquidity and capital resources (in thousands):

 Payments Due by Period

 Total  Less than 1 year  1-3 years  3-5 years  More than 5 years

Long-term debt obligations $ 499,563  $ 35,289  $ 192,399  $ 271,875  $ —

Interest on debt obligations 53,078  17,597  29,144  6,337  —

Workers compensation liabilities 198,274  70,888  46,218  23,077  58,091

Capital lease obligations 268  82  145  41  —

Operating lease obligations 50,323  11,882  20,072  15,762  2,607

Purchase obligations 14,116  8,587  5,529  —  —

Uncertain tax positions 616  18  598  —  —

Total $ 816,238  $ 144,343  $ 294,105  $ 317,092  $ 60,698

 

Long-term debt obligations and interest on debt obligations reflect the terms of the Amended and Restated Credit Agreement discussed above. The
projected interest payments incorporate the forward LIBOR curve as of December 31, 2015 .

Workers compensation liabilities represented in the table above are considered contractual obligations because they represent the estimated payments that
will be made to carriers for the various workers compensation programs. These obligations include the costs of reimbursing the carriers for paying claims within
the deductible layer in accordance with workers compensation insurance policies as well as premiums and other liabilities. Workers compensation claim liabilities
include estimates for reported claims, plus estimates for claims incurred but not reported, and estimates of certain expenses associated with processing and settling
the claims. These estimates are subject to significant uncertainty. The actual amount to be paid is not finally determined until we reach a settlement with the
insurance carrier. Final claim settlements may vary significantly from the present estimates, particularly because many claims will not be settled until well into the
future. In estimating the timing of future payments by year, we have assumed that our historical payment patterns will continue. However, the actual timing of
future payments could vary materially from these estimates due to, among other things, changes in claim reporting and payment patterns and large unanticipated
settlements.

Our purchase obligations primarily consist of software licenses and maintenance, sales and marketing events and professional and consulting fees. These are
associated with agreements that we believe are enforceable and legally binding and that specify all significant terms, including fixed or minimum services to be
used, fixed, minimum or variable price provisions, and the approximate timing of the transaction.

To support our growth and expansion, we may lease additional office space. Many of our operating lease agreements provide us with the option to renew.
Our future operating lease obligations would change if we exercised these options and if we entered into additional operating lease agreements as we expand our
operations.

In the normal course of business, we make representations and warranties that guarantee the performance of services under service arrangements with
clients. Historically, there has been no material losses related to such guarantees. In addition, in connection with our initial public offering, we have entered into
indemnification agreements with our officers and directors, which require us to defend and, if necessary, indemnify these individuals for certain pending or future
legal claims as they relate to their services provided to us. Such indemnification obligations are not included in the table above.

The uncertain tax positions disclosed in the table above exclude certain tax credit related reserves that we net with tax credit carryforwards.  The reserve on
these tax credits does not represent a contractual obligation or commitment because the associated tax credits have not been utilized to offset our tax liability.
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Critical Accounting Policies, Estimates and Judgments

Our consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with GAAP. The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires
management to make estimates and assumptions that affect certain reported amounts and disclosures. These estimates include, but are not limited to, allowances
for accounts receivable, workers compensation related assets and liabilities, health plan assets and liabilities, recoverability of goodwill and other intangible assets,
income taxes, stock-based compensation and other contingent liabilities. Such estimates are based on historical experience and on various other assumptions that
Company management believes to be reasonable under the circumstances. Actual results could differ significantly from our estimates. To the extent that there are
material differences between these estimates and actual results, our future financial statement presentation, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows
will be affected.

The following accounting policies are critical and/or require significant judgments and estimates in the preparation of our consolidated financial statements.

Revenue
Recognition

Professional service revenues represent fees charged to clients for co-employment services including processing HR transactions such as payroll payments
and remitting employment tax withholding amounts, providing access to our HR expertise, including HR templates, best practices, and interactions with our HR
professionals, providing labor, employment and benefit law compliance services to assist clients in avoiding or reducing liability and exposure and providing
additional services, including recruiting or other services, to support various stages of our clients’ growth based on either a fixed fee per WSE per month or per
transaction, or a percentage of WSEs’ payroll. We recognize professional service revenues in the period the services are rendered and earned under service
arrangements with clients where service fees are fixed or determinable and collectability is reasonably assured.

Insurance service revenues consist of insurance-related billings and administrative fees collected from clients and withheld from WSEs for TriNet-
sponsored, risk-based, fully-insured insurance plans provided through third-party insurance carriers, primarily employee health benefit plans and workers
compensation insurance. We recognize insurance service revenues in the period amounts are due and collectability is reasonably assured.

The professional service revenues and insurance service revenues are each considered separate units of accounting and the associated fees and insurance
premiums are billed as such for the majority of our clients. For clients billed through a bundled invoice, the selling price of significant deliverables is determined
based on the best estimate of selling price.

We are not the primary obligor for payroll and payroll tax payments and therefore these payments are not reflected as either revenue or expense. The gross
payroll and payroll tax payments made on behalf of our clients, combined, were $30.6 billion , $25.6 billion and $17.6 billion for the years ended December 31,
2015 , 2014 , and 2013 , respectively.

We record a liability relating to work performed by WSEs but unpaid at the end of each period in the period in which the WSE performs work along with
the related receivable for the same period. We generally charge an upfront non-refundable set-up fee for which the performance of such services is not a discrete
earnings event and therefore the revenue is recognized on a straight-line basis over the estimated average client tenure.

Insurance
Costs

Insurance costs include insurance premiums paid to the third-party insurance carriers for insurance coverage for our clients and WSEs and the
reimbursements paid to the insurance carriers and/or third-party administrators for claims payments made by them on our behalf within our insurance deductible
layer, where applicable.

Workers
Compensation
Insurance
Reserves

We establish workers compensation insurance reserves to provide for our estimated ultimate costs of reimbursing our workers compensation insurance
carriers and third-party administrators for paying claims on our behalf within the deductible layer in accordance with workers compensation insurance policies.
These reserves include estimates for reported losses, plus amounts for those claims not yet reported, and estimates of certain expenses incurred by our carriers and
third-party administrators in the course of processing and settling the claims. In establishing our workers compensation insurance reserves, we use an independent
actuarial estimate of undiscounted future cash payments that would be made to settle the claims.
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In estimating these reserves, we utilize our historical loss experience, exposure data and actuarial judgment, together with a range of inputs that are
primarily based upon the WSEs’ job responsibilities, their location, the historical frequency and severity of workers compensation claims, and an estimate of future
cost trends. All of these components can materially impact the reserves as reported in our consolidated financial statements. For each reporting period, we
incorporate changes in the actuarial assumptions resulting from changes in our actual claims experience and other trends into our workers compensation claims
cost estimates. Accordingly, final claim settlements may vary from the present estimates, particularly when those payments may not occur until well into the
future.

We review the adequacy of our workers compensation insurance reserves on a quarterly basis. We reflect adjustments to previously established reserves in
our results of operations for the period in which the adjustments are identified. These adjustments can be significant, reflecting any variety of new and adverse or
favorable trends. Any unexpected increases in the severity or frequency of claims could harm our operating results.

We do not discount loss reserves accrued under these programs. We record claim costs that we expect to be paid within one year as accrued workers
compensation costs and include them in worksite employee related liabilities or short term worksite related assets if funds are held by third parties to cover the
claims, and we include costs that we expect to be paid beyond one year in long-term liabilities or long term workers compensation receivables if funds are held by
third parties to cover the claims on our consolidated balance sheets. Assets held by third parties to cover claim liabilities remain restricted until the plan year to
which they relate are settled.

At policy inception, we estimate annual workers compensation costs based on projected wages over the duration of the policy period. As actual wages are
realized, the amounts paid for premiums may differ from the estimates we record, creating an asset or liability throughout the policy year. These differences can
have a material effect on our consolidated financial position and results of operations.

Health
Benefits
Insurance
Reserves

We establish health benefits insurance reserves to provide for our estimated costs of reimbursing our health benefits insurance carriers and third-party
administrators for paying claims within our deductible layer in accordance with health insurance policies. These reserves include estimates for reported losses, plus
amounts for those claims incurred but not yet paid. We determine our health benefits insurance reserves based upon a number of factors, including actuarial
calculations, our current and historical claims payment patterns, plan enrollment and medical trend rates. We record these reserves within health benefits payable
and include them in WSE-related liabilities on our consolidated balance sheets.

Under certain contracts, based on plan performance, we may be entitled to receive refunds of premiums that we pay to our health benefits insurance carriers.
We estimate these refunds based on our premium and claims data and record the prepaid health plan assets within WSE-related assets on our consolidated balance
sheets. These prepaid health plan assets require our management to make assumptions and to apply judgment based on actuarial assumptions, claim history,
medical trends and other industry-specific factors. If actual results are not consistent with our estimates or assumptions, it could harm our financial condition and
results of operations.

We review the adequacy of our health benefits insurance reserves on a quarterly basis. We reflect adjustments to previously established reserves in our
results of operations for the period in which the adjustments are identified. These adjustments can be significant, reflecting any variety of new and adverse or
favorable trends. Any unexpected increases in the severity or frequency of claims could harm our operating results.

Goodwill
and
Other
Intangible
Assets

Our goodwill and identifiable intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are not amortized, but instead are tested for impairment annually in the fourth
quarter or when an event occurs or circumstances change in a way to indicate that there has been a potential decline in the fair value of the reporting
unit. Impairment is determined by comparing the estimated fair value of the reporting unit to its carrying amount, including goodwill. Our business is largely
homogeneous and, as a result, all the goodwill is associated with one reporting unit. Annually, we perform a qualitative assessment to determine whether it is more
likely than not that the fair value of the reporting unit has declined below carrying value. This assessment requires significant management judgment to evaluate
the impact of various financial, macroeconomic, industry, and reporting unit specific qualitative factors.
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Intangible assets with finite useful lives include purchased client lists, trade names, developed technologies and contractual agreements. Fair value of our
intangible assets acquired in business combinations are corroborated using appraisals that are performed by independent third-party valuation firms. The
assumptions utilized to determine the fair value of our intangible assets requires management’s assessment of various factors including business strategies and
future expectations. Intangible assets are amortized over their respective estimated useful lives using either the straight-line method or an accelerated method,
ranging from two to five years. Intangible assets are reviewed for indicators of impairment at least annually and evaluated for impairment whenever events or
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable.

These types of analyses contain uncertainties requiring management to make assumptions and to apply judgment to estimate industry economic factors and
the profitability of future business strategies. It is our policy to conduct impairment testing based on our current business strategy in light of present industry and
economic conditions, as well as our future expectations. We do not believe that there is a reasonable likelihood that there will be a material change in the future
estimates or assumptions we use to test for impairment losses for goodwill and other intangible assets. However, if actual results are not consistent with our
estimates or assumptions, we may be exposed to an impairment charge that could be material.

Impairment
of
Long-Lived
Assets

Long-lived assets, such as property, equipment and capitalized internal use software subject to amortization, are reviewed for impairment whenever events
or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable such as: (i) a significant adverse change in the extent or manner in
which it is being used or in its physical condition, (ii) a significant adverse change in legal factors or in business climate that could affect its value, or (iii) a
current-period operation or cash flow loss combined with a history of operating or cash flow losses or a projection or forecast that demonstrates continuing losses
associated with its use.

An asset is considered impaired if the carrying amount exceeds the undiscounted future net cash flows the asset is expected to generate. An impairment
charge is recognized for the amount by which the carrying amount of the assets exceeds its fair value. The adjusted carrying amount of the asset becomes its new
cost basis. For a depreciable long-lived asset, the new cost basis will be depreciated or amortized over the remaining useful life of that asset. Assets to be disposed
of are reported at the lower of the carrying amount or fair value, less selling costs.

Our impairment loss calculations contain uncertainties which require management to make assumptions and to apply judgment to estimate future cash flows
and asset fair values, including forecasting useful lives of the assets and selecting the discount rate that reflects the risk inherent in future cash flows.

Stock-Based
Compensation

We have historically issued two types of stock-based awards to employees: restricted stock units and stock options. Compensation expense associated with
restricted stock units is based on the fair value of our common stock on the grant date. Compensation expense associated with stock options is based on the
estimated grant date fair value method using the Black-Scholes valuation model. Expense is recognized, net of estimated forfeitures, using a straight-line
amortization method over the respective vesting period for awards during which the employee is required to perform service in exchange for such award.

Our option-pricing model requires the input of highly subjective assumptions, including the fair value of our common stock (prior to our IPO), the expected
term of the option, the expected volatility of the price of our common stock, risk-free interest rates and the expected dividend yield of our common stock as
follows:

• Prior to our IPO in March 2014, because our common stock was not publicly traded, we estimated the fair value of our common stock. Our board of
directors considered numerous objective and subjective factors to determine the fair market value of our common stock at each meeting at which awards
were granted and approved. These factors included, but were not limited to: (i) contemporaneous third-party valuations of our common stock; (ii) our
performance, growth rate, financial condition and future financial projections; (iii) the value of our peer companies; (iv) changes to our business and our
prospects; (v) lack of marketability of our common stock; (vi) the likelihood of achieving a liquidity event; and (vii) the rights, preferences and privileges of
our preferred stock relative to those of our common stock. After the completion of our IPO, the fair value of our common stock has been based on the
closing price of our common stock on the New York Stock Exchange.

• Risk-free interest rate is based on the implied yield available on U.S. Treasury zero-coupon issues with an equivalent remaining term of the options.
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• Expected term represents the period that our share-based awards are expected to be outstanding. We estimated the expected term for a “plain vanilla” option
using the simplified method allowed under current guidance, which uses the midpoint between the graded vesting period and the contractual termination
date.

• Expected volatility is determined by taking the average historical volatilities of our peer group based on daily price observations over a period equivalent to
the expected term of the option. Our peer group consists of public companies primarily in HR service industry and are similar to us in size, stage of life
cycle, and financial leverage. We intend to continue to consistently apply this process using the same or similar public companies until a sufficient amount
of historical information regarding the volatility of our own common stock share price becomes available, or unless circumstances change such that the
identified companies are no longer similar to us, in which case, more suitable companies whose share prices are publicly available would be utilized in the
calculation.

• We declared special dividends in May 2011, March 2012, August 2013 and December 2013. These dividends are considered extraordinary and non-
recurring. Consequently, we used an expected dividend yield of zero.

We estimate forfeitures based on historical forfeitures of equity awards and adjust the rate to reflect voluntary termination behaviors as well as trends of
actual forfeitures. We will continue to evaluate our estimated forfeiture rate if actual forfeitures differ from our initial estimates. Quarterly changes in the estimated
forfeiture rate can have a significant impact on our share-based compensation expense as the cumulative effect of adjusting the rate is recognized in the period the
forfeiture estimate is changed.

The following table sets forth the assumptions made with respect to these assumptions for the periods presented:
 

 Year Ended December 31,
 2015  2014  2013

Expected volatility 39%  58%  48%
Expected term (in years) 6.08  6.05  6.04
Risk-free interest rate 1.73%  1.80%  1.26%
Expected dividend yield —%  —%  —%
Weighted-average grant-date fair value of stock options $ 12.73  $ 7.18  $ 4.11

These assumptions represent management’s best estimates which involve inherent uncertainties and the application of management’s judgment. If facts and
circumstances change and different assumptions are used, our share-based compensation expense could be materially different in the future. As we continue to
accumulate additional data related to our common stock, we may have refinements to our estimates, which could materially impact our future share-based
compensation expense.

Income
Taxes

We are subject to income taxes in the United States and Canada and we conduct our business primarily in the United States. Significant judgments are
required in determining our provision for income taxes and income tax assets and liabilities, including evaluating uncertainties in the application of accounting
principles and complex tax laws.

We use the asset and liability method to account for income taxes. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the future tax consequences
attributable to differences between the financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases and net operating loss
carryforwards. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable income in the years in which those temporary
differences are expected to be recovered or settled. The effect on deferred tax assets and liabilities of a change in tax rates is recognized in income in the period that
includes the enactment date.

For transactions and calculations for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain, we recognize tax liabilities based on estimates of whether additional
taxes and interest will be due. These tax liabilities are recognized when, despite the belief that our tax return positions are supportable, we believe that certain
positions may not be more likely than not of being sustained upon review by tax authorities. As of December 31, 2015 and 2014 , we had recognized tax liabilities
of approximately $3.3 million and $3.2 million , respectively, related to uncertain income tax positions.

We periodically evaluate if it is more likely than not that some or all of the deferred tax assets will be realized. In making such determination, we consider
all available positive and negative evidence, including scheduled reversals of deferred tax
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liabilities, projected future taxable income, tax planning strategies and recent financial performance. In order to support a conclusion that a valuation allowance is
not needed, positive evidence of sufficient quantity and quality (objective compared to subjective) is necessary to overcome negative evidence. Because certain
federal and state net operating loss carryforwards may not be utilized prior to expiration, a valuation allowance on our deferred tax asset balance was recognized as
of December 31, 2015 .

We believe that our accruals for tax liabilities are adequate for all open audit years based on our assessment of many factors, including past experience and
interpretations of tax law. This assessment relies on estimates and assumptions and may involve a series of complex judgments about future events. We do not
anticipate any adjustments would result in a material change to our financial position. To the extent that the final tax outcome of these matters is different than the
amounts recorded, such differences will impact income tax expense in the period in which such determination is made. We paid Notices of Proposed Assessments
outstanding as of December 31, 2014 related to the disallowance of employment tax credits totaling $10.5 million in connection with the IRS examination of
Gevity HR, Inc. and its subsidiaries, which was acquired by TriNet in June 2009. The Company plans to exhaust all administrative efforts to resolve this matter,
however, it is likely that the matter will ultimately be resolved through litigation. With regard to these employment tax credits, the Company believes it is more
likely than not that the Company will prevail.  Therefore, no reserve has been recognized related to this matter.     

Recent
Accounting
Pronouncements

In February 2016, the Financial Accounting Standards Board, or (FASB), issued Accounting Standards Update (ASU) 2016-02— Leases.
The amendment
requires that lease arrangements longer than 12 months result in an entity recognizing an asset and liability. The amendment is effective for annual reporting
periods, and interim periods within those years beginning after December 15, 2018. Early adoption is permitted. We are currently in the process of evaluating the
impact of the adoption of this standard on our consolidated financial statements.

In January 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-01— Recognition
and
Measurement
of
Financial
Assets
and
Financial
Liabilities
. The amendment addresses
various aspects of the recognition, measurement, presentation, and disclosure for financial instruments. The amendment is effective for annual reporting periods,
and interim periods within those years beginning after December 15, 2017. Early adoption by public entities is permitted only for certain provisions. We are
currently in the process of evaluating the impact of the adoption of this standard on our consolidated financial statements.

In November 2015, the FASB issued ASU 2015-17— Balance
Sheet
Classification
of
Deferred
Taxes
, as part of its initiative to reduce complexity in
accounting standards (the Simplification Initiative). The amendment requires that deferred tax liabilities and assets be classified as noncurrent in a classified
statement of financial position. The amendment is effective for fiscal years, and interim periods within those fiscal years, beginning after December 15, 2016. Early
adoption is permitted. We adopted this guidance in 2015 with retrospective application. See Note 11 for further details.

In April 2015, the FASB issued ASU 2015-05— Intangibles—Goodwill
and
Other—Internal-Use
Software
, as part of the Simplification Initiative. The
amendment provides guidance to clarify the customer’s accounting for fees paid in a cloud computing arrangement. The amendment is effective for fiscal years,
and interim periods within those fiscal years, beginning after December 15, 2015. Early adoption is permitted. We expect to adopt this guidance in 2016. We do
not expect this guidance to have a material effect on our consolidated financial statements.

In April 2015, the FASB issued ASU 2015-03— Interest—Imputation
of
Interest
, as part of its Simplification Initiative. The amendment requires that debt
issuance costs related to a recognized debt liability be presented in the balance sheet as a direct deduction from the carrying amount of that debt liability, consistent
with debt discounts. The amendment is effective for fiscal years, and interim periods within those fiscal years, beginning after December 15, 2015. Early adoption
is permitted for financial statements that have not been previously issued. We expect to adopt this guidance in 2016. We do not expect this guidance to have a
material effect on our consolidated financial statements.

In August 2014, the FASB issued ASU 2014-15— Presentation
of
Financial
Statements
—
Going
Concern
( Subtopic
205-40),
which addresses
management’s responsibility to evaluate whether there is substantial doubt about an entity’s ability to continue as a going concern and to provide related footnote
disclosures. Management’s evaluation should be based on relevant conditions and events that are known and reasonably knowable at the date that the financial
statements are issued. The standard will be effective for the first interim period within annual reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2016. Early adoption
is permitted. We do not expect to adopt this guidance early and do not believe that the adoption of this guidance will have a material effect on our consolidated
financial statements.

In June 2014, the FASB issued ASU 2014-12— Compensation
-
Stock
Compensation
, which requires that a performance target that affects vesting and that
could be achieved after the requisite service period be treated as a performance condition . ASU 2014-12 is effective for annual reporting periods, and interim
periods within those years, beginning after December 15,
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2015. Early adoption is permitted. The amendments may be applied prospectively to all awards granted or modified after the effective date or retrospectively to all
awards with performance targets that are outstanding as of the beginning of the earliest annual period presented . We do not expect this guidance to have a material
effect on our consolidated financial statements. We expect to adopt this guidance in 2016.

In May 2014, the FASB issued ASU 2014-09— Revenue
from
Contracts
with
Customers,
which will replace most existing revenue recognition guidance
under GAAP. The core principle of the guidance is that an entity should recognize revenue to depict the transfer of promised goods or services to customers in an
amount that reflects the consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services. The standard provides a five-step analysis
of transactions to determine when and how revenue is recognized. In July 2015, the FASB deferred the effective date to annual reporting periods, and interim
periods within those years, beginning after December 15, 2017. Early adoption at the original effective date of December 15, 2016 is permitted. The amendments
may be applied retrospectively or as a cumulative-effect adjustment as of the date of adoption. We have not yet selected a method of adoption and are currently
evaluating the effect that the amendments will have on our consolidated financial statements.

Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

We are exposed to certain market risks in the ordinary course of our business. These risks primarily include interest rate sensitivities as follows.

We had cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash, restricted investments, payroll funds collected, and interest bearing receivables in connection with
workers compensation premiums totaling $1.3 billion at December 31, 2015 . Included in this amount were $66.4 million in time deposits and U.S. Treasuries.
Such interest-earning instruments carry a degree of interest rate risk. To date, fluctuations in interest income have not been significant. Fluctuations in the value of
our investment securities caused by a change in interest rates (gains or losses on the carrying value) are recorded in other comprehensive income, and are realized
only if we sell the underlying securities.  Our investments are made for capital preservation purposes. The cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash, payroll funds
collected and workers compensation premium receivable are held for working capital purposes.

Our cash equivalents, payroll funds collected, workers compensation receivable and our investments are subject to market risk due to changes in interest
rates. Fixed rate securities may have their market value adversely impacted due to a rise in interest rates, while floating rate securities may produce less income
than expected if interest rates fall. Due in part to these factors, our future investment income may fall short of expectations due to changes in interest rates or we
may suffer losses in principal if we are forced to sell securities that decline in market value due to changes in interest rates. However, because we classify our debt
securities as “available for sale,” no gains or losses are recognized due to changes in interest rates unless such securities are sold prior to maturity or declines in fair
value are determined to be other-than-temporary. Our fixed-income portfolio is subject to interest rate risk.

We also had total outstanding indebtedness of $499.6 million as of December 31, 2015 , of which $35.3 million is due within 12 months. Amounts
outstanding under our credit facility carry variable interest rates of LIBOR + 2.75% over the term of the facility, subject to specified rate adjustments under certain
circumstances. As a result of our credit facility, we are exposed to changes in interest rates. With an increase in interest rates in effect at December 31, 2015 of 100
basis points, our interest expense for 2016 through 2020 would be $66.5 million . On the other hand, with a decrease in interest rates in effect at December 31,
2015 of 100 basis points, our interest expense for 2016 through 2020 would be $39.7 million .
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Board of Directors and Stockholders of
TriNet Group, Inc. and Subsidiaries

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of TriNet Group, Inc. and Subsidiaries as of December 31, 2015 and 2014 , and the related
consolidated statements of operations, comprehensive income, stockholders’ equity (deficit) and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended
December 31, 2015 . Our audits also included the financial statement schedule listed at Item 15(a). These financial statements and schedule are the responsibility of
the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements and schedule based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that
we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes
examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles
used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a
reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial position of TriNet Group, Inc. and
Subsidiaries at December 31, 2015 and 2014 , and the consolidated results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended
December 31, 2015 , in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles. Also, in our opinion, the related financial statement schedule, when
considered in relation to the basic financial statements taken as a whole, presents fairly in all material respects the information set forth therein.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), TriNet Group, Inc. and
Subsidiaries’ internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2015, based on criteria established in Internal Control-Integrated Framework issued by
the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (2013 framework) and our report dated March 31, 2016 expressed an adverse opinion
thereon.

/s/ Ernst & Young LLP

San Francisco, California

March 31, 2016
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TriNet Group, Inc. and Subsidiaries
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

(In thousands, except share and per share data)

 December 31, 2015  December 31, 2014

Assets    
Current assets:    

Cash and cash equivalents $ 166,178  $ 134,341
Restricted cash 14,557  14,543
Prepaid income taxes 4,105  26,711
Prepaid expenses 8,579  9,336
Deferred loan costs and other current assets 3,715  4,271
Worksite employee related assets 1,373,386  1,635,136

Total current assets 1,570,520  1,824,338
Workers compensation receivable 29,204  31,905
Restricted cash and investments 101,806  69,447
Property and equipment, net 37,844  32,298
Goodwill 289,207  288,857
Other intangible assets, net 46,772  81,718
Deferred loan costs and other assets 22,877  12,017

Total assets $ 2,098,230  $ 2,340,580

Liabilities and stockholders’ equity (deficit)    
Current liabilities:    

Accounts payable $ 12,904  $ 12,273
Accrued corporate wages 28,963  29,179
Current portion of notes payable and borrowings under capital leases 35,326  20,738
Other current liabilities 11,402  10,303
Worksite employee related liabilities 1,369,497  1,630,555

Total current liabilities 1,458,092  1,703,048
Notes payable and borrowings under capital leases, less current portion 464,390  524,412
Workers compensation liabilities 105,481  75,448
Deferred income taxes 54,641  58,529
Other liabilities 7,545  4,902

Total liabilities 2,090,149  2,366,339
Commitments and contingencies (Note 12)  
Stockholders’ equity (deficit):    

Preferred stock, $.000025 per share stated value; 20,000,000 shares authorized;
   no shares issued and outstanding at December 31, 2015 and December 31, 2014 —  —
Common stock, $.000025 per share stated value; 750,000,000 shares authorized;
   70,371,425 and 69,811,326 shares issued and outstanding at December 31, 2015
   and December 31, 2014, respectively 494,397  442,682
Accumulated deficit (485,595)  (468,127)
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (721)  (314)

Total stockholders’ equity (deficit) 8,081  (25,759)
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity (deficit) $ 2,098,230  $ 2,340,580

See accompanying notes.
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TriNet Group, Inc. and Subsidiaries
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

(In thousands, except share and per share data)
 

 Year Ended December 31,
 2015  2014  2013
Professional service revenues $ 401,287  $ 342,074  $ 272,372
Insurance service revenues 2,258,001  1,851,457  1,371,903
Total revenues 2,659,288  2,193,531  1,644,275
Costs and operating expenses:      

Insurance costs 2,112,376  1,686,315  1,226,585
Cost of providing services (exclusive of depreciation and
   amortization of intangible assets) 150,694  134,256  106,661
Sales and marketing 166,759  139,997  109,183
General and administrative 69,626  53,926  52,455
Systems development and programming costs 27,558  26,101  19,948
Amortization of intangible assets 39,346  52,302  51,369
Depreciation 14,612  13,843  11,737

Total costs and operating expenses 2,580,971  2,106,740  1,577,938
Operating income 78,317  86,791  66,337
Other income (expense):      

Interest expense and bank fees (19,449)  (54,193)  (45,724)
Other, net 1,142  478  471

Income before provision for income taxes 60,010  33,076  21,084
Provision for income taxes 28,315  17,579  7,937
Net income $ 31,695  $ 15,497  $ 13,147

Net income per share:      
Basic $ 0.45  $ 0.24  $ 0.26
Diluted $ 0.44  $ 0.22  $ 0.24

Weighted average shares:      
Basic 70,228,159  56,160,539  12,353,047
Diluted 72,618,069  59,566,773  15,731,807

 
See accompanying notes.
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TriNet Group, Inc. and Subsidiaries
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

(In thousands)
 

 Year Ended December 31,
 2015  2014  2013
Net income $ 31,695  $ 15,497  $ 13,147

Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax      
Unrealized losses on investments (86)  (8)  (9)

Unrealized gains on interest rate cap —  —  66

Foreign currency translation adjustments (321)  (115)  (53)

Total other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax (407)  (123)  4

Comprehensive income $ 31,288  $ 15,374  $ 13,151

 
See accompanying notes.
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TriNet Group, Inc. and Subsidiaries
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY (DEFICIT)

(In thousands, except share data)

               Accumulated   
 Preferred Stock–  Preferred Stock–        Other  Total
 Series G  Series H  Common Stock  Accumulated  Comprehensive  Stockholders’

 Shares  Amount  Shares  Amount  Shares  Amount  Deficit  Loss  Equity (Deficit)

Balance at December 31, 2012 5,391,441  $ 59,059  4,124,986  $ 63,819   10,709,224  $ 45,488  $ (110,851)  $ (195)  $ (65,558)

Net income —  —  —  —   —  —  13,147  —  13,147

Other comprehensive income —  —  —  —   —  —  —  4  4
Issuance of common stock from vested
restricted stock units —  —  —  —   36,512  —  —  —  —
Issuance of common stock from exercise of
stock options —  —  —  —   5,730,544  7,109  —  —  7,109

Stock-based compensation expense —  —  —  —   —  5,953  —  —  5,953

Repurchase of common stock —  —  —  —   (407,728)  —  (3,342)  —  (3,342)
Awards effectively repurchased for required
employee withholding taxes — — —  —  —  (809,012)  —  (8,643)  —  (8,643)
Excess tax benefit from equity incentive plan
activity —  —  —  —   —  15,610  —  —  15,610

Special dividend —  —  —  —  —  —  (357,520)  —  (357,520)

Balance at December 31, 2013 5,391,441  59,059  4,124,986  63,819   15,259,540  74,160  (467,209)  (191)  (393,240)

Net income —  —  —  —   —  —  15,497  —  15,497

Other comprehensive loss —  —  —  —   —  —  —  (123)  (123)
Issuance of common stock from vested
restricted stock units —  —  —  —  4,250  —  —  —  —
Issuance of common stock for employee stock
purchase plan —  —  —  —   249,494  3,393  —  —  3,393

Conversion of preferred stock (5,391,441)  (59,059)  (4,124,986)  (63,819)  38,065,708  122,878  —  —  122,878
Issuance of common stock from exercise of
stock options —  —  —  —   1,712,278  2,193  —  —  2,193
Issuance of common stock, net of initial public
offering cost —  —  —  —  15,091,074  217,796      217,796

Stock-based compensation expense —  —  —  —  —  10,660  —  —  10,660

Repurchase of common stock —  —  —  —   (490,419)  —  (15,009)  —  (15,009)
Awards effectively repurchased for required
employee withholding taxes —  —  —  —  (80,599)  —  (1,431)  —  (1,431)
Excess tax benefit from equity incentive plan
activity —  —  —  —   —  9,663  —  —  9,663
Realized tax benefit of deductible IPO
transaction costs —  —  —  —  —  1,939  —  —  1,939

Special dividend —  —  —  —   —  —  25  —  25

Balance at December 31, 2014 —  —  —  —   69,811,326  442,682  (468,127)  (314)  (25,759)

Net income —  —  —  —  —  —  31,695  —  31,695

Other comprehensive loss —  —  —  —  —  —  —  (407)  (407)
Issuance of common stock from vested
restricted stock units —  —  —  —  106,136  —  —  —  —
Issuance of common stock for employee stock
purchase plan —  —  —  —  272,836  5,315  —  —  5,315
Issuance of common stock from exercise of
stock options —  —  —  —  2,112,131  7,166  —  —  7,166

Stock-based compensation expense —  —  —  —  —  17,742  —  —  17,742

Repurchase of common stock —  —  —  —  (1,895,625)  —  (48,364)  —  (48,364)
Awards effectively repurchased for required
employee withholding taxes —  —  —  —  (35,379)  —  (799)  —  (799)
Excess tax benefit from equity incentive plan
activity —  —  —  —  —  20,670  —  —  20,670
Realized tax benefit of deductible IPO
transaction costs —  —  —  —  —  822  —  —  822

Balance at December 31, 2015 —  $ —  —  $ —  70,371,425  $494,397  $ (485,595)  $ (721)  $ 8,081

See accompanying notes.
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TriNet Group, Inc. and Subsidiaries
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(In thousands)

 Year Ended December 31,
 2015  2014  2013
Operating activities      

Net income $ 31,695  $ 15,497  $ 13,147
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:      

Depreciation and amortization 52,817  84,403  73,838
Deferred income taxes 14,954  43,842  (6,680)
Stock-based compensation 17,923  10,960  6,113
Excess tax benefit from equity incentive plan activity (20,670)  (9,663)  (15,610)
Accretion of workers compensation and leases fair value adjustment (639)  (1,090)  (1,427)
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:      

Restricted cash and investments (17,991)  (6,880)  (6,118)
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 1,313  (7,389)  (7,723)
Workers compensation receivables 3,152  (5,413)  9,876
Other assets (14,527)  8,004  4,052
Accounts payable 287  5,212  976
Prepaid income taxes 24,494  (23,387)  6,394
Other current liabilities 5,616  7,749  13,186
Other liabilities 31,483  29,822  4,149
Worksite employee related assets 261,750  (862,699)  (304,265)
Worksite employee related liabilities (261,058)  862,931  310,813

Net cash provided by operating activities 130,599  151,899  100,721
Investing activities      

Acquisitions of businesses (4,750)  —  (194,998)
Purchase of debt securities (41,939)  (24,875)  (7,750)
Proceeds from maturity of debt securities 27,557  —  1,000
Purchase of property and equipment (18,557)  (20,552)  (10,690)

Net cash used in investing activities (37,689)  (45,427)  (212,438)
Financing activities      

Proceeds from issuance of common stock, net of issuance costs —  217,796  —
Realized tax benefit of deductible IPO transaction costs 822  1,939  —
Proceeds from issuance of common stock on exercised options 7,166  2,193  7,109
Proceeds from issuance of common stock on employee stock purchase plan 5,315  3,393  —
Excess tax benefit from equity incentive plan activity 20,670  9,663  15,610
Borrowings under notes payable —  —  970,000
Repayment of notes payable (45,312)  (273,550)  (451,679)
Payment of debt issuance costs —  (11,060)  (25,697)
Payments of special dividend —  —  (357,582)
Repayments under capital leases (250)  (306)  (778)
Repurchase of common stock (48,364)  (15,009)  (5,963)
Awards effectively repurchased for required employee withholding taxes (799)  (1,431)  (8,643)

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities (60,752)  (66,372)  142,377
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents (321)  (115)  (53)

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 31,837  39,985  30,607

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 134,341  94,356  63,749
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period $ 166,178  $ 134,341  $ 94,356

      
Supplemental disclosures of cash flow information      

Cash paid for interest $ 15,224  $ 32,051  $ 30,534
Cash paid for income taxes, net $ 2,005  $ (3,809)  $ 8,070

Supplemental schedule of noncash investing and financing activities      



Payable for purchase of property and equipment $ 344  $ 1,290  $ 1,302
Allowance for tenant improvements $ 1,257  $ —  $ —

See accompanying notes.
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TriNet Group, Inc. and Subsidiaries
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

 
NOTE 1. DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Description
of
Business

TriNet Group, Inc. (the Company or TriNet), a Delaware corporation incorporated in January 2000, provides comprehensive human resources, or HR,
solutions for small to midsize businesses, or SMBs, across a number of industries under a co-employment model. The Company’s HR solutions are designed to
manage an increasingly complex set of HR regulations, costs, risks and responsibilities for its clients, allowing them to focus on operating and growing their core
businesses. These HR solutions include bundled services, such as multi-state payroll processing and tax administration, employee benefits programs, including
health insurance and retirement plans, workers compensation insurance and claims management, federal, state and local labor, employment and benefit law
compliance, risk mitigation, expense and time management, human capital consulting and other services.

The Company provides its services through co-employment relationships with its clients, under which the Company and its clients each take responsibility
for certain portions of the employer-employee relationship for worksite employees (WSEs). The Company is the employer of record for most administrative and
regulatory purposes, including the following: (i) compensation through wages and salaries; (ii) employer payroll-related taxes payment; (iii) employee payroll-
related taxes withholding and payment; (iv) employee benefit programs including health and life insurance, and others; and (v) workers compensation coverage.
The client is responsible for responsibilities not assumed by the Company, including the day-to-day job responsibilities of the WSEs.

Segment
Information

The Company operates in one reportable segment in accordance with Accounting Standard Codification (ASC) 280 – Segment Reporting, issued by the
Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB). All of the Company’s service revenues are generated from external clients. Less than 1% of revenue is generated
outside of the United States of America (U.S.). Substantially all of the Company’s long-lived assets are located in the U.S.

Basis
of
Presentation

The accompanying consolidated financial statements and footnotes thereto of the Company and its wholly owned subsidiaries have been prepared in
accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP). All intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.
Certain prior period amounts in the consolidated balance sheets, the consolidated statement of stockholders’equity (deficit), the consolidated statement of cash
flows and Note 3 have been reclassified to conform to the current presentation.

The accompanying consolidated balance sheets present the current assets and current liabilities directly related to the processing of human resources
transactions as WSE-related assets and WSE-related liabilities, respectively. WSE-related assets consist of cash and investments restricted for current workers
compensation claim payments, payroll funds collected, accounts receivable, unbilled service revenues, and refundable or prepaid amounts related to the Company-
sponsored workers compensation and health plan programs. WSE-related liabilities consist of client prepayments, wages and payroll taxes accrued and payable,
and liabilities related to the Company-sponsored workers compensation and health plan programs resulting from workers compensation case reserves, premium
amounts due to providers for enrolled employees, and workers compensation and health reserves that are expected to be disbursed within the next 12 months.

Use
of
Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect certain reported
amounts and disclosures. These estimates include, but are not limited to, allowances for accounts receivable, workers compensation-related assets and liabilities,
health plan assets and liabilities, recoverability of goodwill and other intangible assets, income taxes, stock-based compensation and other contingent liabilities.
Such estimates are based on historical experience and on various other assumptions that Company management believes to be reasonable under the circumstances.
Actual results could differ from those estimates.
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Revenue
Recognition

Professional service revenues represent fees charged to clients for processing HR transactions on behalf of the Company’s clients, such as payroll payments
and remitting employment tax withholding amounts, providing access to the Company’s HR expertise, including HR templates, best practices, and interactions
with our HR professionals, providing labor, employment and benefit law compliance services to assist clients in avoiding or reducing liability and exposure and
providing additional services, including recruiting or other services, to support various stages of clients’ growth. Professional service revenues are recognized in
the period the services are rendered and earned under service arrangements with clients where service fees are fixed or determinable and collectability is
reasonably assured.

Insurance service revenues consist of insurance-related billings and administrative fees collected from clients and withheld from WSEs for Company-
sponsored, risk-based, fully-insured insurance plans provided through third-party insurance carriers, primarily employee health benefit insurance and workers
compensation insurance. Insurance service revenues are recognized in the period amounts are due and collectability is reasonably assured.

The professional service revenues and insurance service revenues are each considered separate units of accounting and the associated fees and insurance
premiums are billed as such for the majority of the Company’s clients. For clients billed through a bundled invoice, the selling price of significant deliverables is
determined based on the best estimate of the selling price.

The Company is not the primary obligor for payroll and payroll tax payments and, therefore, these payments are not reflected as either revenue or expense.
The gross payroll and payroll tax payments made on behalf of the clients, combined, were $30.6 billion , $25.6 billion and $17.6 billion for the years ended
December 31, 2015 , 2014 , and 2013 , respectively.

The Company records a liability relating to work performed by WSEs but unpaid at the end of each period in the period in which the WSEs perform work,
along with the related receivable for the same period. The Company generally charges an upfront non-refundable set-up fee for which the performance of
onboarding services is not a discrete earnings event, and therefore the revenue is recognized on a straight-line basis over the estimated average client tenure.

Insurance
Costs

Insurance premiums paid to the insurance carriers for the insurance coverage for clients and WSEs and the reimbursements paid to the insurance carriers or
third-party administrators for claims payments made on the Company’s behalf within its insurance deductible layer, where applicable, are included in cost and
operating expenses as insurance costs.

Workers
Compensation
Insurance
Reserves

Workers compensation insurance reserves are established to provide for the estimated ultimate costs of paying claims within the deductible layer in
accordance with workers compensation insurance policies. These reserves include estimates for reported losses, plus amounts for those claims incurred but not
paid, and estimates of certain expenses associated with processing and settling the claims. In establishing the workers compensation insurance reserves, the
Company uses an independent actuarial estimate of undiscounted future cash payments that would be made to settle the claims. In the Company's experience, plan
years related to workers compensation programs may take up to 10 years or more to be settled.

In estimating these reserves, the Company utilizes historical loss experience, exposure data, and actuarial judgment, together with a range of inputs which
are primarily based upon the WSE job responsibilities, their location, the historical frequency and severity of workers compensation claims, and an estimate of
future cost trends. All of these components could materially impact the reserves as reported in the consolidated financial statements. For each reporting period,
changes in the actuarial assumptions resulting from changes in actual claims experience and other trends are incorporated into the workers compensation claims
cost estimates. Accordingly, final claim settlements may vary materially from the present estimates, particularly when those payments may not occur until well into
the future.

The Company regularly reviews the adequacy of workers compensation insurance reserves. Adjustments to previously established reserves are reflected in
the results of operations for the period in which the adjustment is identified. Such adjustments could be significant, reflecting any variety of new and adverse or
favorable trends. Any unexpected increases in the severity or frequency of claims could result in material adverse effects to the operating results.

The Company does not discount loss reserves accrued under these programs. Claim costs expected to be paid within one year are recorded as accrued
workers compensation costs and included in short-term worksite employee related liabilities or
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short term worksite related assets if funds are held by third parties to cover the claims, while costs expected to be paid beyond one year are included in long-term
liabilities or long term workers compensation receivables if funds are held by third parties to cover the claims on the consolidated balance sheets. Assets held by
third parties to cover claim liabilities remain restricted until the plan year to which they relate are settled.

At policy inception, annual premiums are estimated based on projected wages over the duration of the policy period. As actual wages are realized, the
amounts paid for premiums may differ from the estimates recorded by the Company, creating an asset or liability throughout the policy year. Such differences
could have a material effect on the Company’s consolidated financial position and results of operations.

Health
Benefits

Health benefits insurance reserves are established to provide for the estimated costs of reimbursing the carriers for paying claims within the deductible layer
in accordance with health insurance policies. These reserves include estimates for reported losses, plus estimates for claims incurred but not reported. Reserves are
determined regularly by the Company based upon a number of factors, including but not limited to actuarial calculations, current and historical claims payment
patterns, plan enrollment and medical trend rates. Ultimate health insurance reserves may vary in subsequent years from the amounts estimated. As of
December 31, 2015 and 2014 , liability reserves of $113.2 million and $82.1 million , respectively, were recorded within health benefits payable and are included
in WSE-related liabilities in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets.

Under certain contracts, based on plan performance, the Company may be entitled to receive refunds of premiums. We estimate these refunds based on
premium and claims data and record these within prepaid health plan expenses and are included in WSE-related assets on the consolidated balance sheet. As of
December 31, 2015 and 2014 , the Company had $6.8 million and $4.9 million , respectively, as prepaid health plan expenses included within WSE-related assets.

Cash
and
Cash
Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include bank deposits and short-term, highly liquid investments. Investments with original maturity dates of three months or less
are considered cash equivalents.

Investments

The Company classifies its investments as available-for-sale and are carried at fair value. Unrealized gains and losses are reported as a component of
accumulated other comprehensive income. The amortized cost of debt securities is adjusted for amortization of premiums and accretion of discounts from the date
of purchase to maturity or sale. Such amortization is included in interest income as an addition to or deduction from the coupon interest earned on the investments.
The Company uses the specific identification method of determining the cost basis in computing realized gains and losses on the sale of its available-for-sale
securities. Realized gains and losses are included in other income in the accompanying consolidated statement of operations.

The Company assesses whether an other-than-temporary impairment loss has occurred due to declines in fair value or other market conditions. With respect
to debt securities, this assessment takes into account our current intent to sell, or not sell, the security, and whether it is more likely than not that we will not be
required to sell the security before recovery of its amortized cost.

Accounts
Receivable

The Company’s accounts receivable, which represent outstanding gross billings to clients, are reported net of an allowance for doubtful accounts. The
Company establishes an allowance for doubtful accounts based on historical experience, the age of the accounts receivable balances, credit quality of clients,
current economic conditions and other factors that may affect clients’ ability to pay, and charges off amounts when they are deemed uncollectible.

Property
and
Equipment

The Company records property and equipment at historical cost and computes depreciation using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of
the assets or the lease terms, generally three to five years for software and office
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equipment, five to seven years for furniture and fixtures, and the shorter of the asset life or the remaining lease term for leasehold improvements. The Company
expenses the cost of maintenance and repairs as incurred and capitalizes betterments.

Internal
Use
Software

The Company capitalizes internal and external costs incurred to develop internal-use computer software during the application development stage.
Application development stage costs include license fees paid to third-parties for software use, software configuration, coding, and installation. Capitalized costs
are amortized on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful life, typically ranging from three to five years, commencing when the software is placed into
service. The Company expenses costs incurred during the preliminary project stage, as well as general and administrative, overhead, maintenance and training
costs, and costs that do not add functionality to existing systems. For the years ended December 31, 2015 , 2014 and 2013 , internally developed software costs
capitalized were $11.2 million , $6.3 million and $3.3 million respectively.

Goodwill
and
Other
Intangible
Assets

The Company’s goodwill and identifiable intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are not amortized, but instead are tested for impairment on an annual
basis or when an event occurs or circumstances change in a way to indicate that there has been a potential decline in the fair value of the reporting unit. Impairment
is determined by comparing the estimated fair value of the reporting unit to its carrying amount, including goodwill. The Company’s business is largely
homogeneous and, as a result, all goodwill is associated with the Company’s one reportable segment.

Intangible assets with finite useful lives include purchased client lists, trade names, developed technologies, and contractual agreements. Intangible assets
are amortized over their respective estimated useful lives ranging from two to six years using either the straight-line method or an accelerated method. Intangible
assets are reviewed for indicators of impairment at least annually and evaluated for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the
carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable. Based on the results of the Company’s reviews, no impairment loss was recognized in the results of operations
for the years ended December 31, 2015 , 2014 and 2013 .

Annually, the Company performs a qualitative assessment to determine whether it is more likely than not that the fair value of the reporting unit has
declined below carrying value. This assessment considers various financial, macroeconomic, industry, and reporting unit specific qualitative factors. The Company
performs its annual impairment testing in its fiscal fourth quarter. Based on the results of the Company’s reviews, no impairment loss was recognized in the results
of operations for the years ended December 31, 2015 , 2014 and 2013 .

Impairment
of
Long-Lived
Assets

The Company evaluates its long-lived assets for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may
not be recoverable. An asset is considered impaired if the carrying amount exceeds the undiscounted future net cash flows the asset is expected to generate. An
impairment charge is recognized for the amount by which the carrying amount of the assets exceeds its fair value. Assets to be disposed of are reported at the lower
of the carrying amount or fair value, less selling costs.

Advertising
Costs

The Company expenses the costs of producing advertisements at the time production occurs, and expenses the cost of running advertisements in the period
in which the advertising space or airtime is used as sales and marketing expense. Advertising costs were $8.2 million , $7.3 million , and $7.5 million for the years
ended December 31, 2015 , 2014 and 2013 , respectively.

Stock-Based
Compensation

The Company has issued three types of stock-based awards to employees: restricted stock units, stock options and employee stock purchase plan.
Compensation expense associated with restricted stock units is based on the fair value of common stock on the date of grant. Compensation expense associated
with stock options and employee stock purchase plan are based on the estimated grant date fair value method using the Black-Scholes valuation model. Expense is
recognized using a straight-line amortization method over the respective vesting period for awards that are ultimately expected to vest. Accordingly, stock-based
compensation has been reduced for estimated forfeitures. When estimating forfeitures, the Company
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considers voluntary termination behaviors as well as trends of actual option forfeitures. A tax benefit from stock-based compensation is recognized in equity to the
extent that an incremental tax benefit is realized.

Income
Taxes

The Company recognizes deferred tax assets and liabilities for estimated future tax effects based on differences between the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities for financial reporting purposes and amounts used for income tax purposes under current tax laws. Deferred tax expense results from the change in the
net liability for deferred income taxes between periods.

The Company maintains a reserve for uncertain tax positions. The Company evaluates tax positions taken or expected to be taken in a tax return for
recognition in its consolidated financial statements. Prior to recording the related tax benefit in the consolidated financial statements, the Company must conclude
that tax positions are more likely than not to be sustained, assuming those positions will be examined by taxing authorities with full knowledge of all relevant
information. The benefit recognized in the consolidated financial statements is the amount the Company expects to realize after examination by taxing authorities.
If a tax position drops below the more likely than not standard, the benefit can no longer be recognized. Assumptions, judgment and the use of estimates are
required in determining if the more likely than not standard has been met when developing the provision for income taxes and in determining the expected benefit.
A change in the assessment of the more likely than not standard could materially impact the Company’s results of operations or financial position. The Company
recognizes interest and penalties related to uncertain tax positions as a component of income tax expense.

Concentrations
of
Credit
Risk

Financial instruments that subject the Company to concentrations of credit risk include cash and cash equivalents, investments, restricted cash and restricted
investments (including payroll funds collected), accounts receivable, and amounts due from insurance carriers. The Company maintains its cash and cash
equivalents, investments, restricted cash and restricted investments (including payroll funds collected) principally in domestic financial institutions and performs
periodic evaluations of the relative credit standing of these institutions. The Company’s exposure to credit risk in the event of default by the financial institutions
holding these funds is limited to amounts currently held by the institution in excess of insured amounts.

Under the terms of professional services agreements, clients agree to maintain sufficient funds or other satisfactory credit at all times to cover the cost of its
current payroll, all accrued paid time off, vacation or sick leave balances, and other vested wage and benefit obligations for all their work site employees. The
Company generally requires payment from its clients on or before the applicable payroll date.

For certain clients, the Company requires an indemnity guarantee payment (IGP) supported by a letter of credit, bond, or a certificate of deposit from certain
financial institutions. The IGP typically equals the total payroll and service fee for one average payroll period.

As of December 31, 2015 and December 31, 2014 , one client accounted for 12% of accounts receivable. No client accounted for more than 10% of total
revenues in the years ended December 31, 2015 , 2014 and 2013 . Bad debt expense, net of recoveries was $2.0 million , $1.4 million and $0.6 million for the years
ended December 31, 2015 , 2014 and 2013 , respectively.

Recent
Accounting
Pronouncements

In February 2016, the Financial Accounting Standards Board, or (FASB), issued Accounting Standards Update (ASU) 2016-02— Leases.
The amendment
requires that lease arrangements longer than 12 months result in an entity recognizing an asset and liability. The amendment is effective for annual reporting
periods, and interim periods within those years beginning after December 15, 2018. Early adoption is permitted. The Company is currently in the process of
evaluating the impact of the adoption of this standard on its consolidated financial statements.

In January 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-01— Recognition
and
Measurement
of
Financial
Assets
and
Financial
Liabilities
. The amendment addresses
various aspects of the recognition, measurement, presentation, and disclosure for financial instruments. The amendment is effective for annual reporting periods,
and interim periods within those years beginning after December 15, 2017. Early adoption by public entities is permitted only for certain provisions. The Company
is currently in the process of evaluating the impact of the adoption of this standard on its consolidated financial statements.

In November 2015, the FASB issued ASU 2015-17— Balance
Sheet
Classification
of
Deferred
Taxes
, as part of its initiative to reduce complexity in
accounting standards (the Simplification Initiative). The amendment requires that deferred tax liabilities and assets be classified as noncurrent in a classified
statement of financial position. The amendment is effective for
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fiscal years, and interim periods within those fiscal years, beginning after December 15, 2016. Early adoption is permitted. The Company adopted this guidance in
2015 with retrospective application. See Note 11 for further details.

In April 2015, the FASB issued ASU 2015-05— Intangibles—Goodwill
and
Other—Internal-Use
Software
, as part of the Simplification Initiative. The
amendment provides guidance to clarify the customer’s accounting for fees paid in a cloud computing arrangement. The amendment is effective for fiscal years,
and interim periods within those fiscal years, beginning after December 15, 2015. Early adoption is permitted. The Company expects to adopt this guidance in
2016. The Company does not expect this guidance to have a material effect on its consolidated financial statements.

In April 2015, the FASB issued ASU 2015-03— Interest—Imputation
of
Interest,
as part of its Simplification Initiative. The amendment requires that debt
issuance costs related to a recognized debt liability be presented in the balance sheet as a direct deduction from the carrying amount of that debt liability, consistent
with debt discounts. The amendment is effective for fiscal years, and interim periods within those fiscal years, beginning after December 15, 2015. Early adoption
is permitted for financial statements that have not been previously issued. The Company expects to adopt this guidance in 2016. The Company does not expect this
guidance to have a material effect on its consolidated financial statements.

In August 2014, the FASB issued ASU 2014-15— Presentation
of
Financial
Statements—Going
Concern
( Subtopic
205-40),
which addresses
management’s responsibility to evaluate whether there is substantial doubt about an entity’s ability to continue as a going concern and to provide related footnote
disclosures. Management’s evaluation should be based on relevant conditions and events that are known and reasonably knowable at the date that the financial
statements are issued. The standard will be effective for the first interim period within annual reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2016. Early adoption
is permitted. The Company does not expect to adopt this guidance early and does not believe that the adoption of this guidance will have a material effect on its
consolidated financial statements.

In June 2014, the FASB issued ASU 2014-12— Compensation
— Stock
Compensation
, which requires that a performance target that affects vesting and
that could be achieved after the requisite service period be treated as a performance condition. ASU 2014-12 is effective for annual reporting periods, and interim
periods within those years, beginning after December 15, 2015. Early adoption is permitted. The amendments may be applied prospectively to all awards granted
or modified after the effective date or retrospectively to all awards with performance targets that are outstanding as of the beginning of the earliest annual period
presented . The Company does not expect this guidance to have a material effect on its consolidated financial statements. The Company expects to adopt this
guidance in 2016.

In May 2014, the FASB issued ASU 2014-09— Revenue
from
Contracts
with
Customers
, which will replace most existing revenue recognition guidance
under GAAP. The core principle of the guidance is that an entity should recognize revenue to depict the transfer of promised goods or services to customers in an
amount that reflects the consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services. The standard provides a five-step analysis
of transactions to determine when and how revenue is recognized. In July 2015, the FASB deferred the effective date to annual reporting periods, and interim
periods within those years, beginning after December 15, 2017. Early adoption at the original effective date of December 15, 2016 is permitted. The amendments
may be applied retrospectively or as a cumulative-effect adjustment as of the date of adoption. The Company has not yet selected a method of adoption and is
currently evaluating the effect that the amendments will have on the consolidated financial statements.
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NOTE 2. WORKSITE EMPLOYEE-RELATED ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

The following schedule presents the components of the Company’s WSE-related assets and WSE-related liabilities (in thousands):

 December 31, 2015  
December 31, 

2014
Worksite employee-related assets:    

Restricted cash $ 92,917  $ 64,890

Restricted investments 3,819  4,555

Payroll funds collected 859,322  1,336,994

Unbilled revenue, net of advance collections of $11,875
   and $113,190 at December 31, 2015 and December 31, 2014,
   respectively 213,837  203,599
Accounts receivable, net of allowance for doubtful accounts of
   $1,158 and $388 at December 31, 2015 and December 31, 2014,
   respectively 5,060  5,193
Prepaid health plan expenses 8,088  4,932

Refundable workers compensation premiums 2,428  7,975

Prepaid workers compensation expenses 744  1,256

Other payroll assets 187,171  5,742

Total worksite employee-related assets $ 1,373,386  $ 1,635,136

Worksite employee-related liabilities:    

Unbilled wages accrual $ 202,396  $ 292,906

Payroll taxes payable 883,608  1,119,427

Health benefits payable 128,028  104,220

Customer prepayments 57,758  53,770

Workers compensation payable 66,174  36,778

Other payroll deductions 31,533  23,454

Total worksite employee-related liabilities $ 1,369,497  $ 1,630,555

Other payroll assets and payroll taxes payable above include a receivable due from one client at December 31, 2015 for $181 million related to an end of
year payroll tax liability for which funding was received in January 2016.  

Payroll taxes payable, workers compensation payable and health benefits payable also include the related amounts of approximately 2,500 Company
employees.

NOTE 3. WORKERS COMPENSATION

The Company has agreements with various insurance carriers to provide workers compensation insurance coverage for worksite employees, including
programs where either the Company or the carrier retains custody of claim deposits paid by the Company. Insurance carriers are responsible for administrating and
paying claims. The Company is responsible for reimbursing each carrier up to a deductible limit per occurrence. In cases where the carriers retain custody, any
excess deposits held by the carrier can be returned to the Company over time, based on terms defined within the respective agreements.

The following summarizes the activities in the balance sheet for unpaid claims and claims adjustment expenses within workers compensation assets and
liabilities (in thousands):
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 Year Ended December 31,

 2015  2014

Programs where assets are held by the Company to cover claims liabilities    
Liability for unpaid claims and claims adjustment at beginning of period $ 92,406  $ 58,610

    
Incurred related to:    

Current year 88,438  61,669

Prior years 4,880  (4,725)

Total incurred 93,318  56,944

Paid related to:    
Current year (16,076)  (11,003)

Prior years (30,453)  (12,145)

Total paid (46,529)  (23,148)

    
Reclassification from workers compensation receivable 5,045  —

Liability for unpaid claims and claims adjustment at end of period $ 144,240  $ 92,406

    
Programs where assets are held by third parties to cover claims liabilities    
Liability for unpaid claims and claims adjustment at the beginning of period $ 55,628  $ 62,129

Incurred related to:    
 Current year 699  1,708

 Prior years 21,511  20,126

Total incurred 22,210  21,834

Paid related to:    
 Current year (300)  (2,083)

 Prior years (26,631)  (26,252)

Total paid (26,931)  (28,335)

    
Reclassification to workers compensation liability (5,045)  —

Liability for unpaid claims and claims adjustment at end of period $ 45,862  $ 55,628

    
Total liability for unpaid claims and claims adjustment at end of period 190,102  148,034

    
Assets held by third parties to cover claim liabilities (58,522)  (95,372)

Workers compensation premiums and other liabilities 9,455  19,820

Other workers compensation assets (1,012)  (136)

Total net workers compensation liabilities $ 140,023  $ 72,346

    
Location on Consolidated Balance Sheet:    
Workers compensation liabilities    

Current portion included in worksite employee-related liability $ 66,174  $ 36,778

Long term portion 105,481  75,448

Total $ 171,655  $ 112,226

    
Workers compensation receivables    

Current portion included in worksite employee-related asset $ 2,428  $ 7,975

Long term portion 29,204  31,905
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Total $ 31,632  $ 39,880
Incurred claims related to prior years represent changes in estimates for ultimate losses on workers compensation claims.

Under the terms of certain agreements with workers compensation insurance carriers, the Company collects and holds premiums in restricted accounts
pending claims payments by the claims administrator. As of December 31, 2015 and December 31, 2014 , such restricted amounts of $49.8 million and $36.5
million , respectively, are presented as restricted cash and restricted investments within WSE-related assets in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets. In
addition, at December 31, 2015 and December 31, 2014 , $101.8 million and $69.4 million , respectively, are presented as restricted long-term cash and
investments. Assets held by third parties to cover claim liabilities represents prefunded claim obligations paid to carriers in excess of estimated total claim
liabilities, which will be applied to incurred claims. The funds remain restricted until the plan year to which they relate are settled.

The reclassification from workers compensation receivable to workers compensation liability resulted from the return of collateral to the Company
following a negotiated amendment of the underlying contract with a carrier.

NOTE 4. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS

Periodically, as part of the Company’s strategic objectives, the Company may acquire other companies or may acquire strategic technologies which may be
considered an acquisition of a business.  During the  year ended December 31, 2015 , the Company’s strategic acquisition activity resulted in the payment of
aggregate purchase consideration of approximately  $4.8 million , consisting solely of cash. The purchase price for each business combination is allocated to
tangible and identifiable intangible assets acquired and liabilities assumed based on the fair value at the date of purchase. Purchase price in excess of the
identifiable assets and liabilities is recorded as goodwill. The allocation of the aggregate purchase consideration resulted in intangible assets of  $4.4 million  and
goodwill of  $0.4 million . The intangible assets have a useful life of 5 years. The consolidated financial statements include the operating results of strategic
acquisitions considered to be a business since the respective date of the acquisition. Pro forma results of operations have not been presented as the acquisition
activity is not material to the Company. All acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred and recorded in operating expenses. The Company includes
operations associated with acquisitions from the date of acquisition.

The Company made no acquisitions during 2014. In 2013, the Company acquired 100% of the outstanding equity of Ambrose Employer Group, LLC
(Ambrose) for $195.0 million . Ambrose contributed revenues of $134.5 million and net income of $1.6 million to the Company from July 1, 2013 to December
31, 2013.

NOTE 5. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT, NET

Property and equipment, net, consist of the following (in thousands):

 
December 31, 

2015  
December 31, 

2014
Software $ 64,727  $ 53,349
Office equipment, including data processing equipment 20,044  18,550
Leasehold improvements 9,874  7,092
Furniture, fixtures, and equipment 7,911  6,450
Projects in progress 7,407  6,786
 109,963  92,227
Accumulated depreciation (72,119)  (59,929)
Property and equipment, net $ 37,844  $ 32,298

 
Software and furniture, fixtures, and equipment include amounts for assets under capital leases of $0.2 million and $1.4 million at December 31, 2015 and

December 31, 2014 , respectively. Accumulated depreciation of these assets was de minimis and $0.9 million at December 31, 2015 and December 31, 2014 ,
respectively. Amortization of assets held under capital leases is included with depreciation expense in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations.

Projects in progress consist primarily of software development costs. The Company capitalizes software development costs intended for internal use. The
Company recognized depreciation expense for capitalized internally developed software of $5.4 million , $5.2 million , and $4.5 million for the years ended
December 31, 2015 , 2014 and 2013 , respectively. Accumulated depreciation for these assets was $34.5 million and $29.4 million at December 31, 2015 and 2014
, respectively. The Company periodically assesses the likelihood of unsuccessful completion of projects in progress, as well as monitoring events or changes in
circumstances, which might suggest that impairment has occurred and recoverability should be evaluated. An impairment
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loss is recognized if the carrying amount of the asset is not recoverable and exceeds the future net cash flows expected to be generated by the asset. Due to
significant changes in the extent and manner in which assets were expected to be used, the Company recognized losses of $0.4 million , $0.9 million and $0.8
million for the years ended December 31, 2015 , 2014 and 2013 , respectively, and included these charges in depreciation expense in the accompanying
consolidated statements of operations.

NOTE 6. GOODWILL AND OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS

The following schedule summarizes goodwill and other intangible assets (in thousands):

 December 31, 2015

 
Weighted Average

Amortization Period  
Gross Carrying

Amount  
Accumulated
Amortization  

Net
Carrying Amount

Goodwill  $ 289,207  $ —  $ 289,207
Amortizable intangibles:        

Customer contracts 5 years  209,850  (167,968)  41,882
Trademark 3 years  16,900  (16,467)  433
Developed technology 5 years  5,400  (1,173)  4,227
Noncompete agreements 3 years  1,940  (1,710)  230

 5 years  234,090  (187,318)  46,772
Total   $ 523,297  $ (187,318)  $ 335,979

 December 31, 2014

 
Weighted Average

Amortization Period  
Gross Carrying

Amount  
Accumulated
Amortization  

Net
Carrying Amount

Goodwill —  $ 288,857  $ —  $ 288,857
Amortizable intangibles:        

Customer contracts 5 years  209,850  (134,454)  75,396
Trademark 3 years  16,900  (11,761)  5,139
Developed technology 5 years  1,000  (533)  467
Noncompete agreements 3 years  1,940  (1,224)  716

 5 years  229,690  (147,972)  81,718
Total   $ 518,547  $ (147,972)  $ 370,575

Amortization expense related to amortizable intangibles in future periods as of December 31, 2015 is expected to be as follows (in thousands):

Year ending December 31:  
2016 $ 19,255
2017 17,497
2018 8,700
2019 880

2020 and thereafter 440
Total $ 46,772
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NOTE 7. MARKETABLE SECURITIES AND FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

The Company’s noncurrent restricted cash and investments include $63.1 million of available-for-sale marketable securities and $38.7 million of cash
collateral at December 31, 2015 . The Company’s restricted investments within WSE-related assets include $2.3 million of certificates of deposit and $1.5 million
of available-for-sale marketable securities as of December 31, 2015 . The available-for-sale marketable securities as of December 31, 2015 and December 31, 2014
consist of the following (in thousands):

 Amortized Cost  Gross Unrealized Gains  
Gross Unrealized

Losses  Estimated Fair Value
December 31, 2015:        

U.S. treasuries $ 64,226  $ 9  $ (144)  $ 64,091
Mutual funds 500  4  —  504

Total investments $ 64,726  $ 13  $ (144)  $ 64,595

December 31, 2014:        
U.S. treasuries $ 50,075  $ 22  $ (15)  $ 50,082
Mutual funds 500  6  —  506

Total investments $ 50,575  $ 28  $ (15)  $ 50,588

 
There were no realized gains or losses for the year ended December 31, 2015 and 2014 . As of December 31, 2015 and December 31, 2014 , the contractual

maturities of the U.S. treasuries were one to four years.

As of December 31, 2015 , certain of the Company’s U.S. treasuries were in an unrealized loss position. Unrealized losses are principally due to changes in
interest rates. In analyzing an issuer’s financial condition, the Company considers whether the securities are issued by the federal government or its agencies,
whether downgrades by bond rating agencies have occurred, and industry analysts’ reports. The fair value of these securities in an unrealized loss position
represented 81% and 59% of the total fair value of all securities available for sale as of December 31, 2015 and December 31, 2014 , respectively, and their
unrealized losses were $0.1 million and de minimis as of December 31, 2015 and December 31, 2014 . As the Company has the ability and intent to hold debt
securities until maturity, or for the foreseeable future as classified as available for sale, no decline was deemed to be other-than-temporary.

Fair value is an exit price, representing the amount that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between
market participants. As such, fair value is a market-based measurement that should be determined based on assumptions that market participants would use in
pricing an asset or a liability.

As a basis for considering such assumptions, the Company uses a three-tier value hierarchy, which prioritizes the inputs used in measuring fair value as
follows:

• Level I—observable inputs such as quoted prices in active markets

• Level II—inputs other than the quoted prices in active markets that are observable either directly or indirectly

• Level III—unobservable inputs in which there is little or no market data, which requires the Company to develop its own assumptions

This hierarchy requires the Company to use observable market data when available and to minimize the use of unobservable inputs when determining fair
value.
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The following table summarizes the Company’s financial assets measured at fair value on a recurring basis (in thousands):

 
Total

Fair Value  Level I  Level II  Level III
December 31, 2015:        

Certificates of deposit $ 2,319  $ 2,319  $ —  $ —
U.S. treasuries 64,091  64,091  —  —
Mutual funds 504  504  —  —

Total $ 66,914  $ 66,914  $ —  $ —

December 31, 2014:        
Certificates of deposit $ 2,318  $ 2,318  $ —  $ —
U.S. treasuries 50,082  50,082  —  —
Mutual funds 506  506  —  —
Interest rate cap 1  —  1  —

Total $ 52,907  $ 52,906  $ 1  $ —

 
There were no transfers between Level I and Level II assets during the years December 31, 2015 or December 31, 2014 .

As of December 31, 2015 and December 31, 2014 , certificates of deposit consisted of certificates of deposit held by domestic financial institutions, which
are presented as restricted investments within WSE-related assets in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets.

The carrying value of the Company’s financial instruments not measured at fair value, including cash, restricted cash, WSE-related assets and liabilities,
line of credit and accrued corporate wages, approximates fair value due to the relatively short maturity, cash repayments or market interest rates of such
instruments. The fair value of such financial instruments, other than cash and restricted cash, is determined using the income approach based on the present value
of estimated future cash flows. The fair value of all of these instruments would be categorized as Level II of the fair value hierarchy, with the exception of cash and
cash equivalents, which would be categorized as Level I.

At December 31, 2015 and December 31, 2014 , the carrying value of the Company’s notes payable of $499.6 million and $544.9 million , respectively,
approximated fair value. The estimated fair values of the Company’s notes payable are considered a Level II valuation in the hierarchy for fair value measurement
and are based on a cash flow model discounted at market interest rates that considers the underlying risks of unsecured debt.

NOTE 8. NOTES PAYABLE AND BORROWINGS UNDER CAPITAL LEASES

The following schedule summarizes the components of the Company’s notes payable and borrowings under capital leases balances (in thousands):

 
December 31, 

2015  
December 31, 

2014
Notes payable under credit facility $ 499,563  $ 544,875
Capital leases 153  275
Less current portion (35,326)  (20,738)
 $ 464,390  $ 524,412

 
In March 2014, the proceeds from the Company’s initial public offering (IPO) were used to fully repay its existing $190.0 million second lien credit facility,

which resulted in a prepayment premium of $3.8 million , and to repay $25.0 million of its existing first lien tranche B-1 term loan. Additionally, the remaining
balance of the loan fees associated with the second lien credit facility and a portion of the loan fees associated with the first lien credit facility were fully amortized
in March 2014 for a charge of $5.0 million . In May 2014, the Company repaid $25.0 million of the first lien tranche B-1 term loan. As a result, a portion of the
loan fees associated with the first lien credit facility was fully amortized in May 2014 for a charge of $0.5 million .

In July 2014, the Company amended and restated its first lien credit facility pursuant to an amended and restated first lien credit agreement (the Amended
and Restated Credit Agreement). The Amended and Restated Credit Agreement provides
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for: (i)  $375 million principal amount of tranche A term loans, (ii)  $200 million principal amount of tranche B term loans, and (iii) a revolving credit facility of
$75 million . The proceeds of the tranche A term loans were used to refinance in part the tranche B-2 term loans outstanding under the original first lien credit
facility. The proceeds of the tranche B term loans were used to (i) refinance the remaining tranche B-2 term loans outstanding under the original first lien credit
facility, (ii) refinance other amounts outstanding under the original first lien credit facility and (iii) pay fees and expenses related thereto. The revolving credit
facility replaced the revolving credit facility under the original first lien credit facility.

The tranche A term loans and the revolving credit facility will mature on July 9, 2019 . The tranche B term loans will mature on July 9, 2017 . Loans under
the revolving credit facility are expected to be used for working capital and other general corporate purposes.

The tranche A term loans and loans under the revolving credit facility bear interest, at the Company’s option, at a rate equal to either the LIBOR rate, plus
an applicable margin equal to 2.75% per annum, or the prime lending rate, plus an applicable margin equal to 1.75% per annum. The applicable margins for the
tranche A term loans and loans under the revolving credit facility are subject to specified rate adjustments of 0.25% , based upon the Company’s total leverage
ratio. The tranche B term loans bear interest, at the Company’s option, at a rate equal to either the LIBOR rate, plus an applicable margin equal to 2.75% per
annum or the prime lending rate, plus an applicable margin equal to 1.75% per annum. The Company is required to pay a commitment fee of 0.50% , subject to
decrease to 0.375% based on its total leverage ratio, on the daily unused amount of the commitments under the revolving credit facility, as well as fronting fees and
other customary fees for letters of credit issued under the revolving credit facility.

The Company is permitted to make voluntary prepayments at any time without payment of a premium. The Company is required to make mandatory
prepayments of term loans (without payment of a premium) with (i) net cash proceeds from issuances of debt (other than certain permitted debt), (ii) net cash
proceeds from certain non-ordinary course asset sales and casualty and condemnation proceeds (subject to reinvestment rights and other exceptions), and (iii)
beginning with the fiscal year ending December 31, 2015 , 50% of its excess cash flow (subject to decrease to (x) 25% if its total leverage ratio as of the last day of
such fiscal year is less than 3.75 to 1.0 and equal to or greater than 3.00 to 1.0, and (y) 0% if the total leverage ratio as of the last day of such fiscal year is less than
3.00 to 1.0), provided that the Company may defer prepayments based on excess cash flow to the extent such payments would result in the working capital being
less than $10 million (after giving effect to such prepayments).

The tranche A term loans will be repaid in equal quarterly installments in an aggregate annual amount equal to: (i) beginning on December 31, 2014 to
December 31, 2016 , 5% of the original principal amount thereof, (ii) beginning on December 31, 2016 to December 31, 2018 , 7.5% of the original principal
amount thereof, and (iii) beginning on December 31, 2018 to June 30, 2019 , 10% of the original principal amount thereof with any remaining balance payable on
the final maturity date of the tranche A term loans. The tranche B term loans will be repaid in equal quarterly installments in an aggregate annual amount equal to
1% of the principal amount thereof, with any remaining balance payable on the final maturity date of the tranche B term loans.

The $75.0 million revolving credit facility includes capacity for a $40.0 million letter of credit facility and a $10.0 million swingline facility. The total
unused portion of the revolving credit facility was $59.5 million as of December 31, 2015 . In connection with the Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, the
Company incurred $11.1 million of debt issuance costs. The Company deferred $8.0 million of the costs, which are being amortized over the term of the credit
facility.  The remaining $3.1 million of costs were recorded to interest expense and bank fees.  Additionally, the Company recorded a $9.0 million loss on
extinguishment of debt to write-off deferred issuance costs associated with the original first lien credit facility, which was also recorded to interest expense and
bank fees.  The remaining $6.1 million of loan fees associated with the previous facility that was deemed to be modified continues to be amortized over the revised
remaining term of the Amended and Restated Credit Agreement.

In March 2015, the Company repaid $25.0 million of the tranche B term loan. As a result, a portion of the loan fees associated with the first lien credit
facility was fully amortized in March 2015 for a charge of $0.4 million .

The Amended and Restated Credit Agreement contains customary representations and warranties and customary affirmative and negative covenants
applicable to the Company and its subsidiaries, including, among other things, restrictions on indebtedness, liens, investments, mergers, dispositions, prepayment
of other indebtedness, and dividends and other distributions. The Amended and Restated Credit Agreement also contains financial covenants that require the
Company to maintain a minimum consolidated interest coverage ratio of at least 3.50 to 1.00 and a maximum total leverage ratio of 4.25 to 1.00 at December 31,
2015 . The Company was in compliance with the restrictive covenants under the credit facilities at
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December 31, 2015 . Despite extensive efforts, we were unable to file our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2015 within the time
frame required by the SEC (including the extension permitted by Rule 12b-25 under the Exchange Act).  As a result, we were not in compliance with our
restrictive covenant to have timely filed financial statements, but have cured this deficiency within the thirty day cure period upon filing our Annual Report. In
addition to these covenants, the Amended and Restated Credit Agreement requires, beginning with the fiscal year ending December 31, 2015, the Company to
prepay the tranche B term loan in an amount which is based on the specified excess cash flow percentage determined by the current leverage ratio. The Company
recorded a current liability of $12.7 million at December 31, 2015 in anticipation of this prepayment. The credit facility is secured by substantially all of the
Company’s assets and the assets of the borrower and of the subsidiary guarantors, other than specifically excluded assets.

NOTE 9: STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Convertible
Preferred
Stock

On June 7, 2005, the Company issued 5,391,441 shares of Series G convertible preferred stock (Series G) at $11.00 per share for an aggregate cash purchase
price of $59.3 million . The Company recorded the issuance of Series G at $59.1 million , net of issuance costs of $0.2 million . On June 1, 2009, the Company
issued 4,124,986 shares of Series H convertible preferred stock (Series H) at $16.69 per share for an aggregate cash purchase price of $68.8 million . The Company
recorded the issuance of Series H at $63.8 million , net of issuance costs of $5.0 million . Upon the issuance of Series H, certain terms related to Series G were
amended. In March 2014, upon completion of the Company’s IPO, all of the outstanding shares of Series H and Series G were converted into 38,065,708 shares of
common stock.

Common
Stock

Upon closing of the IPO on March 31, 2014, the Company issued 15,000,000 shares of common stock at a public offering price $16 per share, for an
aggregate offering price of $240.0 million , resulting in net proceeds to us of $216.8 million , after deducting underwriting discounts and commissions of
approximately $16.8 million and offering expenses of approximately $5.6 million .

In February 2014, the Company issued 91,074 shares to a member of the Board of Directors at $10.98 per share, which was the then estimated fair market
value, for an aggregate of $1.0 million in cash.

Equity-Based
Incentive
Plans

In 2000, the Company established the 2000 Equity Incentive Plan (the 2000 Plan), which provided for granting incentive stock options, nonstatutory stock
options, bonus awards and restricted stock awards to eligible employees, directors, and consultants of the Company. In December 2009, the Board of Directors
approved the 2009 Equity Incentive Plan (the 2009 Plan) as the successor to and continuation of the 2000 Plan. As of the 2009 Plan effective date, remaining
shares available for issuance under the 2000 Plan were cancelled and became available for issuance under the 2009 Plan. No additional stock awards will be
granted under the 2000 Plan. The 2009 Plan provides for the grant of the following awards to eligible employees, directors, and consultants: incentive stock
options, nonstatutory stock options, stock appreciation rights, restricted stock awards, restricted stock unit awards, performance stock awards, performance cash
awards, and other stock awards. Incentive stock options may only be granted to employees. Non-employee directors are eligible to receive nonstatutory stock
options automatically at designated intervals over their period of continuous service on the Board. The 2009 Plan, as amended, provides that the number of shares
reserved for issuance under the 2009 Plan will increase on January 1 of each year for a period of up to five years by 4.5% of the total number of shares of capital
stock outstanding on December 31 of the preceding calendar year, which will begin on January 1, 2015 and continue through January 1, 2019. On January 1, 2015,
an additional 3,141,509 shares were automatically reserved for issuance under the amended 2009 Plan.

The exercise price per share of all incentive stock options granted under the 2000 Plan and the 2009 Plan must be at least equal to the fair market value of
the shares at the date of grant as determined by the Board of Directors. Options generally have a maximum contractual term of 10 years. Incentive stock options
granted at 110% of the fair market value to stockholders who have greater than 10% ownership have a maximum term of five years. Options granted to non-
employee directors in connection with an initial election or appointment generally vest at the rate of 33% of the total options one year after the grant date and 1/36
of the total options granted monthly thereafter. All other options granted to non-employee directors generally vest 100% one year from grant date. Before 2015,
options granted to employees generally vest over four years with a one year cliff and monthly thereafter. Starting in 2015, the options granted to newly hired
employees generally vest at a rate of 25% of the total options a year after the grant date and then 1/16 of the total options granted on the 15th day of the second
month of each
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calendar quarter thereafter. All other options granted to employees generally vest at a rate of 1/16 of the total options granted on the 15th day of the second month
of each calendar quarter following the grant date.

The Company has granted restricted stock units (RSUs) to members of the Board of Directors, certain executives and employees. These RSUs represent
rights to receive shares of the Company’s common stock on satisfaction of applicable vesting conditions. The fair value of RSUs is equal to the fair value of the
Company’s common stock on the date of grant. RSUs granted to newly elected or appointed non-employee directors generally vest on the first anniversary of the
Company’s most recent annual grants. RSUs granted to non-employee directors in connection with an annual grant generally vest 100% one year from the grant
date. RSUs granted to newly hired employees generally vest at a rate of 25% of the total RSUs one year after the grant date and then 1/16 of the total RSUs granted
on the 15th day of the second month of each calendar quarter thereafter.  All other RSUs granted to employees generally vest at a rate of 1/16 of the total RSUs
granted on the 15th day of the second month of each calendar quarter following the grant date.  

In March 2015, the Company granted performance-based restricted stock units (PSUs) to its executives intended to represent 33.3% of each executive’s
annual long-term incentive compensation award value in fiscal 2015. These PSUs vest over three years based on the Company’s attainment of annual financial
performance goals as well as the executive’s continued employment through each vesting date. The number of shares that ultimately vest each year will range from
0 to 200% of the annual target amount, based on the Company’s performance. Cumulative financial performance metrics and goals are established for these awards
at the grant date and the tranche of each award related to that period’s performance goal is treated as a separate grant for accounting purposes. The financial
performance metric established for the performance awards is cumulative annual growth rate in the Company’s net service revenues. These values are being
recognized over the tranches’ 12 -month, 24 -month and 36 -month service periods. The Company began recording stock-based compensation expense for these
tranches in March 2015, when the financial performance goals were established.

Equity incentive plan activity under the 2000 Plan and the 2009 Plan is summarized as follows:

Equity Incentive Plan Activity Shares Available for Grant
Balance at December 31, 2014 2,708,524

Authorized 3,141,509

Granted (1,569,865)

Forfeited 674,786

Expired 1,250

Shares withheld for taxes and not issued 35,379

Balance at December 31, 2015 4,991,583

The following table summarizes stock option activity under the Company’s equity-based plans for the year ended December 31, 2015 :

Stock Options Activity
Number 
of Shares  

Weighted 
Average 
Exercise 

Price  

Weighted 
Average 

Remaining 
Contractual 

Term  

Aggregate 
Intrinsic 

Value 
(in thousands)

Balance at December 31, 2014 6,892,810  $ 6.13  8.22  $ 173,338

Granted 312,200  31.66     
Exercised (2,112,131)  3.44     
Forfeited (645,480)  7.84     
Expired (1,250)  10.98     

Balance at December 31, 2015 4,446,149  $ 8.96  7.56  $ 52,108

        
Exercisable at December 31, 2015 2,100,591  $ 6.20  7.16  $ 28,922
Vested and expected to vest at December 31, 2015 4,257,065  $ 8.70  7.53  $ 50,675

The weighted-average grant date fair value of stock options granted in the years ended December 31, 2015 , 2014 and 2013 was $12.73 , $7.18 and $4.11
per share, respectively. The total fair value of options vested for the years ended December 31, 2015 , 2014 and 2013 was $12.2 million , $7.5 million and $4.0
million , respectively.
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The total intrinsic value of options exercised for the years ended December 31, 2015 , 2014 and 2013 was $53.3 million , $35.1 million and $52.6 million ,
respectively. Cash received from options exercised during the years ended December 31, 2015 , 2014 and 2013 was $7.3 million , $2.2 million and $7.1 million ,
respectively.  The exercise price of all options granted was equal to the fair value of the common stock on the date of grant.

As of December 31, 2015 , unrecognized compensation expense, net of forfeitures, associated with nonvested options outstanding was $13.9 million and is
expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of 2.19 years .

The following table summarizes RSU activity under the Company’s equity-based plans for the year ended December 31, 2015 :

Restricted Stock Unit Activity Number of Units  

Weighted-Average
Grant Date
Fair Value

Nonvested at December 31, 2014 7,750  $ 13.21

Granted 1,084,379  28.73

Vested (106,136)  32.83

Forfeited (29,306)  32.70

Nonvested at December 31, 2015 956,687  $ 28.03

 
The total grant date fair value of RSUs granted in the year ended December 31, 2015 was $31.2 million . The total grant date fair value of RSUs vested in

the years ended December 31, 2015 , 2014 and 2013 was $3.5 million , $0.1 million and $0.1 million , respectively. As of December 31, 2015 , unrecognized
compensation expense, net of forfeitures, associated with the nonvested RSUs outstanding was $23.3 million , and is expected to be recognized over a weighted-
average period of 3.05 years .

During the years 2015 , 2014 and 2013 , the Company withheld 35,379 , 80,599 and 809,012 shares, respectively, to settle payroll tax liabilities resulting
from the exercises of stock options and vesting of RSUs held by the employees.

The following table summarizes PSU activity under the Company’s equity-based plans for the year ended December 31, 2015 :

Performance Based Restricted Stock Unit Activity
Number of Units  

Weighted-Average 
Grant Date 
Fair Value

Outstanding units at December 31, 2014 —  $ —

Granted 173,286  33.51

Units converted —  —

Forfeited —  —

Outstanding units at December 31, 2015 173,286  $ 33.51

The maximum total grant date fair value of PSUs granted in the year ended December 31, 2015 was $5.8 million , assuming maximum 200% performance
target is met.  As of December 31, 2015 , unrecognized compensation expense, net of forfeitures, was $0.8 million , and is expected to be recognized over a
weighted-average period of 2 years .

Employee
Stock
Purchase
Plan

The Company adopted the 2014 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (ESPP) in February 2014, which became effective on March 26, 2014. The ESPP was
approved with a reserve of 1.1 million shares of common stock for future issuance under various terms provided for in the ESPP, which will automatically increase
on January 1 of each year from 2015 through 2024 by the lesser of 1% of the total number of shares outstanding on December 31 of the preceding calendar year or
1,800,000 shares. On January 1, 2015, an additional 698,113 shares were automatically reserved for issuance under the ESPP. The Company commenced its first
purchase period under the ESPP on March 26, 2014 with a purchase price equal to the lesser of 85% of the fair market value of the common stock on the offering
date and 85% of the fair market value of the common stock on the applicable purchase date.   Offering periods are six months in duration and will end on or about
May 15 and November 15 of each year, with the exception of the initial offering period, which commenced on March 26, 2014 and ended on November 14, 2014.
Employees may contribute a minimum of 1% and a maximum of 15% of their earnings. During the year ended December 31, 2015 , employees purchased 272,836
shares under the ESPP at a price of $25.25 per share for the first
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offering period ending in 2015 and $15.71 per share for the second offering period ending in 2015 for total cash proceeds of $5.3 million .

Stock-Based
Compensation

Stock-based compensation expense of $17.9 million , $11.0 million and $6.1 million was recognized for the years ended December 31, 2015 , 2014 and
2013 , respectively. Income tax benefit of $5.7 million , $2.0 million and $4.4 million was recognized relating to stock-based compensation expense for the years
ended December 31, 2015 , 2014 and 2013 , respectively. The actual tax benefit realized from stock options exercised was $19.6 million , $13.5 million and $19.9
million for 2015 , 2014 and 2013 , respectively.

The fair value of stock-based awards is estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model with the following weighted-average
assumptions:

Stock Option Assumptions Year Ended December 31,
 2015  2014  2013

Expected term (in years) 6.08  6.05  6.04
Expected volatility 39%  58%  48%
Risk-free interest rate 1.73%  1.80%  1.26%
Expected dividend yield 0%  0%  0%

 

 

ESPP Assumptions Year Ended December 31,
 2015  2014  2013

Expected term (in years) 0.50  0.50  n/a
Expected volatility 34-76%  33-58%  n/a
Risk-free interest rate 0.07-0.33%  0.06-0.07%  n/a
Expected dividend yield 0%  0%  n/a

 
Stock-based compensation expense for stock-based awards made to the Company’s employees pursuant to the equity plans was as follows (in thousands): 

 Year Ended December 31,
 2015  2014  2013

Cost of providing services $ 4,244  $ 2,658  $ 1,193
Sales and marketing 4,490  2,755  1,284
General and administrative 7,501  4,517  3,220
Systems development and programming costs 1,688  1,030  416

 $ 17,923  $ 10,960  $ 6,113

Earnings
per
Share

Prior to its IPO, the Company’s basic and diluted earnings per share (EPS) were computed using the two-class method, an earnings allocation method that
determines earnings per share for common stock and participating securities. Shares of convertible preferred stock are considered participating securities and are
entitled to dividend, on a pro rata basis, upon redemption, as if these had been converted to common stock. The undistributed earnings are allocated between
common stock and participating securities as if all earnings had been distributed during the period.

Basic EPS is calculated by taking net income, less earnings available to participating securities, divided by the basic weighted average common stock
outstanding.

Diluted EPS is calculated using the more dilutive of the if-converted method and the two-class method. Because the preferred stock participates in dividends
on a pro rata basis as if the shares had been converted, the diluted earnings per share are the same under both methods. The two-class method has been presented
below.
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The following table sets forth the computation of the Company’s basic and diluted net income per share attributable to common stock (in thousands, except
per share data):

 Year Ended December 31,

 2015  2014  2013

Numerator (basic)      
Net income $ 31,695  $ 15,497  $ 13,147
Less net income allocated to participating securities —  (2,224)  (9,926)

Net income attributable to common stock $ 31,695  $ 13,273  $ 3,221

Denominator (basic)      
Weighted average shares of common stock outstanding 70,228  56,161  12,353

Basic EPS $ 0.45  $ 0.24  $ 0.26

Numerator (diluted)      
Net income $ 31,695  $ 15,497  $ 13,147
Less net income allocated to participating securities —  (2,114)  (9,303)

Net income attributable to common stock $ 31,695  $ 13,383  $ 3,844

Denominator (diluted)      
Weighted average shares of common stock 70,228  56,161  12,353
Dilutive effect of stock options and restricted stock units 2,390  3,406  3,379
Weighted average shares of common stock outstanding 72,618  59,567  15,732

Diluted EPS $ 0.44  $ 0.22  $ 0.24

      
Common stock equivalents excluded from income per diluted 

   share because of their anti-dilutive effect 1,004  526  1,389

Special
Dividend

In August 2013, the Board of Directors declared a special dividend of $5.88 per common-equivalent share for holders of record of the Company’s preferred
stock as of August 21, 2013 , or a total of $223.6 million , and $5.88  per share for holders of record of the Company’s common stock as of August 30, 2013 , or a
total of $87.1 million . These dividends were fully paid in August 2013 and September 2013. Dividends have also been declared to holders of restricted stock units
at $5.88 per share, or a total of $0.1 million , and are payable as the restricted stock units vest.

In December 2013, the Board of Directors declared a special dividend of $0.88 per common-equivalent share for holders of record of the Company’s
preferred stock as of December 25, 2013 , or a total of $33.3 million , and $0.88 per share for holders of record of the Company’s common stock as of
December 25, 2013 , or a total of $13.4 million . These dividends were fully paid in December 2013. Dividends have also been declared to holders of restricted
stock units at $0.88 per share and are payable as the restricted stock units vest.

As a result of the August 2013 special dividend and in accordance with the provisions of the 2009 Plan, the Company adjusted the exercise prices on all
outstanding options downward by $5.88 , exactly equal to the amount of the dividend, except in three instances in which: i) the exercise price was lower than $6.38
, ii) the holder of the incentive stock option under the 2009 Plan did not consent to the adjustment when consent was required, or iii) the incentive stock option was
under the 2000 Plan. For options that were priced lower than $6.38 , the Company adjusted the exercise price to $0.50 .

As a result of the December 2013 special dividend and in accordance with the provisions of the 2009 Plan, the Company adjusted the exercise prices on all
outstanding options downward by $0.88 , exactly equal to the amount of the dividend, except in three instances in which: i) the exercise price was lower than $1.38
, ii) the holder of the incentive stock option under the 2009 Plan did not consent to the adjustment when consent was required, or iii) the incentive stock option was
under the 2000 Plan. For options that were priced lower than $2.75 , the Company adjusted the exercise price to $0.50 .

No changes were made to the original option grant-date fair value for the purpose of recognizing ongoing stock-based compensation cost. No changes were
made to nonvested restricted stock units.

81



Stock
Repurchases

In May 2014, the Board of Directors authorized a stock repurchase program that provided for the repurchase of up to $15 million of our outstanding
common stock, with no expiration from the date of authorization. In November 2014, the Board of Directors authorized an additional $30 million stock repurchase
program, with no expiration from the date of authorization. These stock repurchase programs are intended to offset dilution resulting from the issuance of shares
under the Company’s ESPP and upon exercise of stock options. During 2014, the Company repurchased 490,419 shares of outstanding common stock for $15
million .

On June 29, 2015, the Board of Directors approved a $50.0 million incremental increase to the Company’s stock repurchase program. During the year ended
December 31, 2015 , the Company repurchased 1,895,625 shares of outstanding common stock for $48.4 million . Accordingly, as of December 31, 2015 , a total
of approximately $31.6 million remained available for further repurchases of the Company’s common stock under the Company’s stock repurchase program.

Stock
Split

On March 7, 2014, the Company’s board of directors and stockholders approved and effected an amendment to the amended and restated certificate of
incorporation providing for a 2 -for-1 stock split of the outstanding common stock, which has been retroactively adjusted for all periods presented.

NOTE 10. 401(k) PLAN

Under the Company’s 401(k) plan, corporate participants may direct the investment of contributions to their accounts among certain investments. The
Company matches individual employee 401(k) plan contributions at the rate of $0.50 for every dollar contributed by employees subject to a cap. The Company
recorded matching contributions to the 401(k) plan of $4.6 million , $3.5 million , and $2.7 million during the years ended December 31, 2015 , 2014 , and 2013 ,
respectively, which are reflected in various operating expense lines within the accompanying consolidated statements of operations.

The Company also maintains a multiple employer defined contribution plan, which covers WSEs for client companies electing to participate in the plan and
for its internal staff employees. The Company contributes, on behalf of each participating client, varying amounts based on the clients’ policies and serviced
employee elections.

NOTE 11. INCOME TAXES

The Company is subject to income taxation in the United States and Canada. However, business is conducted primarily in the United States. The effective
income tax rate differs from the statutory rate primarily due to state taxes, non-deductible stock-based compensation, and tax credits. The Company makes
estimates and judgments about its future taxable income that are based on assumptions that are consistent with the Company’s plans and estimates. Should the
actual amounts differ from these estimates, the amount of the valuation allowance could be materially affected.

Income taxes are computed using the asset and liability method, under which deferred tax assets and liabilities are determined based on the difference
between the financial statement and tax bases of assets and liabilities using enacted tax rates in effect for the year in which the differences are expected to affect
taxable income. Valuation allowances are established when necessary to reduce deferred tax assets to the amount expected to be realized. Changes in valuation
allowances are reflected as a component of provision for income taxes.
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Significant components of the Company’s deferred tax assets and liabilities are as follows (in thousands):

 Year Ended December 31,

 2015  2014

Deferred tax assets:    
Net operating losses (federal and state) $ 2,508  $ 2,996
Accrued expenses 9,908  9,381
Accrued workers compensation costs 18,823  13,964
Stock-based compensation 4,643  2,508
Tax benefits relating to uncertain positions 29  20
Tax credits (federal and state) 6,272  9,865
Other 113  354

Total 42,296  39,088
Valuation allowance (5,276)  (6,945)
Total deferred tax assets 37,020  32,143
Deferred tax liabilities:    

Depreciation and amortization (3,277)  (10,643)
Deferred service revenues (85,263)  (77,827)
Prepaid health plan expenses (3,121)  (2,202)
Total deferred tax liabilities (91,661)  (90,672)

Net non-current deferred tax liabilities $ (54,641)  $ (58,529)

In November 2015, the FASB issued ASU 2015-17, Balance
Sheet
Classification
of
Deferred
Taxes.
The Company elected to early adopt and
retrospectively apply the provisions of the amendment which resulted in reclassification of the previously reported current deferred tax liability of $65.7 million
and noncurrent deferred tax asset of $7.2 million to net against the noncurrent deferred tax liability for a total noncurrent deferred tax liability of $58.5 million for
2014.

The deferred tax assets and liabilities presented above are classified in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets as follows (in thousands):

 Year Ended December 31,

 2015  2014

Net current deferred tax liabilities $ —  $ —
Net non-current deferred tax liabilities (54,641)  (58,529)
Net current deferred tax assets —  —
Net non-current deferred tax assets —  —
Net deferred tax liabilities $ (54,641)  $ (58,529)
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The provision for income taxes consists of the following (in thousands):

 Year Ended December 31,

 2015  2014  2013

Current:      
Federal $ 9,189  $ (31,111)  $ 11,319
Foreign 378  230  217
State 3,794  4,618  3,081

 13,361  (26,263)  14,617
Deferred:      

Federal 11,528  38,297  (5,659)
Foreign (24)  —  —
State 320  2,951  (1,344)
Revaluation due to state legislative changes 3,130  2,594  323

 14,954  43,842  (6,680)
 $ 28,315  $ 17,579  $ 7,937

The U.S. federal statutory income tax rate reconciled to the Company’s effective tax rate is as follows:

 Year Ended December 31,

 2015  2014  2013

U.S. federal statutory tax rate 35.00 %  35.00 %  35.00 %
State income taxes, net of federal benefit 6.6  3.8  3.8
Tax rate change 5.2  7.8  1.5
Nondeductible transaction costs —  0.9  —
Nondeductible meals, entertainment and penalties 3.3  4.3  4.1
Stock-based compensation 1.3  4.5  (0.1)
Uncertain tax positions 0.2  0.8  (2.3)
Tax credits (2.2)  (3.6)  (4.3)
Other (2.2)  (0.3)  (0.1)
 47.20 %  53.20 %  37.60 %

Our effective income tax rate decreased from 53.2% for 2014 to 47.2% for 2015 . The decrease is primarily due to disqualifying dispositions on previously
non-deductible stock-based compensation and tax credits offset in part by increased state taxes of 2.8% due to state legislative changes. Revaluation of deferred
taxes due to state legislative changes resulted in discrete tax expense representing 5.2% , 7.8% and 1.5% of the effective tax rate for the years ended December 31,
2015, 2014 and 2013, respectively. The benefit in other tax expense of 2.2% is primarily attributable to adjustments to state net operating losses resulting from
state legislative changes.

The Company records a valuation allowance to reduce reported deferred tax assets if, based on the weight of available evidence, both positive and negative,
for each respective tax jurisdiction, it is more likely than not that some or all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized. The Company recorded a valuation
allowance of $0.6 million and $1.9 million as of December 31, 2015 and 2014 , respectively, related to certain federal and state net operating loss carryforwards
that may not be utilized prior to expiration. The Company has federal and multiple state net operating loss carryforwards of approximately $0.1 million and $60.8
million , respectively, as of December 31, 2015 . The federal net operating loss carryforward will begin expiring in 2031 and the state net operating loss
carryforward will begin expiring in 2016 . The Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, imposes substantial restrictions on the utilization of net operating
losses in the event of an “ownership change” of a corporation. Accordingly, a company’s ability to use net operating losses may be limited as prescribed under
Internal Revenue Code Section 382 (“IRC Section 382”). Events which may cause limitations in the amount of the net operating losses that the Company may use
in any one year include, but are not limited to, a cumulative ownership change of more than 50% over a
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three-year period. Due to the effects of historical equity issuances, the Company has determined that the future utilization of a portion of its net operating losses is
limited annually pursuant to IRC Section 382. As of December 31, 2015 , the Company has determined that a portion of its state net operating losses in the amount
of $2.7 million , will expire because of the annual limitation.

The Company has excluded excess windfall tax benefits resulting from stock option exercises as components of the Company’s gross deferred tax assets, as
tax attributes related to such windfall tax benefits should not be recognized until they result in a reduction of taxes payable. The gross amount of unrealized net
operating loss carryforwards for state resulting from stock option exercises was $14.1 million at December 31, 2015 . When realized, excess windfall tax benefits
are credited to additional paid-in capital. The provision for income taxes for the year ended December 31, 2015 included $20.7 million of excess tax benefit
resulting from stock option exercises and net operating loss carryforward utilization. The Company follows the tax law ordering method to determine when such
net operating loss carryforwards have been realized.

The Company has $6.5 million (net of federal benefit) state tax credit carryforwards available that will begin expiring in 2021 , which are partially offset by
a valuation allowance of $4.7 million and $5.0 million as of December 31, 2015 and 2014 , respectively. Provision for income taxes for the years ended
December 31, 2015 and 2014 included a tax benefit from operating loss carryforwards of $3.9 million and $24.3 million , respectively. The valuation allowance
decreased by $1.7 million as of December 31, 2015 . The valuation allowance increased by $1.8 million and $3.7 million as of December 31, 2014 and 2013 ,
respectively.

The Company is subject to tax in U.S. federal and various state and local jurisdictions, as well as Canada. The Company is not subject to any material
income tax examinations in federal or state jurisdictions for tax years beginning prior to January 1, 2011. The Company paid Notices of Proposed Assessments
disallowing employment tax credits totaling $10.5 million in connection with the IRS examination of Gevity HR, Inc. and its subsidiaries, which was acquired by
TriNet in June 2009. The Company plans to exhaust all administrative efforts to resolve this matter, however, it is likely that the matter will ultimately be resolved
through litigation. With regard to these employment tax credits, the Company believes it is more likely than not that the Company will prevail. Therefore, no
reserve has been recognized related to this matter.

As of December 31, 2015 and 2014 , the total unrecognized tax benefits related to uncertain income tax positions, which would affect the effective tax rate
if recognized, were $3.3 million and $3.2 million , respectively. As of December 31, 2015 , the amount of the total unrecognized tax benefits for which it was
reasonably possible such benefits could settle within the next year was de minimis.

A reconciliation of the beginning and ending amount of unrecognized tax benefits (excluding interest and penalties) is as follows (in thousands):

 Year Ended December 31,

 2015  2014  2013

Unrecognized tax benefits at January 1 $ 2,471  $ 2,300  $ 2,710
Additions for tax positions of prior periods —  25  —
Additions for tax positions of current period 167  182  286
Reductions for tax positions of prior period:      

       Settlements with taxing authorities —  —  (406)
       Lapse of applicable statute of limitations —  —  (290)
       Adjustments to tax positions (20)  (36)  —
Unrecognized tax benefits at December 31 $ 2,618  $ 2,471  $ 2,300

The Company includes interest and penalties related to unrecognized tax benefits within the provision for income taxes. As of December 31, 2015 and
December 31, 2014 , the total amount of gross interest and penalties accrued was $0.8 million and $0.8 million , respectively. In connection with tax matters, the
Company recognized de minimis interest and penalty expense related to its uncertain tax positions as a component of income tax expense in the accompanying
consolidated statements of operations for the years ended December 31, 2015 , 2014 and 2013 , respectively.

The Company has not provided for U.S. federal income and foreign withholding taxes on its Canadian subsidiary’s undistributed earnings of $2.6 million as
of December 31, 2015 , because the Company intends to reinvest such earnings
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indefinitely. Upon distribution of those earnings in the form of dividends or otherwise, the Company would be subject to U.S. income taxes (subject to an
adjustment for foreign tax credits). Determining the unrecognized deferred tax liability related to the Company's investment in its Canadian subsidiary that are
indefinitely reinvested is not practicable. We currently intend to indefinitely reinvest those earnings and other basis differences in operations outside the U.S.

NOTE 12. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

Lease
Commitments

The Company leases office facilities, including its headquarters and other facilities, and equipment under non-cancelable operating leases. The Company
also leases certain software and furniture, fixtures, and equipment under capital leases. The schedule of minimum future rental payments under non-cancelable
operating and capital leases having initial terms in excess of one year at December 31, 2015 , is as follows (in thousands):

 
Capital 
Leases  Operating Leases

Year ending December 31:    
2016 $ 82  $ 11,882
2017 80  10,466
2018 65  9,606
2019 41  8,119
2020 —  7,643
Thereafter —  2,607

Minimum lease payments 268  $ 50,323

Less current portion of minimum lease payments (37)   
Less interest (115)   
Long term portion of capital leases $ 116   

The lease agreements generally provide for rental payments on a graduated basis and for options to renew, which could increase future minimum lease
payments if exercised. The Company recognizes rent expense on a straight-line basis over the lease period and accrues for rent expense incurred but not paid. Rent
expense for the years ended December 31, 2015 , 2014 and 2013 was $12.9 million , $11.9 million and $9.9 million , respectively. Sublease income to be received
under non-cancelable subleases for the years ending December 31, 2016 and 2017, is $0.3 million and de minimis, respectively.

Operating
Covenants

To meet various states’ licensing requirements and maintain accreditation by the Employer Services Assurance Corporation, the Company is subject to
various minimum working capital and net worth requirements. As of December 31, 2015 and 2014 , the Company believes it has fully complied in all material
respects with all applicable state regulations regarding minimum net worth, working capital and all other financial and legal requirements. Further, the Company
has maintained positive working capital throughout the period covered by the financial statements.

Contingencies





On or about August 7, 2015, Howard Welgus, a purported stockholder of the Company, filed a putative securities class action lawsuit arising under the
Securities and Exchange Act of 1934 in the United States District Court for the Northern District of California.  The case has not been certified as a class action,
although it purports to be filed on behalf of purchasers of the Company’s common stock between May 5, 2014 and August 3, 2015, inclusive.  The name of the
case is Welgus v. TriNet Group, Inc. et al., Case No. 3:15-cv-03625.  No stockholder other than Mr. Welgus submitted a motion for appointment as lead plaintiff to
represent the putative class, and, on December 3, 2015, the Court appointed Mr. Welgus as lead plaintiff.  On February 1, 2016, Mr. Welgus filed an amended
complaint.  The defendants named in the case are the Company and certain of its officers and directors, as well as General Atlantic, LLC, a significant shareholder,
and formerly majority shareholder, of the Company.  The amended complaint generally alleges that the Company caused damage to stockholders of the Company
by misrepresenting and/or failing to disclose facts generally pertaining to alleged trends affecting health insurance and workers compensation claims.  Under a
stipulated briefing schedule approved by the Court, the Company intends to move to dismiss the amended complaint no later than April 11, 2016.  The Company
believes that it has meritorious defenses against this action and intends to continue to defend itself vigorously against the allegations of Mr. Welgus.
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The Company is and, from time to time, has been and may in the future become involved in various litigation matters, legal proceedings and claims arising
in the ordinary course of its business, including disputes with its clients or various class action, collective action, representative action and other proceedings
arising from the nature of its co-employment relationship with its clients and WSEs in which the Company is named as a defendant. In addition, due to the nature
of the Company’s co-employment relationship with its clients and WSEs, the Company could be subject to liability for federal and state law violations, even if the
Company does not participate in such violations. While the Company’s agreements with its clients contain indemnification provisions related to the conduct of its
clients, the Company may not be able to avail itself of such provisions in every instance.

While the outcome of the matters described above cannot be predicted with certainty, management currently does not believe that any such claims or
proceedings or the above mentioned securities class action will have a materially adverse effect on the Company’s consolidated financial position, results of
operations or cash flows. However, the unfavorable resolution of any particular matter or the Company’s reassessment of its exposure for any of the above matters
based on additional information obtained in the future could have a material impact on the Company’s consolidated financial position, results of operations or cash
flows. In addition, regardless of the outcome, the above matters, individually and in the aggregate, could have an adverse impact on the Company because of
diversion of management resources and other factors.

NOTE 13. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The Company enters into sales and purchases agreements with various companies that have a relationship with the Company’s executive officers or
members of the Company’s board of directors. The relationships are typically an equity investment by the executive officer or board member in the customer /
vendor company or the Company’s executive officer or board member is a member of the customer / vendor company’s board of directors. The Company has
received $6.1 million , $3.9 million , and $3.2 million in gross revenue from related parties during the years ended December 31, 2015 , 2014 and 2013 ,
respectively.   

The Company has entered into various software license agreements with Oracle Corporation. H. Raymond Bingham, who is the Chairman of the Board of
the Company, is also a director of Oracle Corporation. The Company paid Oracle Corporation  $4.1 million , $5.9 million , and $4.7 million  during the years
ended December 31, 2015 , 2014 and 2013 , for services it received, respectively.   

Additionally, the company has entered into indemnity agreements with the directors and officers that provide, among other things, that TriNet will
indemnify such officer or director, under the circumstances and to the extent provided for therein, for expenses, damages, judgments, fines and settlements he or
she may be required to pay in actions or proceedings to which he or she is or may be made a party by reason of his or her position as a director, officer or other
agent of TriNet, and otherwise to the fullest extent permitted under Delaware law and the Company’s Bylaws.

NOTE 14. RESTRUCTURING COSTS

In 2011, the Company conducted reductions in force affecting approximately 11% of its workforce. The restructuring costs consist of severance and
placement costs, lease termination costs and other exit costs. The activity and balance of the restructuring liability account excluding impairment charges is as
follows (in thousands):

 Year Ended December 31,

 2015  2014  2013

Beginning balance $ 644  $ 1,374  $ 2,200
Provision —  —  —
Change in estimate —  —  —
Payments (644)  (730)  (826)

Ending Balance $ —  $ 644  $ 1,374

The restructuring liability account was included in other current liabilities in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets as of December 31, 2014.
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NOTE 15. QUARTERLY FINANCIAL DATA (UNAUDITED)

 Quarter ended

 March 31  June 30  September 30  December 31
2015        

Total revenues $ 625,578  $ 640,007  $ 668,008  $ 725,695
Insurance costs $ 483,203  $ 517,994  $ 534,481  $ 576,698
Operating income $ 31,041  $ 5,985  $ 11,682  $ 29,609
Net income (loss) $ 15,811  $ (1,308)  $ 3,097  $ 14,095
Basic net income (loss) per share $ 0.23  $ (0.02)  $ 0.04  $ 0.20
Diluted net income (loss) per share $ 0.22  $ (0.02)  $ 0.04  $ 0.20

2014        
Total revenues $ 508,912  $ 525,006  $ 555,951  $ 603,662

Insurance costs $ 381,157  $ 400,195  $ 428,184  $ 476,779

Operating income $ 25,277  $ 20,029  $ 21,246  $ 20,239

Net income $ 1,540  $ 6,221  $ 725 (1)  $ 7,011

Basic net income per share $ 0.03  $ 0.09  $ 0.01  $ 0.10

Diluted net income per share $ 0.03  $ 0.09  $ 0.01  $ 0.10

(1)    Included in the results of the third quarter of 2014 is the write-off of debt issuance costs and pre-payment premium as a result of the Company’s amended and restated first lien credit
facility. Please read Note 8, “Notes Payable and Borrowings Under Capital Leases,” for additional information.
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Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements With Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure.

None.

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Our management, with the participation of our Chief Executive Officer and our Chief Financial Officer, evaluated the effectiveness of our disclosure
controls and procedures as of December 31, 2015 . The term “disclosure controls and procedures,” as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or the Exchange Act, means controls and other procedures of a company that are designed to ensure that information
required to be disclosed by a company in the reports that it files or submits under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported, within the
time periods specified in the SEC’s rules and forms. Disclosure controls and procedures include, without limitation, controls and procedures designed to ensure
that information required to be disclosed by a company in the reports that it files or submits under the Exchange Act is accumulated and communicated to the
company’s management, including its principal executive officer and principal financial officer, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required
disclosure. Based on the evaluation of our disclosure controls and procedures as of December 31, 2015 , our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer
concluded that, as of such date, our disclosure controls and procedures were not effective as a result of the material weaknesses in our internal control over
financial reporting described below.

However, giving full consideration to these weaknesses, and the additional analyses and other procedures we performed to ensure that our consolidated
financial statements included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K were prepared in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP), our
management has concluded that our consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, our financial position, results of operations and cash
flows for the periods disclosed in conformity with GAAP.

Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-
15(f) under the Exchange Act). Internal control over financial reporting is designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting
and the preparation of financial statements for external reporting purposes in accordance with GAAP. Internal control over financial reporting includes those
policies and procedures that:

• pertain to the maintenance of records that in reasonable detail accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of assets;

• provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with GAAP, and that
receipts and expenditures are being made only in accordance with appropriate authorizations; and

• provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use or disposition of assets that could have a material
effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, a system of internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any
evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions and that the degree of
compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

Our management conducted an assessment of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting based on the criteria established in “Internal
Control - Integrated Framework” (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO). Based on that assessment,
our management has concluded that our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2015 was not effective due to the material weaknesses
described below. A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over financial reporting such that there is a reasonable
possibility that a material misstatement of our annual or interim financial statements will not be prevented or detected on a timely basis. Ernst & Young LLP, an
independent registered public accounting firm, has audited our internal control over financial reporting, as stated in their report dated March [15], 2016, which is
included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
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Ineffective information technology (IT) general controls

Our management determined that several control deficiencies aggregating to a material weakness exist related to the design and operating effectiveness of
our IT general controls (ITGCs) for certain of our key information systems, including our enterprise resource planning (ERP) systems and payroll systems, that are
relevant to the preparation of our consolidated financial statements and system of internal control over financial reporting. In addition, these deficiencies also
impact the ability to rely on related interfaces, application controls and reports generated by the systems with ineffective ITGCs. The ineffective design and
operation of our ITGCs impacts all of our significant financial statement accounts and disclosures. The deficiencies related to the design and operating
effectiveness of our ITGCs fell into the three main categories listed below:

• Computer
Operations

Design and operating effectiveness of our system of controls related to the monitoring of batch processing and system interfaces to ensure the completeness
and accuracy of data movement involving our ERP system and certain payroll systems that process revenue transactions were identified as having deficiencies.

• Access
Controls

Design and operating effectiveness of our controls to ensure that access to applications and data were adequately restricted to appropriate personnel were
identified as having deficiencies. These deficiencies impact a number of our systems that process internal and revenue-generating payroll transactions, fixed assets,
stock option and restricted stock unit information, procurement authorizations, insurance expenses, insurance reserves and payroll taxes.

• Change
Management

Design and operating effectiveness of controls to monitor program change management procedures, including monitoring the activities of individuals who
have authority and have been granted access to make changes to programs, were identified as having deficiencies. These deficiencies impacted systems that
process procurement authorizations and accumulate claims data that is utilized to estimate worker’s compensation liabilities.

Ineffective control environment and risk assessment

Our management determined that a material weakness exists due to a lack of a sufficient complement of personnel with an appropriate level of knowledge,
experience and training commensurate with our structure, internal control, and financial reporting requirements. Additionally, we did not have an adequate process
in place to complete our testing and assessment of the design and operating effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting in a timely manner.

Ineffective management review controls and controls over system-generated reports

Our management determined that several control deficiencies aggregating to a material weakness exist related to the design and operating effectiveness of
our controls to ensure that key spreadsheets and system-generated reports were properly reviewed for completeness and accuracy. For certain management review
controls, controls verifying the accuracy of underlying data used to perform these reviews were not performed or adequately documented. In addition, certain
management review controls were not performed at a sufficiently precise level to identify errors that could aggregate to a material misstatement of the financial
statements. These deficiencies impact substantially all of our significant financial statement accounts.

Ineffective controls over payroll operations

Our management determined that several control deficiencies aggregating to a material weakness exist related to the design and operating effectiveness of
our controls over the accuracy of certain information that we manually input into the payroll systems and that is used in the processing of payroll for customers.
Manually input information includes contractual terms, bill rates, benefit elections and other wage data. Controls identified to prevent or detect inappropriate
changes to payroll information and resolve payroll processing errors were not effectively designed to detect material errors. Additionally, management identified
deficiencies related to the design and operating effectiveness of controls over the reconciliation of benefit enrollment data between the Company’s payroll systems
and the insurance carriers’ records. The deficiencies impact amounts recorded as professional and insurance service revenues, operating expenses, accrued
corporate wages, and worksite employee related assets and liabilities.
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Ineffective controls over health and workers compensation liabilities and related expenses

Our management determined that several control deficiencies aggregating to a material weakness exist related to the design and operating effectiveness of
our controls to validate the completeness and accuracy of data utilized in calculating health and workers compensation liabilities and related expenses, including
premium expenses and administrative fees. Data utilized includes enrollment counts, cost rates, wage data, claim counts and incurred and paid claim amounts.
Certain reconciliations of claim payments per the Company’s actuarial analyses to actual amounts paid were not operating effectively. Additionally, controls over
the review of health premium expenses did not operate at a level of precision that would detect material errors. These deficiencies impact insurance costs, workers
compensation receivables, workers compensation liabilities, and worksite employee related assets and liabilities.

Ineffective controls over validating accuracy of payroll tax liabilities

Our management determined that several control deficiencies aggregating to a material weakness exist related to the design and operating effectiveness of
our controls to validate the accuracy and completeness of tax rates input into our payroll systems, including reconciliation to the general ledger of the payroll taxes
payable account at a sufficient level of detail. In addition, due to the ineffective ITGCs over the system that calculates payroll tax withholdings, compensating
controls identified are not sufficiently precise to prevent or detect errors in the amounts recorded as payroll tax liabilities for internal employees and WSEs.

Ineffective authorization controls over procurement processes

Our management determined that a material weakness exists related to the design and operating effectiveness of our controls over the initial set up and
changes to designated approvers over corporate purchases, including purchasing card limits, expense reimbursements or approving new vendors added to the
procurement system.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Board of Directors and Stockholders of
TriNet Group, Inc. and Subsidiaries

We have audited TriNet Group, Inc. and Subsidiaries’ internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2015, based on criteria established in
Internal Control-Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (2013 framework), (the COSO
criteria). TriNet Group, Inc. and Subsidiaries management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting, and for its assessment
of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting included in the accompanying Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting.
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that
we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material
respects. Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, testing and
evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk, and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary
in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting
and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over
financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the
transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of
financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in
accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of
unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of
effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with
the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

A material weakness is a deficiency, or combination of deficiencies, in internal control over financial reporting, such that there is a reasonable possibility
that a material misstatement of the company’s annual or interim financial statements will not be prevented or detected on a timely basis. Material weaknesses have
been identified in the following categories and included in management’s assessment:

• Ineffective information technology (IT) general controls
• Ineffective control environment and risk assessment
• Ineffective management review controls and controls over system-generated reports
• Ineffective controls over payroll operations
• Ineffective controls over health and workers compensation liabilities and related expenses
• Ineffective controls over validating accuracy of payroll tax liabilities
• Ineffective authorization controls over procurement processes

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the 2015 consolidated financial
statements. These material weaknesses were considered in determining the nature, timing and extent of audit tests applied in our audit of the 2015 financial
statements, and this report does not affect our report dated March 31, 2016 which expressed an unqualified opinion on those financial statements.

In our opinion, because of the effect of the material weaknesses described above on the achievement of the objectives of the control criteria, TriNet Group,
Inc. and Subsidiaries has not maintained effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2015, based on the COSO criteria.  

/s/ Ernst & Young LLP

San Francisco, California
March 31, 2016
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Additional Analyses and Procedures and Remediation Plan

As a result of the material weaknesses described above, we performed additional analyses and other procedures in order to prepare the financial statements
included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. While the material weaknesses described above create a reasonable possibility that an error in financial reporting
may go undetected, after extensive review and the performance of additional analysis and other procedures, no material adjustments, restatement or other revisions
to our previously issued financial statements were required.

In addition, we are taking specific steps, as further described below, to remediate the material weaknesses identified by management and described in
greater detail in the preceding section. Although we intend to complete the remediation process with respect to these material weaknesses as quickly as possible,
we cannot at this time estimate how long it will take, and our remediation plan may not prove to be successful.

With respect to the remediation of our ineffective IT general controls, we are taking a number of steps, which include, but are not limited to:

• designing, adopting or implementing IT governance policies, procedures and general controls across all technology platforms;

• improving the design and operation of control activities and procedures associated with monitoring of batch processing and system interfaces to ensure
the completeness and accuracy of data movement;

• establishing a more comprehensive review and approval process for authorizing user access to IT systems , including both preventive and detective
control activities;

• improving the design and operation of program change management control activities such as change management control setting configurations across
the affected IT systems, including tracking of access and history of change; and

• augmenting and hiring additional IT resources and professionals.

We are also working to integrate our technology platforms and ERP systems to reduce the number of redundant business processes. For example, we
completed the integration of our Ambrose technology platform as of February 29, 2016 and we currently expect to complete the integration of our Accord
technology platform by the end of 2016.

With respect to the remediation in other areas, we are taking a number of steps, which include, but are not limited to:

• defining and assessing the control deficiency for each of the material weaknesses to ensure a thorough understanding of the “as-is” state, identify relevant
process owners, and define and address gaps in the control deficiency;

• designing and evaluating a remediation plan for each of the material weaknesses to validate or improve the related policy and procedures, assess and
improve skills of the process owners with regards to the policy and make necessary adjustments as required;

• implementing the remediation plan for each of the material weaknesses and training process owners, evaluating process adoption and monitoring results;

• testing and measuring the design and effectiveness of the remediation plan, and the updated controls;

• management review and acceptance of the remediation effort; and

• augmenting and hiring additional accounting, actuarial, finance and internal audit resources and professionals.

We believe that the foregoing efforts will effectively remediate the material weaknesses identified above. Because the reliability of the internal control
process requires repeatable execution, the successful remediation of these material weaknesses will require review and evidence of effectiveness prior to
concluding that the controls are effective and there is no assurance that additional remediation steps will not be necessary. As such, as we continue to evaluate and
work to improve our internal control over financial reporting, our management may decide to take additional measures to address the material weaknesses or
modify the remediation steps described above. As noted above, although we plan to complete the remediation process as quickly as possible, we cannot at this time
estimate how long it will take, and our initiatives may not prove to be successful. Accordingly, until these weaknesses are remediated, we plan to perform
additional analyses and other procedures to ensure that our consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with GAAP.
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Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Other than the identification of the material weaknesses described above, there were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting identified in
connection with the evaluation required by Rule 13a-15(d) and 15d-15(d) of the Exchange Act that occurred during the quarter ended December 31, 2015 , that
have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

Item 9B. Other Information.

Not applicable.
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PART III

Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance.

Information required by this item is incorporated by reference to TriNet Group Inc.’s Proxy Statement for its 2016 Annual Meeting of Shareholders to be
filed with the SEC within 120 days after the end of the fiscal year ended December 31, 2015.

Item 11. Executive Compensation.

Information required by this item is incorporated by reference to TriNet Group Inc.’s Proxy Statement for its 2016 Annual Meeting of Shareholders to be
filed with the SEC within 120 days after the end of the fiscal year ended December 31, 2015.

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters.

Information required by this item is incorporated by reference to TriNet Group Inc.’s Proxy Statement for its 2016 Annual Meeting of Shareholders to be
filed with the SEC within 120 days after the end of the fiscal year ended December 31, 2015.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence.

Information required by this item is incorporated by reference to TriNet Group Inc.’s Proxy Statement for its 2016 Annual Meeting of Shareholders to be
filed with the SEC within 120 days after the end of the fiscal year ended December 31, 2015.

Item 14. Principal Accounting Fees and Services.

Information required by this item is incorporated by reference to TriNet Group Inc.’s Proxy Statement for its 2016 Annual Meeting of Shareholders to be
filed with the SEC within 120 days after the end of the fiscal year ended December 31, 2015.
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PART IV

Item 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules.

(a) The following documents are filed as a part of the report:

(1) The financial statements filed as part of this report are listed in the “Index to Financial Statements” under Part II, Item 8 of this report.

(2) Financial statement schedules.

SCHEDULE II-VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS

  Balance at  Credited/    Charges  Balance at
  Beginning of  Charged to  Balance  Utilized/  End of

(in thousands)  Period  Net Income  Acquired  Write-Offs  Period

Allowances for Doubtful Accounts and Authorized Credits           
Year ended December 31, 2015  $ 388  $ 2,085  $ —  $ (1,315)  $ 1,158
Year ended December 31, 2014  $ 865  $ 947  $ —  $ (1,424)  $ 388
Year ended December 31, 2013  $ 819  $ 839  $ —  $ (793)  $ 865

Tax Valuation Allowance           
Year ended December 31, 2015  $ 6,945  $ —  $ —  $ (1,669)  $ 5,276
Year ended December 31, 2014  $ 5,194  $ 1,751  $ —  $ —  $ 6,945
Year ended December 31, 2013  $ 1,547  $ 2,451  $ 1,196  $ —  $ 5,194
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its
behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized, in the City of San Leandro, State of California, on the 31st day of March, 2016.
 

 TRINET GROUP, INC.

  
Date: March 31, 2016  By: /s/ Burton M. Goldfield
   Burton M. Goldfield
   Chief Executive Officer

KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS, that each person whose signature appears below constitutes and appoints Burton M. Goldfield, William
Porter and Brady Mickelsen, and each of them, as his true and lawful attorneys-in-fact and agents, each with the full power of substitution, for him and in his name,
place or stead, in any and all capacities, to sign any amendments to this report and to file the same, with exhibits thereto, and other documents in connection
therewith, with the Securities and Exchange Commission, hereby ratifying and confirming all that any of said attorneys-in-fact and agents, or their or his substitute
or substitutes, may lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue hereof.
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Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed by the following persons on behalf of the Registrant and in
the capacities and on the dates indicated.

Signature  Title  Date
     

/s/ B URTON  M. G OLDFIELD  
Chief Executive Officer ( principal
executive
officer
)

 
March 31, 2016

Burton M. Goldfield   
     

/s/ W ILLIAM  P ORTER  Chief Financial Officer (principal
financial
and
accounting
officer)

 
March 31, 2016

William Porter   
     

/s/ Katherine August-deWilde  
Director

 
March 31, 2016

Katherine August-deWilde   
     

/s/ Martin Babinec  
Director

 
March 31, 2016

Martin Babinec   
     

/s/ H. Raymond Bingham  
Director

 
March 31, 2016

H. Raymond Bingham   
     

/s/ Paul Chamberlain  
Director

 
March 31, 2016

Paul Chamberlain   
     

/s/ Kenneth Goldman  
Director

 
March 31, 2016

Kenneth Goldman   
     

/s/ David C. Hodgson  
Director

 
March 31, 2016

David C. Hodgson   
     

/s/ John H. Kispert  
Director

 
March 31, 2016

John H. Kispert   
     

/s/ Wayne B. Lowell  
Director

 
March 31, 2016

Wayne B. Lowell   
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EXHIBIT INDEX

      Incorporated by Reference   
Exhibit

No.   Description of Exhibit   Form  File No.  Exhibit  Filing  
Filed

Herewith

       
2.1   Equity Purchase Agreement by and among TriNet Group, Inc.,

Ambrose Employer Group, LLC and Gregory Slamowitz,
John Iorillo and Marc Dwek, dated July 1, 2013.

  S-1   333-192465   2.1   11/21/2013    

       
2.2   Agreement and Plan of Merger by and among TriNet Group,

Inc., Champ Acquisition Corporation, SOI Holdings, Inc. and
SOI Stockholder Representative, LLC, dated August 24, 2012.

  S-1   333-192465   2.2   11/21/2013    

       
3.1   Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of TriNet

Group, Inc.
  8-K   001-36373   3.1   4/1/2014    

       
3.2   Amended and Restated Bylaws of TriNet Group, Inc.   S-1/A   333-192465   3.4   3/4/2014    
       
4.1   Amended and Restated Registration Rights Agreement, by and

among TriNet Group, Inc., GA TriNet LLC and HR
Acquisitions, LLC, dated June 1, 2009.

  S-1   333-192465   4.2   11/21/2013    

       
10.1*   Amended and Restated 2000 Equity Incentive Plan.   S-1   333-192465   10.1   11/21/2013    
       
10.2*   Forms of Option Agreement and Option Grant Notice under

the Amended and Restated 2000 Equity Incentive Plan.
  S-1   333-192465   10.2   11/21/2013    

       
10.3*   Amended and Restated 2009 Equity Incentive Plan.   S-1/A   333-192465   10.3   3/14/2014    
       
10.4*

 

Form of Performance-Based Restricted Stock Unit Award
Agreement and Performance-Based Restricted Stock Unit
Grant Notice under the Amended and Restated 2009 Equity
Incentive Plan.  

10-Q

 

001-36373

 

10.X

 

5/8/2015

  
             
10.5*   Form of Option Agreement and Option Grant Notice under the

Amended and Restated 2009 Equity Incentive Plan.
  S-1/A   333-192465   10.4   3/4/2014    

       
10.6*   Form of Restricted Stock Unit Agreement and Restricted

Stock Unit Award Notice under the Amended and Restated
2009 Equity Incentive Plan.

  S-1/A   333-192465   10.6   3/4/2014    

       
10.7*   2014 Employee Stock Purchase Plan.   S-1/A   333-192465   10.7   3/14/2014    
       
10.8*  2015 Executive Bonus Plan.  8-K  001-36373  N/A  3/11/2015   
             
10.9*

 
Amended and Restated Non-Employee Director
Compensation Policy.  

DEF 14A
 

001-36373
 

N/A
 

4/2/2015
  

             
10.10*  Severance Benefit Plan.          X
             
10.11*   Form of Indemnification Agreement made by and between

TriNet Group, Inc. and each of its directors and executive
officers.

  S-1/A   333-192465   10.8   3/4/2014    

             
10.12*   Employment Agreement, dated November 9, 2009, between

Burton M. Goldfield and TriNet Group, Inc.
  S-1/A   333-192465   10.9   2/13/2014    

             
10.13*

 
Letter Agreement, dated June 22, 2015, between Gregory
Hammond and TriNet Group, Inc.  

10-Q
 

001-36373
 

10.1
 

8/6/2015
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      Incorporated by Reference   
Exhibit

No.   Description of Exhibit   Form  File No.  Exhibit  Filing  
Filed

Herewith

10.14*   Employment Agreement, dated November 9, 2009, between
Gregory Hammond and TriNet Group, Inc.

  S-1/A   333-192465   10.10   2/13/2014    

             
10.15*   Employment Agreement, dated August 23, 2010, between

William Porter and TriNet Group, Inc.
  S-1/A   333-192465   10.11   2/13/2014    

             
10.16*

 
Employment Agreement, dated March 5, 2012, between John
Turner and TriNet Group, Inc.  

S-1/A
 

333-192465
 

10.12
 

2/13/2014
  

             
10.17*

 
Employment Agreement, dated May 8, 2015, between Brady
Mickelsen and TriNet Group, Inc.  

10-Q
 

001-36373
 

10.2
 

08/06/2015
  

             
10.18*

  

Amended and Restated First Lien Credit Agreement, dated as
of August 20, 2013, as amended and restated as of July 9,
2014, among TriNet HR Corporation, as borrower, TriNet
Group, Inc., the lenders from time to time party thereto and
JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as administrative agent.   8-K   001-36373   10.1   7/10/2014    

             
10.19

  
Creekside Plaza Office Lease between Creekside Associates,
LLC and TriNet Group, Inc., dated April 24, 2001.   S-1   333-192465   10.15   11/21/2013    

             
10.20

  

First Amendment to Creekside Plaza Office Lease between
Creekside Associates, LLC and TriNet Group, Inc., dated June
21, 2012.   S-1   333-192465   10.16   11/21/2013    

             
21.1   List of Subsidiaries.                X
             
23.1

  
Consent of Ernst & Young LLP, independent registered public
accounting firm.           X

             
24.1

  
Power of Attorney (included on the signature page of this
report).            

             
31.1

 
Certification of Principal Executive Officer pursuant to
Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.          X

             
31.2

 
Certification of Principal Financial Officer pursuant to Section
302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.          X

             
32.1**

 

Certification of Principal Executive Officer and Principal
Financial Officer pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act of 2002.          X

             
101.INS   XBRL Instance Document.           X
             
101.SCH   XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document.           X
             
101.CAL   XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document.           X
             
101.DEF   XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document.           X
             
101.LAB   XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document.           X
             
101.PRE

  
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase
Document.           X

             * Constitutes a management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement.
** Document has been furnished, is deemed not filed and is not to be incorporated by reference into any of the Company’s filings under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or

the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, irrespective of any general incorporation language contained in any such filing.
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Exhibit 10.10

TRINET GROUP, INC.

SEVERANCE BENEFIT PLAN

1. INTRODUCTION. This  TriNet  Group,  Inc.  Severance Benefit  Plan (the  “ Plan
”)  is  established  by  TriNet  Group,  Inc.  (the  “
Company
”).  The  Plan  was  adopted  by  the  Board  on  June  11,  2015 (the  “ Effective 
Date
”).  The Plan provides  for  severance  benefits  to
certain senior level employees of the Company. This document constitutes the Summary Plan Description for the Plan.

2.      DEFINITIONS. For purposes of the Plan, the following terms are defined as follows:

(a)      “ Accrued
Compensation
” means any unpaid annual base salary accrued through the date of a Participant’s termination of
employment,  any  unpaid  vacation  pay  accrued  through  the  date  of  a  Participant’s  termination  of  employment  and  any  earned  but  unpaid
annual bonus for any fiscal year preceding the fiscal year in which the termination occurs.

(b)      “ Base
Salary
” means a Participant’s annual base salary, ignoring any decrease in annual base salary that forms the basis for a
Resignation for Good Reason, as in effect on the date of the Participant’s Qualifying Termination.

(c)      “ Board
” means the Board of Directors of the Company.

(d)      “ Cause
 ”  means  the  occurrence  of  any  of  the  following  events  that  has  a  material  negative  impact  on  the  business  or
reputation  of  the  Company:  (1)  such  Participant’s  commission  of  any  felony  or  any  crime  involving  fraud,  dishonesty  or  moral  turpitude
under the laws of the United States or any state thereof; (2) such Participant’s attempted commission of, or participation in, a fraud or act of
dishonesty against the Company; (3) such Participant’s intentional, material violation of any contract or agreement between the Participant
and the  Company or  of  any statutory duty owed to  the Company;  (4)  such Participant’s  unauthorized use  or  disclosure of  the  Company’s
confidential  information  or  trade  secrets;  or  (5)  such  Participant’s  gross  misconduct.  Whether  or  not  Cause  exists  with  regard  to  any
Participant shall be determined by the Board in its sole discretion, which determination shall be final and binding on such Participant.

(e)      “ Change
in
Control
” means the occurrence, in a single transaction or in a series of related transactions, of any one or more of
the following events:

(1)      any Exchange Act Person becomes the Owner, directly or indirectly, of securities of the Company representing more
than  50% of  the  combined  voting  power  of  the  Company’s  then  outstanding  securities  other  than  by  virtue  of  a  merger,  consolidation  or
similar transaction. Notwithstanding the foregoing, a Change in Control shall  not be deemed to occur (A) on account of the acquisition of
securities of the Company directly from the Company, (B) on account of the acquisition of securities of the Company by an investor,  any
affiliate thereof or any other Exchange Act Person that acquires the Company’s securities in a transaction or series of related transactions the
primary purpose of which is to obtain financing for the Company through the issuance of equity securities, or (C) solely because the level of
Ownership held by any Exchange Act Person (the “ Subject
Person
”) exceeds the designated percentage threshold of the outstanding voting
securities  as  a  result  of  a  repurchase or  other  acquisition of  voting securities  by the Company reducing the  number of  shares  outstanding,
provided that if a Change in Control would occur (but for the operation of this sentence) as a result of the acquisition of voting securities by
the Company, and after such share acquisition, the Subject Person becomes the Owner of any additional voting securities that,
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assuming the repurchase or other acquisition had not occurred, increases the percentage of the then outstanding voting securities Owned by
the Subject Person over the designated percentage threshold, then a Change in Control shall be deemed to occur;

(2)      there is  consummated a merger,  consolidation or  similar  transaction involving (directly or  indirectly)  the Company
and, immediately after the consummation of such merger, consolidation or similar transaction, the stockholders of the Company immediately
prior  thereto  do  not  Own,  directly  or  indirectly,  either  (A)  outstanding  voting  securities  representing  more  than  50%  of  the  combined
outstanding voting power of the surviving Entity in such merger, consolidation or similar transaction or (B) more than 50% of the combined
outstanding  voting  power  of  the  parent  of  the  surviving  Entity  in  such  merger,  consolidation  or  similar  transaction,  in  each  case  in
substantially  the  same  proportions  as  their  Ownership  of  the  outstanding  voting  securities  of  the  Company  immediately  prior  to  such
transaction;

(3)      there is consummated a sale, lease, exclusive license or other disposition of all or substantially all of the consolidated
assets of the Company and its Subsidiaries, other than a sale, lease, license or other disposition of all or substantially all of the consolidated
assets of the Company and its Subsidiaries to an Entity, more than 50% of the combined voting power of the voting securities of which are
Owned by stockholders of the Company in substantially the same proportions as their Ownership of the outstanding voting securities of the
Company immediately prior to such sale, lease, license or other disposition; or

(4)      individuals who are members of the Board on the Effective Date (the “ Incumbent
Board
”) cease for any reason to
constitute a majority of the members of the Board; provided, however, that if the appointment or election (or nomination for election) of any
new Board member was approved or recommended by a majority vote of the members of the Incumbent Board then still in office, such new
member will, for purposes of this Plan, be considered as a member of the Incumbent Board.

(f)      “ Change
in
Control
Termination
” means an Involuntary Termination that occurs in connection with or within 12 months
following a Change in Control, provided that any such termination is a Separation from Service.

(g)      “ COBRA
” means the Consolidated Omnibus Budget Reconciliation Act of 1985, as amended and any analogous provisions
of applicable state law.

(h)      “ Code
” means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended.

(i)      “ Common
Stock
” means the common stock of the Company.

(j)      “ Entity
” means a corporation, partnership, limited liability company or other entity.

(k)      “ ERISA
” means the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended.

(l)      “ Exchange
Act
” means the U.S. Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and the rules and regulations promulgated
thereunder.

(m)      “ Exchange
Act
Person
” means any natural person, Entity or “group” (within the meaning of Section 13(d) or 14(d) of the
Exchange Act), except that “Exchange Act Person” shall not include (1) the Company or any Subsidiary of the Company, (2) any employee
benefit plan of the Company or any Subsidiary of the Company or any trustee or other fiduciary holding securities under an employee benefit
plan of  the  Company or  any Subsidiary of  the  Company,  (3)  an underwriter  temporarily  holding securities  pursuant  to  a  registered public
offering of such
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securities,  (4)  an  Entity  Owned,  directly  or  indirectly,  by  the  stockholders  of  the  Company  in  substantially  the  same  proportions  as  their
Ownership  of  stock  of  the  Company;  or  (5)  any  natural  person,  Entity  or  “group”  (within  the  meaning  of  Section  13(d)  or  14(d)  of  the
Exchange Act) that, as of the Effective Date, is the Owner, directly or indirectly, of securities of the Company representing more than 50% of
the combined voting power of the Company’s then outstanding securities.

(n)      “ Involuntary
Termination
” means (1) a Participant’s dismissal or discharge by the Company for a reason other than death,
disability or Cause, or (2) a Participant’s Resignation for Good Reason.

(o)      “ Non-Change
in
Control
Termination
” means a Participant’s Involuntary Termination, not in connection with a liquidation,
dissolution  or  winding  up  of  the  Company  in  which  there  will  be  no  assets  of  the  Company  legally  available  for  distribution  to  the
Company’s stockholders, that occurs prior to (and not in connection with) or more than 12 months following a Change in Control.

(p)      “ On-Target
Bonus
” means a Participant’s target annual bonus (under the Company’s annual bonus plan or program) for the
fiscal year during which a Qualifying Termination occurs, calculated at 100% of target levels as specified in such Company bonus plan or
program as in effect immediately prior to the date of the Change in Control Termination.

(q)      A person or Entity shall be deemed to “ Own
”, to have “ Owned
”, to be the “ Owner
” of, or to have acquired “ Ownership
”
of securities if such person or Entity, directly or indirectly, through any contract, arrangement, understanding, relationship or otherwise, has
or shares voting power, which includes the power to vote or to direct the voting, with respect to such securities.

(r)      “ Participant
” means each individual who (1) is employed as either (i) an executive officer of the Company that is hired after
the  date  of  adoption  of  the  Plan  or  (ii)  a  senior  level  employee  of  the  Company  who  is  designated  by  the  Chief  Executive  Officer  as  a
Participant, and (2) has received and returned a signed Participation Notice.

(s)      “ Participation
Notice
” means the latest notice delivered by the Company to a Participant informing the Participant that he or
she is eligible to participate in the Plan, in substantially in the form of EXHIBIT A to the Plan.

(t)      “ Plan
Administrator
” means the Board or any committee of the Board duly authorized to administer the Plan. The Board may
at any time administer the Plan, in whole or in part, notwithstanding that the Board has previously appointed a committee to act as the Plan
Administrator.

(u)      “ Qualifying
Termination
” means  either  a  Change in  Control  Termination or  a  Non-Change in  Control  Termination that
results in a Separation from Service.

(v)      “ Resignation
for 
Good
Reason
”  means  that  the  Participant  resigns  from all  positions  that  he  or  she  then  holds  with  the
Company and its affiliates if one of the following events occurs without the Participant’s consent: (1) a material reduction in the Participant’s
total annual compensation, except that annual reviews and alterations of variable or target compensation consistent with the formulae applied
to Participant’s peers shall not constitute Good Reason; (2) a material adverse change in the Participant’s authority, responsibilities or duties;
or  (3)  the  Company’s  requirement  that  the  Participant  relocate  his  or  her  primary  work  location  to  a  location  that  would  increase  the
Participant’s one way commute distance by more than 30 miles; (4) any action or inaction that constitutes a material
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breach by the Company (or any successor) of the terms of the Plan with regard to such Participant; or (5) any failure by any successor to the
Company to expressly assume the Plan and all obligations under the Plan. For “Good Reason” to exist, the Participant must provide written
notice to the Company’s General Counsel within 30 days immediately following such events, the Company must fail to remedy such event
within 30 days after receipt of such notice, and the Participant’s resignation must be effective not later than 90 days, nor sooner than 30 days,
after the expiration of such cure period. Whether or not Good reason exists with regard to any Participant shall be determined by the Board in
its sole discretion, which determination shall be final and binding on such Participant.

(w)      “ Separation
from
Service
” means a “separation from service” within the meaning of Treasury Regulations Section 1.409A-
1(h), without regard to any alternative definition thereunder.

(x)      “ Severance
Multiplier
” means 1.0 for any Participant.

(y)      “ Stock
Awards
” means outstanding stock options, restricted stock units or other stock awards granted to a Participant under
the Company’s 2009 Equity Incentive Plan, as amended, or any successor plan.

(z)      “ Subsidiary
” means, with respect to the Company, (1) any corporation of which more than 50% of the outstanding capital
stock having ordinary voting power to elect a majority of the board of directors of such corporation (irrespective of whether, at the time, stock
of any other class or classes of such corporation shall have or might have voting power by reason of the happening of any contingency) is at
the  time,  directly  or  indirectly,  Owned  by  the  Company,  and  (2)  any  partnership,  limited  liability  company  or  other  entity  in  which  the
Company has a direct or indirect interest (whether in the form of voting or participation in profits or capital contribution) of more than 50%.

(aa)      “ Successor
Corporation
” means, in the event of a Change in Control, the surviving corporation, the acquiring corporation or
the surviving corporation or acquiring corporation’s parent company.

3.      ELIGIBILITY FOR BENEFITS.

(a)      Eligibility; Exceptions to Benefits. Subject to the terms and conditions of the Plan, the Company will provide the benefits
described in Section 4 to the affected Participant.  A Participant will  not receive benefits under the Plan in the following circumstances,  as
determined by the Plan Administrator, in its sole discretion:

(1)      The  Participant’s  employment  is  terminated  by  either  the  Company  or  the  Participant  for  any  reason  other  than  a
Qualifying Termination.

(2)      The Participant has not entered into the Company’s Proprietary Information and Invention Agreement or any similar or
successor document (the “ Confidentiality
Agreement
”).

(3)      The  Participant  has  failed  to  execute  and  allow to  become  effective  the  Release  (as  defined  and  described  below)
within 60 days following the Participant’s Separation from Service.

(4)      The Participant has failed to return all Company Property. For this purpose, “ Company
Property
” means all paper and
electronic Company documents (and all  copies thereof)  created and/or received by the Participant during his or  her period of employment
with the Company and other Company materials and property that the Participant has in his or her possession or control, including, without
limitation,  Company  files,  correspondence,  emails,  memoranda,  notes,  notebooks,  drawings  records,  plans,  forecasts,  reports,  studies,
analyses, proposals, agreements, financial information, research and development information, sales and marketing
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information,  operational  and  personnel  information,  specifications,  code,  software,  databases,  computer-recorded  information,  tangible
property  and  equipment  (including,  without  limitation,  leased  vehicles,  computers,  computer  equipment,  software  programs,  facsimile
machines, mobile telephones, servers), credit and calling cards, entry cards, identification badges and keys, and any materials of any kind that
contain  or  embody  any  proprietary  or  confidential  information  of  the  Company  (and  all  reproductions  thereof,  in  whole  or  in  part).  As  a
condition  to  receiving  benefits  under  the  Plan,  a  Participant  must  not  make  or  retain  copies,  reproductions  or  summaries  of  any  such
Company documents, materials or property and must make a diligent search to locate any such documents, property and information. If the
Participant  has  used any personally  owned computer,  server,  or  e-mail  system to  receive,  store,  review,  prepare or  transmit  any Company
confidential  or  proprietary  data,  materials  or  information,  then  within  ten  business  days  after  the  Separation  from Service,  the  Participant
must provide the Company with a computer-useable copy of all such information and then permanently delete and expunge such confidential
or  proprietary  information  from  those  systems.  However,  a  Participant  is  not  required  to  return  his  or  her  personal  copies  of  documents
evidencing  the  Participant’s  hire,  termination,  compensation,  benefits  and  stock  options  and  any  other  documentation  received  as  a
stockholder  of  the  Company.  A  Participant’s  failure  to  return  Company  Property  that  is  neither  confidential  nor  material,  such  as  an
identification badge or calling card, will not, in and of itself, disqualify such Participant from receiving benefits under the Plan, provided that
any such items of Company Property are subsequently returned to the Company upon request.

(5)      The Participant has failed to cooperate fully with the Company in connection with its actual or contemplated defense,
prosecution, or investigation of any existing or future litigation, arbitrations, mediations, claims, demands, audits, government or regulatory
inquiries,  or  other  matters  arising  from  events,  acts,  or  failures  to  act  that  occurred  during  the  time  period  in  which  the  Participant  was
employed  by  the  Company  (including  any  period  of  employment  with  an  entity  acquired  by  the  Company).  Such  cooperation  includes,
without  limitation,  being  available  upon  reasonable  notice,  without  subpoena,  to  provide  accurate  and  complete  advice,  assistance  and
information to the Company, including offering and explaining evidence, providing truthful and accurate sworn statements, and participating
in discovery and trial preparation and testimony. As a condition of receiving benefits under the Plan, the Participant must also promptly send
the Company copies of all  correspondence (for example, but not limited to, subpoenas) received by the Participant in connection with any
such legal proceedings, unless the Participant is expressly prohibited by law from so doing. The Company will reimburse the Participant for
reasonable  out-of-pocket  expenses  incurred  in  connection  with  any  such  cooperation  (excluding  foregone  wages,  salary,  or  other
compensation)  within  30  days  after  the  Participant’s  timely  presentation  of  appropriate  documentation  thereof,  in  accordance  with  the
Company’s standard reimbursement policies and procedures, and will make reasonable efforts to accommodate the Participant’s scheduling
needs.

(b)      Termination of Benefits. A Participant’s right to receive benefits under the Plan will terminate immediately if, at any time
prior to or during the period for which the Participant is receiving benefits under the Plan, the Participant, without the prior written approval
of the Plan Administrator,  willfully breaches a material  provision of the Participant’s Confidentiality Agreement and/or any obligations of
confidentiality, non-solicitation, non-disparagement, no conflicts or non-competition provision set forth in any other agreement between the
Company or any subsidiary and a Participant (including, without limitation, the Participant’s employment agreement or offer letter) or under
applicable law.

4.      PAYMENTS  AND  BENEFITS. Except  as  may  otherwise  be  provided  in  a  Participant’s  Participation  Notice,  in  the  event  of  a
Qualifying Termination, the Company will pay the Participant the Accrued Compensation, if any, within ten business days following the date
of  such Qualifying Termination,  or  such earlier  date  as  may be  required by applicable  law.  In  addition,  subject  to  Sections  5  and 6  and a
Participant’s continued compliance with
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the provisions of any restrictive covenant agreement with the Company or any of its subsidiaries or affiliates, including, without limitation,
the Participant’s Confidentiality Agreement, in the event of a Qualifying Termination, the Participant shall be entitled to the payments and
benefits described in this Section 4, subject to the terms and conditions of the Plan.

(a)      Cash Severance . The Participant will receive as cash severance (the “ Cash
Severance
”) an amount equal to the product of
(1)  the  Participant’s  Base  Salary  plus,  in  the  case  of  a  Change  in  Control  Termination  only,  the  Participant’s  On-Target  Bonus,  and  (2)
Participant’s Severance Multiplier. The Cash Severance will be paid in a lump sum on the first payroll date that occurs more than five days
after the date on which the applicable Release becomes effective (the “ Release
Effective
Date
”); provided, however, that no payments will
be made prior to the 60th day following the Participant’s Separation from Service.  On the 60th day following the Participant’s Separation
from Service, the Company will pay the Participant in a lump sum the Cash Severance that the Participant would have received on or prior to
such  date  under  the  original  schedule  but  for  the  delay  while  waiting  for  the  60 th day  in  compliance  with  Code  Section  409A  and  the
effectiveness of the Release (as defined and described below), with the balance of the Cash Severance being paid as originally scheduled.

(b)      COBRA Benefits .

(1)      If the Participant is eligible and has made the necessary elections for continuation coverage pursuant to COBRA under
a health, dental or vision plan sponsored by the Company, the Participant will pay and the Company will  reimburse the Particpant, as and
when due directly to the COBRA carrier, the COBRA premiums necessary to continue the COBRA coverage for the Participant and his or
her eligible dependents until the earliest to occur of (A) the date that is 12 months after the Qualifying Termination, (B) the date on which
Participant  becomes  eligible  for  coverage  under  the  group  health  insurance  plans  of  a  subsequent  employer,  and  (C)  the  date  on  which
Participant is no longer eligible for continuation coverage under COBRA (such period from the date of the Qualifying Termination through
the earliest of (A) through (C), the “ COBRA
Payment
Period
”).

(2)      Notwithstanding the foregoing, if at any time the Company determines, in its sole discretion, that the reimbursement of
COBRA premiums hereunder is likely to result in a violation of the nondiscrimination rules of Section 105(h)(2) of the Code or any statute or
regulation  of  similar  effect  (including,  without  limitation,  the  2010  Patient  Protection  and  Affordable  Care  Act,  as  amended  by  the  2010
Health  Care  and  Education  Reconciliation  Act),  then  in  lieu  of  reimbursing  the  COBRA  premiums,  the  Company  will  instead  pay  the
Participant,  on  the  first  day  of  each  month  of  the  remainder  of  the  COBRA  Payment  Period,  a  fully  taxable  cash  payment  equal  to  the
COBRA premiums for that month, grossed up to cover the applicable tax withholdings. To the extent applicable, on the first business day to
occur on or after the 60 th day following the date of the Participant’s Qualifying Termination, the Company will make the first payment under
this Section 4(b)(ii) in a lump sum equal to the aggregate amount of payments that the Company would have paid through such date had such
payments commenced on the Separation from Service through such 60 th day, with the balance of the payments paid thereafter on the original
schedule.

(3)      If the Participant becomes eligible for coverage under another employer’s group health plan or otherwise ceases to be
eligible for COBRA during the applicable COBRA Payment Period, the Participant must immediately notify the Company of such event, and
all payments and obligations under this section will cease. For purposes of this Section 4(b), references to COBRA also refer to analogous
provisions  of  state  law.  Any  applicable  insurance  premiums  that  are  paid  by  the  Company  will  not  include  any  amounts  payable  by  the
Participant under a Code Section 125 health care reimbursement plan, which are the sole responsibility of the Participant.
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(c)      Accelerated Vestin g .

(5)      In the event of a Non-Change in Control Termination of a Participant, all Stock Awards with solely time-based vesting
terms held by such Participant shall be vested to the extent they would have vested on the date through the date that is six months following
his or her Non-Change in Control Termination had termination of employment not occurred through such date.

(6)      In the event  of  a  Change in Control  Termination of  a  Participant,  all  Stock Awards with solely time-based vesting
terms held by such Participant shall vest in full upon such Change in Control Termination.

(7)      For  clarity,  Stock  Awards  that  contain  vesting  criteria  based  wholly  or  in  part  on  the  achievement  of  business  or
individual performance criteria or milestones will not be eligible for accelerated vesting pursuant to this Plan, but may be eligible for separate
accelerated vesting benefits that may be contained in a Participant’s individual award agreement.

5.      CONDITIONS AND LIMITATIONS ON BENEFITS.

(a)      Release. To  be  eligible  to  receive  any  benefits  under  the  Plan,  a  Participant  must  sign  a  general  waiver  and  release  in
substantially the form attached hereto as EXHIBIT B , EXHIBIT C or EXHIBIT D , as appropriate (the “ Release
”), and such release must
become effective in accordance with its terms, in each case within 60 days following the Qualifying Termination. The Plan Administrator, in
its sole discretion, may modify the form of the required Release to comply with applicable law, and any such Release may be incorporated
into a termination agreement or other agreement with the Participant.

(b)      Prior Agreements; Certain Reductions.

(8)      The Plan does not provide for duplication (in whole or in part) of severance benefits with any other agreement or plan.
By  signing  a  Participation  Notice,  a  Participant  is  waiving  his  or  her  rights  under,  and  terminating  those  provisions  of,  any  employment
agreement or severance agreement with the Company that provide for benefits on a Qualifying Termination in existence as of the date that the
Participant signs such Participation Notice.

(9)      The Plan Administrator will reduce a Participant’s benefits under the Plan by any other statutory severance obligations
or  contractual  severance  benefits,  obligations  for  pay  in  lieu  of  notice,  and  any  other  similar  benefits  payable  to  the  Participant  by  the
Company (or any successor thereto) that are due in connection with the Participant’s Qualifying Termination and that are in the same form as
the  benefits  provided  under  the  Plan  (e.g.,  equity  award  vesting  credit).  Without  limitation,  this  reduction  includes  a  reduction  for  any
benefits  required  pursuant  to  (1)  any  applicable  legal  requirement,  including,  without  limitation,  the  Worker  Adjustment  and  Retraining
Notification Act,  (2)  a  written employment,  severance or  equity award agreement  with the Company,  (3)  any Company policy or  practice
providing  for  the  Participant  to  remain  on  the  payroll  for  a  limited  period  of  time  after  being  given  notice  of  the  termination  of  the
Participant’s  employment,  and  (4)  any  required  salary  continuation,  notice  pay,  statutory  severance  payment  or  other  payments  either
required by local law, or owed pursuant to a collective labor agreement, as a result of the termination of the Participant’s employment. Except
as set  forth herein,  the benefits  provided under the Plan are intended to satisfy,  to the greatest  extent possible,  and not to provide benefits
duplicative  of,  any  and  all  statutory,  contractual  and  collective  agreement  obligations  of  the  Company  in  respect  of  the  form  of  benefits
provided under the Plan that may arise out of a Qualifying Termination, and the Plan Administrator will so construe and implement the terms
of the Plan. Reductions may be applied on a retroactive basis, with benefits
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previously  provided  being  recharacterized  as  benefits  pursuant  to  the  Company’s  statutory  or  other  contractual  obligations.  The  payments
pursuant to the Plan are in addition to, and not in lieu of, any unpaid salary, bonuses or employee welfare benefits to which a Participant may
be entitled for the period ending with the Participant’s Qualifying Termination.

(c)      Mitigation. Except as otherwise specifically provided in the Plan, a Participant will not be required to mitigate damages or the
amount of any payment provided under the Plan by seeking other employment or otherwise, nor will the amount of any payment provided for
under the Plan be reduced by any compensation earned by a Participant as a result  of  employment by another employer or any retirement
benefits received by such Participant after the date of the Participant’s termination of employment with the Company (except as provided for
in Section 5(b)).

(d)      Indebtedness of Participants. To the extent permitted under applicable law, if a Participant is indebted to the Company on the
effective date of a Participant’s Qualifying Termination, the Company reserves the right to offset the payment of any benefits under the Plan
by  the  amount  of  such  indebtedness.  Such  offset  will  be  made  in  accordance  with  all  applicable  laws.  The  Participant’s  execution  of  the
Participation Notice constitutes knowing written consent to the foregoing.

(e)      Parachute Payments.

(1)      Except as otherwise expressly provided in an agreement between a Participant and the Company, if any payment or
benefit  the Participant would receive in connection with a Change in Control  from the Company or otherwise (a “ Payment
”) would (A)
constitute a “parachute payment” within the meaning of Section 280G of the Code, and (B) but for this sentence, be subject to the excise tax
imposed by Section 4999 of the Code (the “ Excise
Tax
”), then such Payment will be equal to the Reduced Amount. The “ Reduced
Amount
” will be either (i) the largest portion of the Payment that would result in no portion of the Payment being subject to the Excise Tax, or (ii) the
largest portion, up to and including the total, of the Payment, whichever amount ((i) or ii)), after taking into account all applicable federal,
state,  provincial,  foreign,  and local  employment  taxes,  income taxes,  and the  Excise  Tax (all  computed at  the  highest  applicable  marginal
rate), results in the Participant’s receipt, on an after-tax basis, of the greatest economic benefit notwithstanding that all or some portion of the
Payment may be subject to the Excise Tax. If a reduction in payments or benefits constituting “parachute payments” is necessary so that the
Payment  equals  the  Reduced  Amount,  reduction  will  occur  in  the  following  order:  (1)  reduction  of  cash  payments;  (2)  cancellation  of
accelerated vesting of Stock Awards other than stock options; (3) cancellation of accelerated vesting of stock options; and (4) reduction of
other  benefits  paid to  the Participant.  Within any such category of  Payments  (that  is,  (1),  (2),  (3)  or  (4)),  a  reduction will  occur  first  with
respect to amounts that are not “deferred compensation” within the meaning of Section 409A of the Code and then with respect to amounts
that are “deferred compensation.” In the event that acceleration of vesting of stock award compensation is to be reduced, such acceleration of
vesting will be cancelled in the reverse order of the date of grant of the Participant’s applicable type of stock award ( i.e.
, earliest granted
Stock Awards are cancelled last). If Section 409A of the Code is not applicable by law to a Participant, the Company will determine whether
any similar law in the Participant’s jurisdiction applies and should be taken into account.

(2)      The professional firm engaged by the Company for general tax purposes as of the day prior to the effective date of the
Change  in  Control  shall  make  all  determinations  required  to  be  made  under  this  Section  5(e).  If  the  professional  firm  so  engaged  by  the
Company is serving as an accountant or auditor for the individual, entity or group effecting the Change in Control, the Company shall appoint
a nationally recognized
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independent  registered  public  accounting  firm  to  make  the  determinations  required  hereunder.  The  Company  shall  bear  all  expenses  with
respect to the determinations by such professional firm required to be made hereunder. Any good faith determinations of the professional firm
made hereunder shall be final, binding and conclusive upon the Company and the Participant.

6.      TAX MATTERS.

(a)      Application  of  Code  Section  409A. Notwithstanding  anything  herein  to  the  contrary,  (1)  if  at  the  time  of  Participant’s
termination  of  employment  with  the  Company,  the  Participant  is  a  “specified  employee”  as  defined  in  Section  409A of  the  Code  and  the
applicable guidance and regulations thereunder (collectively, “ Section
409A
”), and the deferral of the commencement of any payments or
benefits  otherwise  payable  hereunder  as  a  result  of  such  termination  of  employment  is  necessary  in  order  to  prevent  any  accelerated  or
additional  tax  under  Section  409A,  then  the  Company  will  defer  the  commencement  of  the  payment  of  any  such  payments  or  benefits
hereunder (without any reduction in such payments or benefits ultimately paid or provided to Participant) until the first business day to occur
following the date that is six months following Participant’s termination of employment with the Company (or the earliest date as is permitted
under Section 409A); and (2) if any other payments of money or other benefits due to Participant hereunder could cause the application of an
accelerated or additional tax under Section 409A, such payments or other benefits shall  be deferred if  deferral will  make such payment or
other benefits compliant under Section 409A, or otherwise such payment or other benefits shall be restructured, to the extent possible, in a
manner,  determined by the Board, that does not cause such an accelerated or additional tax. In the event that payments under the Plan are
deferred pursuant to this Section 6 in order to prevent any accelerated tax or additional tax under Section 409A, then such payments shall be
paid at  the time specified under this Section 6 without any interest  thereon. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein,  to the extent
required  by  Section  409A,  a  termination  of  employment  shall  not  be  deemed  to  have  occurred  for  purposes  of  any  provision  of  the  Plan
providing  for  the  payment  of  amounts  or  benefits  upon  or  following  a  termination  of  employment  unless  such  termination  is  also  a
“separation from service” within the meaning of Section 409A and, for purposes of any such provision of this Agreement,  references to a
“resignation,” “termination,” “termination of employment” or like terms shall mean separation from service. For purposes of Section 409A,
each payment made under the Plan shall be designated as a “separate payment” within the meaning of the Section 409A. Notwithstanding
anything to the contrary herein, except to the extent any expense, reimbursement or in-kind benefit provided pursuant to the Plan does not
constitute a “deferral of compensation” within the meaning of Section 409A, (A) the amount of expenses eligible for reimbursement or in-
kind benefits provided to a Participant during any calendar year will not affect the amount of expenses eligible for reimbursement or in-kind
benefits provided to a Participant in any other calendar year; (B) the reimbursements for expenses for which a Participant is  entitled to be
reimbursed  shall  be  made  on  or  before  the  last  day  of  the  calendar  year  following  the  calendar  year  in  which  the  applicable  expense  is
incurred;  and  (C)  the  right  to  payment  or  reimbursement  or  in-kind  benefits  hereunder  may  not  be  liquidated  or  exchanged  for  any  other
benefit.

(b)      Withholding. All  payments  and  benefits  under  the  Plan  will  be  subject  to  all  applicable  deductions  and  withholdings,
including, without limitation, obligations to withhold for federal, state, provincial, foreign and local income and employment taxes.

(c)      Tax Advice. By becoming a Participant in the Plan, the Participant agrees to review with the Participant’s own tax advisors the
federal, state, provincial, local, and foreign tax consequences of participation in the Plan. The Participant will rely solely on such advisors and
not  on  any  statements  or  representations  of  the  Company  or  any  of  its  agents.  The  Participant  understands  that  Participant  (and  not  the
Company) will be responsible for his or her own tax liability that may arise as a result of becoming a Participant in the Plan.
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7.      REEMPLOYMENT. In  the  event  of  a  Participant’s  reemployment  by the  Company during the  period of  time in  respect  of  which
severance  benefits  have  been  provided  (that  is,  benefits  as  a  result  of  a  Qualifying  Termination),  the  Company,  in  its  sole  and  absolute
discretion, may require such Participant to repay to the Company all or a portion of such severance benefits as a condition of reemployment.

8.      CLAWBACK;  RECOVERY. All  payments  and  severance  benefits  provided  under  the  Plan  will  be  subject  to  recoupment  in
accordance  with  any  clawback  policy  that  the  Company  is  required  to  adopt  pursuant  to  the  listing  standards  of  any  national  securities
exchange or association on which the Company’s securities are listed or as is otherwise required by the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and
Consumer Protection Act or other applicable law. In addition, the Board may impose such other clawback, recovery or recoupment provisions
in the Participation Notice, as the Board determines necessary or appropriate, including but not limited to a reacquisition right in respect of
previously acquired shares of Common Stock or other cash or property upon the occurrence of Cause. No recovery of compensation under
such  a  clawback  policy  will  be  an  event  giving  rise  to  a  right  to  resign  for  “good  reason,”  Resignation  for  Good  Reason,  constructive
termination, or any similar term under any plan of or agreement with the Company.

9.      RIGHT TO INTERPRET PLAN; AMENDMENT AND TERMINATION.

(a)      Exclusive Discretion. The Plan Administrator will have the exclusive discretion and authority to establish rules, forms, and
procedures for the administration of the Plan and to construe and interpret the Plan and to decide any and all questions of fact, interpretation,
definition, computation or administration arising in connection with the operation of the Plan, including, without limitation, the eligibility to
participate in the Plan,  the amount  of  benefits  paid under the Plan and any adjustments  that  need to be made in accordance with the laws
applicable to a Participant. The rules, interpretations, computations and other actions of the Plan Administrator will be binding and conclusive
on all persons.

(b)      Amendment or Termination. The Company reserves the right to amend or terminate the Plan, any Participation Notice issued
pursuant to the Plan or the benefits provided hereunder at any time; provided, however, that no such amendment or termination will apply to
any  Participant  who  would  be  adversely  affected  by  such  amendment  or  termination  unless  such  Participant  consents  in  writing  to  such
amendment or termination. Any action amending or terminating the Plan or any Participation Notice will be in writing and executed by a duly
authorized officer of the Company.

10.      NO IMPLIED EMPLOYMENT CONTRACT. The Plan will not be deemed (a) to give any employee or other person any right to
be retained in the employ of the Company, or (b) to interfere with the right of the Company to discharge any employee or other person at any
time, with or without Cause, and with or without advance notice, which right is hereby reserved.

11.      LEGAL CONSTRUCTION. The Plan will be governed by and construed under the laws of the State of California (without regard to
principles of conflict of laws), except to the extent preempted by ERISA.

12.      CLAIMS, INQUIRIES AND APPEALS.

(a)      Applications for Benefits and Inquiries. Any application for benefits, inquiries about the Plan or inquiries about present or
future rights under the Plan must be submitted to the Plan Administrator in writing by an applicant (or his or her authorized representative).
The Plan Administrator is set forth in Section 14(d).
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(b)      Denial of Claims. In the event that any application for benefits is  denied in whole or in part,  the Plan Administrator must
provide the applicant with written or electronic notice of the denial of the application, and of the applicant’s right to review the denial. Any
electronic  notice  will  comply  with  the  regulations  of  the  U.S.  Department  of  Labor.  The  notice  of  denial  will  be  set  forth  in  a  manner
designed to be understood by the applicant and will include the following:

(1)      the specific reason or reasons for the denial;

(2)      references to the specific Plan provisions upon which the denial is based;

(3)      a description of any additional information or material that the Plan Administrator needs to complete the review and an
explanation of why such information or material is necessary; and

(4)      an explanation of the Plan’s review procedures and the time limits applicable to such procedures, including a statement
of  the  applicant’s  right  to  bring  a  civil  action  under  Section  502(a)  of  ERISA following  a  denial  on  review of  the  claim,  as  described  in
Section 12(d).

The  notice  of  denial  will  be  given  to  the  applicant  within  90  days  after  the  Plan  Administrator  receives  the  application,  unless  special
circumstances  require  an  extension  of  time,  in  which  case,  the  Plan  Administrator  has  up  to  an  additional  90  days  for  processing  the
application. If an extension of time for processing is required, written notice of the extension will be furnished to the applicant before the end
of the initial 90 day period.

The notice of extension will describe the special circumstances necessitating the additional time and the date by which the Plan Administrator
is to render its decision on the application.

(c)      Request for a Review. Any person (or that person’s authorized representative) for whom an application for benefits is denied,
in whole or in part, may appeal the denial by submitting a request for a review to the Plan Administrator within 60 days after the application
is denied. A request for a review will be in writing and will be addressed to:

TriNet Group, Inc.
Attn: Chief Legal Officer

1100 San Leandro Boulevard, Suite 400
San Leandro, CA 94577

A request for review must set forth all of the grounds on which it is based, all facts in support of the request and any other matters that the
applicant feels are pertinent. The applicant (or his or her representative) will have the opportunity to submit (or the Plan Administrator may
require the applicant to submit) written comments, documents, records, and other information relating to his or her claim. The applicant (or
his or her representative) will be provided, upon request and free of charge, reasonable access to, and copies of, all documents, records and
other  information relevant  to  his  or  her  claim.  The review will  take into  account  all  comments,  documents,  records  and other  information
submitted by the applicant (or his or her representative) relating to the claim, without regard to whether such information was submitted or
considered in the initial benefit determination.

(d)      Decision on Review. The Plan Administrator will act on each request for review within 60 days after receipt of the request,
unless special circumstances require an extension of time (not to exceed an additional 60 days), for processing the request for a review. If an
extension for review is required, written notice of the extension will be furnished to the applicant within the initial 60 day period. This notice
of  extension  will  describe  the  special  circumstances  necessitating  the  additional  time  and  the  date  by  which  the  Plan  Administrator  is  to
render its decision on the review. The Plan Administrator will give prompt, written or electronic notice of its decision to the applicant.
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Any electronic notice will comply with the regulations of the U.S. Department of Labor. In the event that the Plan Administrator confirms the
denial of the application for benefits, in whole or in part, the notice will set forth, in a manner designed to be understood by the applicant, the
following:

(1)      the specific reason or reasons for the denial;

(2)      references to the specific Plan provisions upon which the denial is based;

(3)      a statement that the applicant is entitled to receive, upon request and free of charge, reasonable access to, and copies of,
all documents, records and other information relevant to his or her claim; and

(4)      a statement of the applicant’s right to bring a civil action under Section 502(a) of ERISA.

(e)      Rules and Procedures. The Plan Administrator will establish rules and procedures, consistent with the Plan and with ERISA,
as necessary and appropriate in carrying out its responsibilities in reviewing benefit claims. The Plan Administrator may require an applicant
who wishes to submit additional information in connection with an appeal from the denial of benefits to do so at the applicant’s own expense.

(f)      Exhaustion of Remedies. No legal action for benefits under the Plan may be brought until the applicant (i) has submitted a
written application for benefits in accordance with the procedures described by Section 12(a), (ii) has been notified by the Plan Administrator
that the application is denied, (iii) has filed a written request for a review of the application in accordance with the appeal procedure described
in  Section  12(c),  and  (iv)  has  been  notified  that  the  Plan  Administrator  has  denied  the  appeal.  Notwithstanding  the  foregoing,  if  the  Plan
Administrator does not  respond to an applicant’s claim or appeal within the relevant time limits specified in this Section 12,  the applicant
may bring legal action for benefits under the Plan pursuant to Section 502(a) of ERISA.

13.      BASIS OF PAYMENTS TO AND FROM PLAN. All  benefits  under  the  Plan  will  be  paid  by  the  Company.  The  Plan  will  be
unfunded, and benefits hereunder will be paid only from the general assets of the Company.

14.      OTHER PLAN INFORMATION.

(a)      Employer and Plan Identification Numbers. The Employer Identification Number assigned to the Company (which is the
“Plan Sponsor” as that term is used in ERISA) by the Internal Revenue Service is 95-3359658. The Plan Number assigned to the Plan by the
Plan Sponsor pursuant to the instructions of the Internal Revenue Service is 101.

(b)      Ending Date for Plan’s Fiscal Year. The date of the end of the fiscal year for the purpose of maintaining the Plan’s records is
December 31.

(c)      Agent for the Service of Legal Process . The agent for the service of legal process with respect to the Plan is:

TriNet Group, Inc.
Attn: Chief Legal Officer

1100 San Leandro Boulevard, Suite 400
San Leandro, CA 94577
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(d)      Plan Sponsor and Administrator. The “Plan Sponsor” and the “Plan Administrator” of the Plan is:

TriNet Group, Inc.
Attn: Chief Legal Officer

1100 San Leandro Boulevard, Suite 400
San Leandro, CA 94577

The Plan Sponsor’s and Plan Administrator’s telephone number is (510) 352-5000. The Plan Administrator is the named fiduciary charged
with the responsibility for administering the Plan.

15.      STATEMENT OF ERISA RIGHTS.

Participants  in  the  Plan  (which  is  a  welfare  benefit  plan  sponsored  by  the  Company)  are  entitled  to  certain  rights  and  protections
under ERISA. For the purposes of this Section 15 and, under ERISA, Participants are entitled to:

Receive Information About the Plan and Benefits

(a)      Examine, without charge, at the Plan Administrator’s office and at other specified locations, such as worksites, all documents
governing the Plan and a copy of the latest annual report (Form 5500 Series),  if  applicable, filed by the Plan with the U.S. Department of
Labor and available at the Public Disclosure Room of the Employee Benefits Security Administration;

(b)      Obtain, upon written request to the Plan Administrator, copies of documents governing the operation of the Plan and copies of
the latest annual report (Form 5500 Series), if applicable, and an updated (as necessary) Summary Plan Description. The Plan Administrator
may make a reasonable charge for the copies; and

(c)      Receive a summary of the Plan’s annual financial report, if applicable. The Plan Administrator is required by law to furnish
each participant with a copy of this summary annual report.

Prudent Actions By Plan Fiduciaries

In  addition  to  creating  rights  for  Plan  participants,  ERISA  imposes  duties  upon  the  people  who  are  responsible  for  the  operation  of  the
employee benefit plan. The people who operate the Plan, called “fiduciaries” of the Plan, have a duty to do so prudently and in the interest of
each Plan Participant and their beneficiaries. No one, including a Participant’s employer, a Participant’s union or any other person, may fire a
Participant or otherwise discriminate against a Participant in any way to prevent a Participant’s from obtaining a Plan benefit or exercising a
Participant’s rights under ERISA.

Enforcement of Participant Rights

If a Participant’s claim for a Plan benefit is denied or ignored, in whole or in part, a Participant has a right to know why this was done, to
obtain copies of documents relating to the decision without charge, and to appeal any denial, all within certain time schedules.

Under  ERISA,  there  are  steps  a  Participant  can  take  to  enforce  the  above  rights.  For  instance,  if  a  Participant  request  a  copy  of  Plan
documents or the latest annual report from the Plan, if applicable, and does not receive them within 30 days, the Participant may file suit in a
federal court. In such a case, the court may require the Plan Administrator
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to provide the materials and pay the Participant up to $110 a day until the Participant receive the materials, unless the materials were not sent
because of reasons beyond the control of the Plan Administrator.

If a Participant has a claim for benefits that is denied or ignored, in whole or in part, the Participant may file suit in a state or federal court.

If a Participant is discriminated against for asserting the Participant’s rights, the Participant may seek assistance from the U.S. Department of
Labor, or the Participant may file suit in a federal court. The court will decide who should pay court costs and legal fees. If the Participant is
successful, the court may order the person the Participant has sued to pay these costs and fees. If the Participant loses, the court may order the
Participant to pay these costs and fees, for example, if it finds the Participant’s claim is frivolous.

Assistance With Questions

If  a  Participant  has  any questions  about  the  Plan,  the  Participant  should  contact  the  Plan Administrator.  If  a  Participant  has  any questions
about this statement or about the Participant’s rights under ERISA, or if a Participant needs assistance in obtaining documents from the Plan
Administrator, the Participant should contact the nearest office of the Employee Benefits Security Administration, U.S. Department of Labor,
listed  in  the  telephone  directory  or  the  Division  of  Technical  Assistance  and  Inquiries,  Employee  Benefits  Security  Administration,  U.S.
Department of Labor, 200 Constitution Avenue N.W., Washington, D.C. 20210. A Participant may also obtain certain publications about the
Participant’s rights and responsibilities under ERISA by calling the publications hotline of the Employee Benefits Security Administration.

16.      GENERAL PROVISIONS.

(a)      Notices. Any notice, demand or request required or permitted to be given by either the Company or a Participant pursuant to
the terms of the Plan will be in writing and will be deemed given when delivered personally, when received electronically (including email
addressed to the Participant’s Company email account and to the Company email account of the Company’s General Counsel), or deposited
in the U.S. Mail, First Class with postage prepaid, and addressed to the parties, in the case of the Company, at the address set forth in Section
12(d), in the case of a Participant, at the address as set forth in the Company’s employment file maintained for the Participant as previously
furnished by the Participant or such other address as a party may request by notifying the other in writing.

(b)      Transfer  and Assignment. The rights  and  obligations  of  a  Participant  under  the  Plan  may not  be  transferred  or  assigned
without the prior written consent of the Company. The Plan will be binding upon any surviving entity resulting from a Change in Control and
upon  any  other  person  who  is  a  successor  by  merger,  acquisition,  consolidation  or  otherwise  to  the  business  formerly  carried  on  by  the
Company without regard to whether or not such person or entity actively assumes the obligations hereunder.

(c)      Waiver. Any party’s failure to enforce any provision or provisions of the Plan will not in any way be construed as a waiver of
any  such  provision  or  provisions,  nor  prevent  any  party  from thereafter  enforcing  each  and  every  other  provision  of  the  Plan.  The  rights
granted to the parties herein are cumulative and will not constitute a waiver of any party’s right to assert all other legal remedies available to
it under the circumstances.

(d)      Severability. Should any provision of the Plan be declared or determined to be invalid, illegal or unenforceable, the validity,
legality and enforceability of the remaining provisions will not in any way be affected or impaired.
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(e)      Section Headings. Section headings in the Plan are included only for convenience of reference and will not be considered part
of the Plan for any other purpose.
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EXHIBIT A

TRINET GROUP, INC.

SEVERANCE BENEFIT PLAN
PARTICIPATION NOTICE

To:     

Date:     

TriNet Group, Inc. (the “ Company
”) has adopted the TriNet Group, Inc. Severance Benefit Plan (the “ Plan
”). The Company is
providing you this Participation Notice to inform you that you have been designated as a Participant in the Plan. A copy of the Plan document
is  attached  to  this  Participation  Notice.  The  terms  and  conditions  of  your  participation  in  the  Plan  are  as  set  forth  in  the  Plan  and  this
Participation Notice, which together constitute the Summary Plan Description for the Plan.

You  understand  that  by  accepting  your  status  as  a  Participant  in  the  Plan,  you  are  waiving  your  rights  to  receive  any  severance
benefits on any type of termination of employment under any other contract or agreement with the Company[ including, but not limited to,
the severance benefit provisions set forth in Section [_______] of your employment agreement with the Company, dated [_________], which
severance benefit provisions will terminate by the mutual agreement of you and the Company as of the date that you sign this Participation
Notice].

By accepting participation, you represent that you have either consulted your personal tax or financial planning advisor about the tax
consequences of your participation in the Plan, or you have knowingly declined to do so.

Please  return  a  signed  copy  of  this  Participation  Notice  to  [________________]  at  [____________]  and  retain  a  copy  of  this
Participation Notice, along with the Plan document, for your records.

 

TRINET GROUP, INC.

Signature:                                                                                        
Printed Name:                                                                                
Title:                                                                                                   
PARTICIPANT

Signature:                                                                                        
Printed Name:                                                                                 

    



EXHIBIT B

RELEASE AGREEMENT 
[EMPLOYEES AGE 40 OR OVER; INDIVIDUAL TERMINATION]

I have reviewed, I understand, and I agree completely to the terms set forth in the TriNet Group, Inc. Severance Benefit Plan (the “
Plan
”).

I  understand  that  this  Release,  together  with  the  Plan,  constitutes  the  complete,  final  and  exclusive  embodiment  of  the  entire
agreement between the Company, affiliates of the Company, and me with regard to the subject matter hereof. I am not relying on any promise
or representation by the Company or an affiliate of the Company that is not expressly stated therein. Certain capitalized terms used in this
Release are defined in the Plan.

I hereby acknowledge and reaffirm my obligations under my Proprietary Information and Invention Agreement.

Except as otherwise set forth in this Release, I hereby generally and completely release the Company and its affiliates, and its and
their parents, subsidiaries, successors, predecessors and affiliates, and their partners, members, directors, officers, employees, stockholders,
shareholders, agents, attorneys, predecessors, insurers, affiliates and assigns (collectively, the “ Released
Parties
”), of and from any and all
claims, liabilities and obligations, both known and unknown, that arise out of or are in any way related to events, acts, conduct, or omissions
occurring at any time prior to or on the date I sign this Release (collectively, the “ Released
Claims
”). The Released Claims include, but are
not limited to: (a) all claims arising out of or in any way related to my employment with the Company and its affiliates, or their affiliates, or
the termination of that employment; (b) all claims related to my compensation or benefits, including salary, bonuses, commissions, vacation
pay, expense reimbursements, severance pay, fringe benefits, stock, stock options, or any other ownership interests in the Company and its
affiliates, or their affiliates; (c) all claims for breach of contract, wrongful termination, and breach of the implied covenant of good faith and
fair dealing; (d) all tort claims, including claims for fraud, defamation, emotional distress, and discharge in violation of public policy; and (e)
all federal, state, provincial and local statutory claims, including claims for discrimination, harassment, retaliation, attorneys’ fees, or other
claims arising under the federal Civil Rights Act of 1964 (as amended), the federal Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990 (as amended), the
federal Age Discrimination in Employment Act (as amended) (“ ADEA
”), the federal Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974 (as
amended), the federal Family and Medical Leave Act (as amended) (“ FMLA
”), the California Family Rights Act (as amended) (“ CFRA
”),
the California Labor Code (as amended), and the California Fair Employment and Housing Act (as amended).

Notwithstanding  the  foregoing,  I  understand  that  the  following  rights  or  claims  are  not  included  in  my  Release  (the  “ Excluded
Claims
”):  (a)  any  rights  or  claims  for  indemnification  I  may  have  pursuant  to  any  fully  executed  indemnification  agreement  with  the
Company  or  its  affiliate  to  which  I  am  a  party;  the  charter,  bylaws,  or  operating  agreements  of  the  Company  or  its  affiliate;  or  under
applicable law; (b) any rights or claims which cannot be waived as a matter of law; or (c) any claims for breach of the Plan arising after the
date that I sign this Release. In addition, I understand that nothing in this Release prevents me from filing, cooperating with, or participating
in any proceeding before the Equal Employment Opportunity Commission, the Department of Labor, or any other government agency, except
that I hereby waive my right to any monetary benefits in connection with any such claim, charge or proceeding.



I hereby represent and warrant that, other than the Excluded Claims, I am not aware of any claims I have or might have against the Released
Parties that are not included in the Released Claims.

I  acknowledge  that  I  am  knowingly  and  voluntarily  waiving  and  releasing  any  rights  I  may  have  under  the  ADEA,  and  that  the
consideration given under the Plan for the waiver and release in the preceding paragraphs hereof is in addition to anything of value to which I
was already entitled. I further acknowledge that I have been advised by this writing, as required by the ADEA, that: (a) my waiver and release
do not apply to any rights or claims that may arise after the date I sign this Release; (b) I should consult with an attorney prior to signing this
Release (although I may choose voluntarily not do so); (c) I have 21 days to consider this Release (although I may choose voluntarily to sign
this Release earlier);  (d) I  have seven days following the date I  sign this Release to revoke the Release by providing written notice of my
revocation  to  an  officer  of  the  Company;  and  (e)  this  Release  will  not  be  effective  until  the  date  upon  which  the  revocation  period  has
expired, which will be the eighth day after I sign this Release.

In  giving  the  releases  set  forth  in  this  Release,  which  include  claims  which  may  be  unknown  or  unsuspected  by  me  at  present,  I
acknowledge that I have read and understand Section 1542 of the California Civil Code which reads as follows: “A general release does not
extend to claims which the creditor does not know or suspect to exist in his or her favor at the time of executing the release, which if
known by him or her must have materially affected his or her settlement with the debtor.” I hereby expressly waive and relinquish all
rights and benefits under that section and any law or legal principle of similar effect in any jurisdiction with respect to the releases granted
herein, including but not limited to the release of unknown and unsuspected claims granted in this Release.

I hereby represent and warrant that: (a) I have been paid all compensation owed and for all time worked; (b) I have received all the
leave and leave benefits and protections for which I am eligible pursuant to FMLA, CFRA, the Company’s policies, or applicable law; and
(c) I have not suffered any on-the-job injury or illness for which I have not already filed a workers’ compensation claim.

I acknowledge that to become effective, I must sign and return this Release to the Company so that it  is received not later than 21
days following the date it is provided to me, and I must not subsequently revoke the Release.

 

PARTICIPANT

Signature:                                                                                        
Printed Name:                                                                                 



EXHIBIT C

RELEASE AGREEMENT 
[EMPLOYEES AGE 40 OR OVER; GROUP TERMINATION]

I have reviewed, I understand, and I agree completely to the terms set forth in the TriNet Group, Inc. Severance Benefit Plan (the “
Plan
”).

I  understand  that  this  Release,  together  with  the  Plan,  constitutes  the  complete,  final  and  exclusive  embodiment  of  the  entire
agreement between the Company, affiliates of the Company, and me with regard to the subject matter hereof. I am not relying on any promise
or representation by the Company or an affiliate of the Company that is not expressly stated therein. Certain capitalized terms used in this
Release are defined in the Plan.

I hereby acknowledge and reaffirm my obligations under my Proprietary Information and Invention Agreement.

Except as otherwise set forth in this Release, I hereby generally and completely release the Company and its affiliates, and its and
their  parents,  subsidiaries,  successors,  predecessors  and  affiliates,  and  its  and  their  partners,  members,  directors,  officers,  employees,
stockholders,  shareholders,  agents,  attorneys,  predecessors,  insurers,  affiliates  and  assigns  (collectively,  the  “ Released 
Parties
”),  of  and
from any  and  all  claims,  liabilities  and  obligations,  both  known and  unknown,  that  arise  out  of  or  are  in  any  way  related  to  events,  acts,
conduct, or omissions occurring at any time prior to or on the date I sign this Release (collectively, the “ Released
Claims
”). The Released
Claims  include,  but  are  not  limited  to:  (a)  all  claims  arising  out  of  or  in  any  way  related  to  my  employment  with  the  Company  and  its
affiliates, or their affiliates, or the termination of that employment; (b) all  claims related to my compensation or benefits,  including salary,
bonuses, commissions, vacation pay, expense reimbursements, severance pay, fringe benefits,  stock, stock options, or any other ownership
interests in the Company and its  affiliates,  or their  affiliates;  (c)  all  claims for breach of contract,  wrongful termination,  and breach of the
implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing; (d) all tort claims, including claims for fraud, defamation, emotional distress, and discharge
in violation of public policy; and (e) all federal, state, provincial and local statutory claims, including claims for discrimination, harassment,
retaliation,  attorneys’  fees,  or  other  claims  arising  under  the  federal  Civil  Rights  Act  of  1964  (as  amended),  the  federal  Americans  with
Disabilities Act of 1990 (as amended), the federal Age Discrimination in Employment Act (as amended) (“ ADEA
”), the federal Employee
Retirement Income Security Act of 1974 (as amended), the federal Family and Medical Leave Act (as amended) (“ FMLA
”), the California
Family Rights Act (as amended) (“ CFRA
”), the California Labor Code (as amended), and the California Fair Employment and Housing Act
(as amended).

Notwithstanding  the  foregoing,  I  understand  that  the  following  rights  or  claims  are  not  included  in  my  Release  (the  “ Excluded
Claims
”):  (a)  any  rights  or  claims  for  indemnification  I  may  have  pursuant  to  any  fully  executed  indemnification  agreement  with  the
Company  or  its  affiliate  to  which  I  am  a  party;  the  charter,  bylaws,  or  operating  agreements  of  the  Company  or  its  affiliate;  or  under
applicable law; (b) any rights or claims which cannot be waived as a matter of law; or (c) any claims for breach of the Plan arising after the
date that I sign this Release. In addition, I understand that nothing in this Release prevents me from filing, cooperating with, or participating
in any proceeding before the Equal Employment Opportunity Commission, the Department of Labor, or any other government agency, except
that  I  hereby  waive  my  right  to  any  monetary  benefits  in  connection  with  any  such  claim,  charge  or  proceeding.  I  hereby  represent  and
warrant that,  other than the Excluded Claims, I  am not aware of any claims I have or might have against the Released Parties that are not
included in the Released Claims.

        



I  acknowledge  that  I  am  knowingly  and  voluntarily  waiving  and  releasing  any  rights  I  may  have  under  the  ADEA,  and  that  the
consideration given under the Plan for the waiver and release in the preceding paragraphs hereof is in addition to anything of value to which I
was already entitled. I further acknowledge that I have been advised by this writing, as required by the ADEA, that: (a) my waiver and release
do not apply to any rights or claims that may arise after the date I sign this Release; (b) I should consult with an attorney prior to signing this
Release (although I may choose voluntarily not to do so); (c) I have 45 days to consider this Release (although I may choose voluntarily to
sign this Release earlier); (d) I have seven days following the date I sign this Release to revoke the Release by providing written notice of my
revocation to an office of the Company; (e) this Release will  not be effective until  the date upon which the revocation period has expired,
which  will  be  the  eighth  day  after  I  sign  this  Release;  and  (f)  I  have  received  with  this  Release  a  written  disclosure  under  29  U.S.  Code
Section 626(f)(1)(H) that includes certain information relating to the Company’s group termination.

In  giving  the  releases  set  forth  in  this  Release,  which  include  claims  which  may  be  unknown  or  unsuspected  by  me  at  present,  I
acknowledge that I have read and understand Section 1542 of the California Civil Code which reads as follows: “A general release does not
extend to claims which the creditor does not know or suspect to exist in his or her favor at the time of executing the release, which if
known by him or her must have materially affected his or her settlement with the debtor.” I hereby expressly waive and relinquish all
rights and benefits under that section and any law or legal principle of similar effect in any jurisdiction with respect to the releases granted
herein, including but not limited to the release of unknown and unsuspected claims granted in this Release.

I hereby represent and warrant that: (a) I have been paid all compensation owed and for all time worked; (b) I have received all the
leave and leave benefits and protections for which I am eligible pursuant to FMLA, CFRA, the Company’s policies, or applicable law; and
(c) I have not suffered any on-the-job injury or illness for which I have not already filed a workers’ compensation claim.

I acknowledge that to become effective, I must sign and return this Release to the Company so that it  is received not later than 45
days following the date it is provided to me, and I must not subsequently revoke the Release.

 

PARTICIPANT

Signature:                                                                                        
Printed Name:                                                                                 

        



EXHIBIT D

RELEASE AGREEMENT 
[EMPLOYEES UNDER AGE 40]

I have reviewed, I understand, and I agree completely to the terms set forth in the TriNet Group, Inc. Severance Benefit Plan (the “
Plan
”).

I  understand  that  this  Release,  together  with  the  Plan,  constitutes  the  complete,  final  and  exclusive  embodiment  of  the  entire
agreement between the Company, affiliates of the Company, and me with regard to the subject matter hereof. I am not relying on any promise
or representation by the Company or an affiliate of the Company that is not expressly stated therein. Certain capitalized terms used in this
Release are defined in the Plan.

I hereby acknowledge and reaffirm my obligations under my Proprietary Information and Invention Agreement.  

Except as otherwise set forth in this Release, I hereby generally and completely release the Company and its affiliates, and its and
their  parents,  subsidiaries,  successors,  predecessors  and  affiliates,  and  its  and  their  partners,  members,  directors,  officers,  employees,
stockholders,  shareholders,  agents,  attorneys,  predecessors,  insurers,  affiliates  and  assigns  (collectively,  the  “ Released 
Parties
”),  of  and
from any  and  all  claims,  liabilities  and  obligations,  both  known and  unknown,  that  arise  out  of  or  are  in  any  way  related  to  events,  acts,
conduct, or omissions occurring at any time prior to or on the date I sign this Release (collectively, the “ Released
Claims
”). The Released
Claims  include,  but  are  not  limited  to:  (a)  all  claims  arising  out  of  or  in  any  way  related  to  my  employment  with  the  Company  and  its
affiliates, or their affiliates, or the termination of that employment; (b) all  claims related to my compensation or benefits,  including salary,
bonuses, commissions, vacation pay, expense reimbursements, severance pay, fringe benefits,  stock, stock options, or any other ownership
interests in the Company and its  affiliates,  or their  affiliates;  (c)  all  claims for breach of contract,  wrongful termination,  and breach of the
implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing; (d) all tort claims, including claims for fraud, defamation, emotional distress, and discharge
in violation of public policy; and (e) all federal, state, provincial and local statutory claims, including claims for discrimination, harassment,
retaliation,  attorneys’  fees,  or  other  claims  arising  under  the  federal  Civil  Rights  Act  of  1964  (as  amended),  the  federal  Americans  with
Disabilities Act of 1990 (as amended), the federal Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974 (as amended), the federal Family and
Medical Leave Act (as amended) (“ FMLA
”), the California Family Rights Act (as amended) (“ CFRA
”), the California Labor Code (as
amended), and the California Fair Employment and Housing Act (as amended).

Notwithstanding  the  foregoing,  I  understand  that  the  following  rights  or  claims  are  not  included  in  my  Release  (the  “ Excluded
Claims
”):  (a)  any  rights  or  claims  for  indemnification  I  may  have  pursuant  to  any  fully  executed  indemnification  agreement  with  the
Company  or  its  affiliate  to  which  I  am  a  party;  the  charter,  bylaws,  or  operating  agreements  of  the  Company  or  its  affiliate;  or  under
applicable law; (b) any rights or claims which cannot be waived as a matter of law; or (c) any claims for breach of the Plan arising after the
date that I sign this Release. In addition, I understand that nothing in this Release prevents me from filing, cooperating with, or participating
in any proceeding before the Equal Employment Opportunity



Commission,  the Department of  Labor,  or  any other government agency,  except  that  I  hereby waive my right  to any monetary benefits  in
connection with any such claim, charge or proceeding. I hereby represent and warrant that, other than the Excluded Claims, I am not aware of
any claims I have or might have against the Released Parties that are not included in the Released Claims.

In  giving  the  releases  set  forth  in  this  Release,  which  include  claims  which  may  be  unknown  or  unsuspected  by  me  at  present,  I
acknowledge that I have read and understand Section 1542 of the California Civil Code which reads as follows: “A general release does not
extend to claims which the creditor does not know or suspect to exist in his or her favor at the time of executing the release, which if
known by him or her must have materially affected his or her settlement with the debtor.” I hereby expressly waive and relinquish all
rights and benefits under that section and any law or legal principle of similar effect in any jurisdiction with respect to the releases granted
herein, including but not limited to the release of unknown and unsuspected claims granted in this Release.

I hereby represent and warrant that: (a) I have been paid all compensation owed and for all time worked; (b) I have received all the
leave and leave benefits and protections for which I am eligible pursuant to FMLA, CFRA, the Company’s policies, or applicable law; and
(c) I have not suffered any on-the-job injury or illness for which I have not already filed a workers’ compensation claim.

I acknowledge that to become effective, I must sign and return this Release to the Company so that it  is received not later than 14
days following the date it is provided to me.

 

PARTICIPANT

Signature:                                                                                     
Printed Name:                                                                          

    



Exhibit 21.1

SUBSIDIARIES OF TRINET GROUP, INC.
 

Company Name   DBA/AKA   
Incorporation
Jurisdiction

TriNet Group, Inc.   TriNet   Delaware
TriNet HR Corporation   TriNet   California
TriNet HR II, Inc.   TriNet   Delaware
TriNet HR V, Inc.   TriNet   Delaware
TriNet Employer Group Canada, Inc.   TriNet   Ontario
TriNet Insurance Services, Inc.      California
TriNet Employee Benefit Insurance Trust      a Grantor Trust
Archimedes Risk Solutions, Ltd.      Bermuda
Gevity Insurance Agency, Inc.      Delaware
App7, Inc.   ExpenseCloud   Delaware
210 Park Avenue Holding, Inc.      Oklahoma
Accord Human Resources, Inc.   Accord   Oklahoma
Accord Human Resources 2, Inc.   Accord Human Resources of Florida II, Inc.   Florida
Accord Human Resources 8, Inc.   Accord Human Resources of Georgia, Inc.   Oklahoma
Accord Human Resources 10, Inc.      Florida
Accord Human Resources 11, Inc.   Accord Human Resources of California, Inc.   California
Accord Human Resources 12, Inc.   Accord Human Resources of Florida, Inc.   Florida
Accord Human Resources 13, Inc.   Accord Human Resources of New York II, Inc.   New York
Accord Human Resources 14, Inc.   Accord Human Resources of New York, Inc.   New York
Accord Human Resources 15, Inc.   Accord Human Resources of California II, Inc.   California
Accord Human Resources 16, Inc.   Accord Human Resources of Texas, Inc.   Texas
Accord Human Resources 17, Inc.   Accord Human Resources of Colorado, Inc.   Colorado
Accord Human Resources 18, Inc.   Accord Human Resources of New York III, Inc.   New York
Accord Human Resources 19, Inc.   Accord Personnel Services, Inc.   Florida
Accord Human Resources 20, Inc.   CEO, Inc.   Indiana
Accord Technology, LLC      Oklahoma
Mosaic By Accord, LLC      Oklahoma
SOI Holdings, Inc.      Delaware
Strategic Outsourcing, Inc.   SOI   Delaware
SOI, Inc.      Delaware
Amlease Corporation      Delaware
Summit Services, Inc.      New Jersey



Company Name   DBA/AKA  
Incorporation
Jurisdiction

Summit Services of Georgia, Inc.    Georgia
Amlease of PA, Inc.    Pennsylvania
SOI-17 of TN, Inc.    Tennessee
SOI-23 of FL, Inc.    Florida
Real Solutions, Inc.    Arizona
SOI-27 of CA, Inc.    California
SOI-28 of TX, Inc.    Texas
SOI-29 of AR, Inc.    Arkansas
SOI-31 of AR, Inc.    Arkansas
ALSUB-36, Inc.    Alabama
Strategic Outsourced HR, Inc.    Indiana
Star Outsourcing, Inc.    Arizona
AZSUB-51, Inc.    Arizona
NYSUB-54, Inc.    New York
NYSUB-55, Inc.    New York
SOI-59 of TX, Inc.    Texas
FLSUB-62, Inc.    Florida
TXSUB-64, Inc.    Texas
Route 66 HR Outsourcing, Inc.    California
Mayberry HR Outsourcing, Inc.    North Carolina
Rocky Top HR Outsourcing, Inc.    Tennessee
HR Complete, Inc.    Delaware
ASOI, Inc.     Delaware
Affiliated Risk Management, Inc.    North Carolina
Ambrose Employer Group, LLC   Ambrose New York
Ambrose Advisory Services, LLC    New York



Exhibit 23.1

Consent of Ernst & Young LLP, Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

We consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statement (Form S-8 No.333-194880), pertaining to the TriNet Group, Inc. 2000 Equity Incentive
Plan, TriNet Group, Inc. 2009 Equity Incentive Plan, and TriNet Group, Inc. 2014 Employee Stock Purchase Plan of our reports dated March 31, 2016 with respect
to the consolidated financial statements and schedule of TriNet Group, Inc. and Subsidiaries and the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting of
TriNet Group, Inc. and Subsidiaries, included in this Annual Report (Form 10-K) for the year ended December 31, 2015 .

/s/ Ernst & Young LLP

San Francisco, California
March 31, 2016



Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION BY PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICER
PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Burton M. Goldfield, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of TriNet Group, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements
made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant's other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act
Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and
have:

(a) designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that
material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly
during the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b) designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to
provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

(c) evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the
disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d) disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most recent fiscal
quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the
registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant's other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant's
auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a) all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to
adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal control over
financial reporting.

Date:   March 31, 2016
 

/s/ Burton M. Goldfield   

Burton M. Goldfield   
President and Chief Executive Officer   



Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATION BY PRINCIPAL FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, William Porter, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of TriNet Group, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements
made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant's other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act
Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and
have:

(a) designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that
material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly
during the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b) designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to
provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

(c) evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the
disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d) disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most recent fiscal
quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the
registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant's other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant's
auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a) all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to
adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal control over
financial reporting.

Date:   March 31, 2016

/s/ William Porter   

William Porter   
Chief Financial Officer   



Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906
OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of TriNet Group, Inc., a Delaware corporation (the “Company”), on Form 10-K for the year ending December 31, 2015 as
filed with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), each of the undersigned officers of the Company does hereby certify,
pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350 (section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002), that:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

The foregoing certification (i) is given to such officers’ knowledge, based upon such officers’ investigation as such officers reasonably deem appropriate; and (ii) is
being furnished solely pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350 (section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002) and is not being filed as part of the Report or as a separate
disclosure document and is not to be incorporated by reference into any filing of the Company under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (whether made before or after the date of the Report), irrespective of any general incorporation language contained in such
filing.
 

Date:  March 31, 2016  /s/ Burton M. Goldfield
    Burton M. Goldfield
    Chief Executive Officer
     
    /s/ William Porter
Date:  March 31, 2016  William Porter
    Chief Financial Officer


